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Ther e are many fine textbooks on public financial management. Each does certain things well, but in our view

none covers all the concepts, techniques, and analytical tools that todayÕs graduate students of public policy

and administration need to put their passion into action. This book is our best attempt to weave that material

together in a fr esh,robust, concise, and immersiv e way. We also believe the time is right to bring to the market a

fr ee, open source treatment of this criticall y important subject.

At the Univ ersity of Washington we usethis text for a one quarter (10 week) intr oductory course titled ÒPublic

Financial M anagement and Budgeting.ÓWe believe itÕs suitable for a similarl y-structur ed semester-long course.

Sections of the text might also be suitable for other courses often found in M aster of Public Administration,

M aster of Public Policy , and other programs. Chapters 2 and 3 would be appropriate for courseson governmental

accounting, debt management, credit analysis, or non-pr ofit financial management. Chapters 4 and 5 work well

for an applied course on public or non-pr ofit budgeting.

The first time we taught ÒPublicFinancial M anagement and BudgetingÓ together we quickl y realized that

we approached the course in similar ways. That shared thinking is in part the result of our shared experiences

with some exceptional teachers and scholars. They include, in no particular order: the late, great Bill Duncombe,

(formerl y of Syracuse Univ ersity ); Bart Hildr eth, Ross Rubinstein, and Katherine Willoughb y (Georgia State);

Jerry Miller (Arizona S tate); and Dwight Denison (K entucky ).

WeÕd also lik e to acknowledge the people who helped make this book a reality. ItÕs been a true pleasure to

work with the staff at the Rebus Community Project, namely Liz M ays, Zoe Hyde, and Hugh M cGuir e. TheyÕre

building a wonderful model for open textbooks, and weÕre proud to be one of their early products. Chelle

Batchelor fr om the UW Libraries connected us with Rebus and has been a steady supporter and advocate all

along. In the autumn 2016 quarter we test drove an early version of this text with our Evans School MPA

students. A big thanks to them for their patience and helpful feedback thr oughout that experience. WeÕre also

most grateful to the long list of scholars and practitioners who prepared anonymous reviews of the book for

Rebus. We did our best to addr ess all of your in valuable comments.

Finall y, weÕd also lik e to publicl y thank our boss,Sandra Archibald. Fifteen years ago Sandy took over as Dean

of the Evans School. On Day One shecommitted to making the School a leader in public financial management.

This text is a testament to that commitment, and a r eflection of our pr ogress so far.

Sharon Kiok o and Justin M arlowe

Daniel J. Evans School of Public Policy and Go vernance

Univ ersity of W ashington

August 2017
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In late 2015 M ark Zuckerberg, founder of Facebook, launched a plan to give away most of his $45
billion fortune. Along with his wif e Priscilla Chan, he announced the creation of a philanthr opic
organization kno wn as the ÒChan-Zuckerberg Initiativ e.ÓThis ÒInitiativeÓdefies conventional labels.
At one level itÕs similar to a traditional non-pr ofit organization. It can deliver social services,
participate in public policy debates, and partner with other non-pr ofits. ItÕs also lik e a traditional
philanthr opic foundation, with plans for grant-making in areaslik e education reform in the US and
clean water in developing countries.

But the Initiativ e is also decidedly non-traditional. ItÕs organized as a for-pr ofit limited liability
corporation. That means when it wants to, it can do many things non-pr ofits and governments
canÕt.It can invest money in other for-pr ofit entities. It can fund election campaigns. It can manage
and invest money on behalf of other non-pr ofit and for-pr ofit organizations. So the important
question around Chan-Z uckerberg is not what will it do, but rather , what wonÕtit do? With $45
billion at its disposal, and f ew if any limits on ho w to spend it, the possibilities ar e endless.

Some are calling this Òphilanthr o-capitalism.ÓChan-Z uckerberg is the largest and most visible
recent example. But there are many others. If youÕve ever bought a sweater at Patagonia, worn
a pair of TOMS shoes, or used a shot of insulin fr om by Novo Nordisk, youÕve participated in
philanthr o-capitalism. These are all for-pr ofit companies with a social purpose hard-wir ed into their
mission. This also works fr om the other dir ection. Strange as it sounds, IKEA Ð whose founder
Ingvar Kamprad was once the wealthiest person in the world Ð is contr olled by a charitable famil y
foundation.

M aybe you didn Õtthink public finance has anything to do with cat videos, Fair Trade Certifiedª
fleece vests, or the FJ€LKIN GE shelving unit. T urns out it does.

Philanthr o-capitalism brings the glamour and prestige of big business to the decidedly un-
glamor ous work of feeding the hungry , housing the homeless, and the other essential efforts of
governments and non-pr ofits. ThatÕs important. But even mor e important, itÕs forced us to re-think
what it means to manage ÒpublicÓ money.

ShowtimeÕs hit show ÒBillionsÓ is the story of a hedge fund that operates in the shadowy underw orld
of finance. That fund Ð kno wn as Axe Capital, for its founder Bobby Axelrod Ð will do anything
to turn a profit. ItÕs traders buy and sell stocks on inside inf ormation, bribe regulators, and spread
market-mo ving rumors, among man y other nefarious tactics.

Season 2 features a compelling story line ripped fr om the proverbial public finance headlines.
Axe learns thr ough a back-channel that the Town of Sandicot, a long-struggling upstate New York
community on the v erge of bankruptcy , is about to be awarded a state license to open a new casino.
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Axe seesan opportunity . When a government is on the verge of bankruptcy investors steer clear of
it. As a result, SandicotÕs municipal bonds (a form of long-term loan) are available for pennies on the
dollar . Axe believes the new casino will driv e an economic recovery, and once that recovery is under
way, investors will look to buy up SandicotÕsbonds. So he decidesto get there first. He ÒgoeslongÓand
buys several hundr ed million of Sandicot municipal bonds.

But then the story takes an unexpected turn. Word of the Sandicot play leaks out, and AxeÕs
opponents persuade the State to locate the casino in another town. At that moment Axe faces a
difficult choice: Sell the bonds and lose millions, or force Sandicot to pay back the bonds in full.
Unfortunatel y, Sandicot can repay only if Axe forces it to enact savagecuts to its police, fir efighters,
schools, and other basic services. Axe is leery of the bad press that will surely follo w a group of
billionair e hedge fund managers profiting at the expense of a struggling to wn.

When asked for their opinion, a superstar Axe analyst named Taylor M ason Ð the first gender non-
binary character on a major television sho w Ð says:
ÒInmany ways,atown is lik eabusiness.And when abusinessoperatesbeyond its means,and the numbers

donÕtadd up, and the people in charge continue on heedlessof that fact, sure that some Sugar Daddy,
usually in the form of the federalgovernment will comealong and scoopthem up and cover the shortfalls,
well, that trul y off ends me. People might say you hurt this Town but in my opinion, the Town put the
hurt on itself. Corr ections are in order. ThereÕs a way to make this work and that way is hard, but
necessaryÉOnce wedo this the town will facethat challengeandcomeout stronger.Or it will ceasebeing.
Either result isabsolutely natural.Ó

Governments and non-pr ofits tend to have a ÒretrospectiveÓ view on money. To them, an
organization Õs money is well-managed, if it stayed within its budget, complied with donorsÕ
restrictions, and completed its financial audit on time. To them, bigger questions lik e Òisthis program
working?Óor Òdoes this program deliver mor e benefits than it costs?Óare best answered by elected
officials and board members. In their view, if we mingle the diff erent sectorsÕmoney, taxpayers will
never kno w what they get for their tax dollar , and elected officials and board members wonÕtkno w
if programs they work ed so hard to create and fund are delivering on their promises. To public
organizations, financial accountability hasoften meant looking back to ensure that public money was
spent according to p lan.

Zuckerberg and many others who now operate in the public sector see public money in
ÒprospectiveÓterms. To them, public money is a means to an end. ItÕs how weÕllend racial disparities
in public education, cure communicable diseases,close the gender pay gap, and pursue other lofty
goals.These folks are not particularl y concerned with how government tax dollars are diff erent fr om
charitable donations or business profits. If money can move an organization closer to its goals,
regardlessof where that money comes fr om, why not add it to the mix? They donÕtthink of financial
contributions as a way to divvy up credit for a programÕs success.They want to kno w how their
money w as spent, but far more important, they w ant to kno w w hat their money accomp lished.

The opposite is also true. Taylor M ason, and many others who share their view s, also seespublic
money in ÒprospectiveÓterms. But instead of thinking about what the public sector could accomplish,
they also believe no public sector organization is Òtoobig to fail.ÓIf a local government lik e Sandicot
is no longer accomplishing its mission, they argue, it should cease to exist.

Both these perspectives Ð philanto-capitalism and Ògovernment is lik e a businessÓÐ are big
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departur e fr om public financial managementÕs status quo. TheyÕre also why public organizations have
tended to segregate themselves into ÒmoneypeopleÓand Òeveryone else.ÓM oney people tend to see
the world diff erently.

And to be clear, both these perspectives illustrate a much broader recent tr end: blending the
financial lines across the sectors. M any non-pr ofits now operate profitable lines of business that
subsidize other services they provide for fr ee.Governments around the world have created for-pr ofit
corporations that allow priv ate sector investors to build, operate, and maintain public infrastructur e
lik e bridges, subways, and water tr eatment facilities. Charitable foundations of all sizes now act
asÒAngel Investors.ÓThey buy stock in small start-up companies that develop products to impr ove the
quality of lif e in the developing world. M any of those investments have turned a handsome profit that
in turn subsidized other , far-less-pr ofitable endeavors.

Philanthr o-capitalism and Ògovernment is lik e a businessÓare also animated by pressure on
governments to do mor e with less.For roughly 50 years, taxpayers around the world have said no to
new taxes,but yes to a steady expansion of the size and scope of government. They have demanded
mor e spending on health care, education, envir onmental conservation, and other services, but left
unclear how to pay for it. They have allowed their governments to borr ow record amounts of money,
but denied them the financial meansto repay that money. M any governments today aresimply maxed
out. They have little or no new money to commit to inno vate programs of the sort that Zuckerberg
and others would lik e to see.

These tr ends Ð blurring of the sectors, emphasis on outcomes, scarce government resourcesÐ are
redefining w hat it means to manage public money.

You got into public service becauseyou want to make a diff erence. M aybe, lik e Mr . Zuckerberg,
you want to tackle big, complex public problems. M aybe you want to make governments and non-
profits work just a bit mor e efficientl y. M aybe you think government should do a lot mor e in areas
lik e health care, education, and transportation. M aybe, lik e Taylor M ason, you think government
should get out of the way and make room for non-pr ofits and for-pr ofits. Regardlessof your goals, to
make that diff erenceyouÕllneed to speak the languageof public financial management. YouÕllneed to
translate your aspirations into cost estimates,budgets, and financial reports. YouÕllneed to show how
an investment in your program/ product/ idea/ initiativ e/movement will produce results. YouÕllneed
to understand where public money comesfr om, and where it can and canÕtgo. You probably didn Õtget
into public service to manage money, but in todayÕs rapidl y changing public sector, ÒweÕre all money
people now.Ó

And the opposite is also true. In todayÕs public sector money people must also step outside of their
comfort zone. They must be able to communicate with program managers,board members, and many
other stakeholders fr om whom they donÕttraditionall y interact. They must help others translate their
ideas into the language of finance. As a public manager, a big part of your job will be learning to
inspir e your money people to step far outside of their comfort zone in the name of accomplishing
your organization Õs goals.

.�� +  * � %�%� �# *+)� +��0 �

M oney is to public organizations w hat canvas is to painting. The painter w ants to bring his or her
artistic vision to lif e on the canvas. But to do this they must work within the confines of that can vas.
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If the canvas is too small, too rough, or the wr ong shape, the painter must adapt their vision. If they
stray too far fr om their vision, they must kno w w hen to find a diff erent canvas.

As a public servant, you are lik e a painter . You kno w what you want your organization to accomplish,
but you must bring those accomplishments to lif e on its financial canvas.Every organization Õs
financial canvas is a bit diff erent. Some have many revenue streams that produce mor e than enough
money, where others depend on a single revenue source to generate just enough money to keep the
organization running. Some have broad legal authority to raise new revenue and borr ow money,
where others must get permission at every step fr om their board, taxpayers, or other stakeholders.
Some have sophisticated financial experts to produce their budgets and manage their money, where
others have no such expertise.

ItÕs not a problem that eachpublic organization Õs financial canvas is diff erent fr om the rest. In fact,
those diff erencesare an important part of what makes public financial management an exciting and
dynamic field of study. The problem, however, is that many great policies and programs fail because
theyÕre painted on the wr ong financial canvas.Public organizations often take on policy challenges
without the right financial tools, authority , and capacity. By contrast, some organizations are too
modest. They have the tools, authority , and capacity to take on big challenges, but for a variety of
reasons they donÕt.Financial strategy is how public organizations use their financial resources to
accomplish their objectiv es. ItÕs how they put their organization Õs vision to its financial can vas.

All public organizations must confr ont limits on the amount and scope of financial resourcesthey
can access.So in practical terms, financial strategy is often about tempering our expectations to match
what our financial canvas can support. ItÕs about analyzing a programÕs cost structur e to make it
mor e efficient, scaling back its goals and objectiv es,or finding partner organizations to help launch
it. Sometimes strategy means finding a new canvas. That might mean forming a new organization,
re-purposing an existing program, or recruiting a new foundation or ventur e capitalist to invest.This
book tells you how to understand the many diff erent types of canvasesavailable to you, and the many
diff erent ways to put your organization Õs vision to one of those canvases.

+���% (,� *, ' '&) +* *+)� +��0

This book is organized ar ound a simple idea: technique supports strategy. Ther e are many fine
textbooks on public financial management, and almost all of them f ocus on technical skills. For mor e
than a generation students of this subject have learned how to f orecast revenues, build budgets,
record basic transactions in an organization Õs financial books, and many other useful skills. A t the
same time, students have rarely been asked a far more important question: W here and how should
they apply those skills? We believe technical skill is useful onl y if it inf orms actual management
decisions. A cost analysis is useful only if tells us w hether and how to launch a new pr ogram.
Financial statement analysis is a powerful tool because it can inf orm w hen to build a new building,
start a capital campaign, or in vest unused cash. Budget variance analysis is important because it tells
program managers where to focus their attention. And so f orth. W e present these and other
techniques, but mor e important, w e try to exp lain how those techniques can and should inf orm
crucial management, strategy, and policy decisions.

Strategic thinking is at some level about Òknowing what you donÕtkno w.ÓItÕs about stepping outside
of your own experience. ItÕs about looking into your organization Õs futur e. ItÕs about putting yourself

� (-31 .#4"3(.-
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in your stakeholdersÕshoes.ThatÕs why one of the most valuable tools in financial strategy is asking
the right questions. No one can be an expert on all things financial. But if you can ask the right
questions and access the right expertise, you can know enough to driv e your strategy.

ThatÕs why one of the most important techniques in public financial management is asking good
questions. This book is litter ed with questions. In fact, each chapter begins not with learning
objectiv es, but with the kinds of questions managers ask, and how the inf ormation, conceptual
framew orks, and analytical tools fr om financial management can help answer those questions. It
includes exercises to help you refine your financial management technique. But mor e important,
it includes casesand other opportunities for you to apply that technique in support of a genuine
financial strategy. In fact, the centerpiece caseat the end of the book Ð ÒTheCascadiaHearing SchoolÓ
Ð offers several opportunities to dev elop a financial strategy f or a real public organization.

Strategy is not entir ely sector-specific. What works in the for-pr ofit sector might work in non-
profits or governments, and vice versa.And assector distinctions matter less,the origins of financial
management strategy also matter less.ThatÕs why most of the discussion in this book is predicated
on the idea that all governments, non-pr ofits, and Òfor benefitÓ organizations (i.e. for-pr ofit
organizations with an explicit social purpose) are mostl y alike. YouÕllseeÒpublicorganization Óand
Òpublic managerÓused often. These are generic terms to describe people who interact with the
financial strategy of any of these types of organizations. To be clear, ÒpublicmanagerÓincludes policy
analysts, community organizers, for-pr ofit contractors, and anyone else who has a stake in a public
organization Õs finances. Where necessaryand appropriate, youÕllseediscussions that highlight how
each sectorÕs technical inf ormation, legal envir onment, and strategic dir ections are diff erent. But for
the most part, this text assumes that public organizations ha ve a lot in common.

�&. +� * �&&"  * &) ��% 1��

First and foremost, this is a book about people and organizations. To many of us finance and
budgeting are abstract subjects. TheyÕre numbers in a spreadsheet, but not much more.

In reality public financial management is how real public servants in real public organizations bring
their passionsto lif e.ThatÕs why all of the technical inf ormation is presentedin the context of specific
people, organizations, and strategies. Thr oughout this book youÕllalso find lots of illustrations and
examples drawn fr om r eal public organizations.

The first chapter is titled ÒHow we Pay for the Public Sector.ÓIt covers where public organizationsÕ
money comes fr om, and where it goes.It also highlights some of the pressing challenges now facing
public organizations Ð namely shrinking public resources,debt, and entitlements Ð and how those
challenges present tremendous opportunities f or entr epreneurial public managers.

Each of the subsequent chapters covers a bundle of tools that public financial managers use to
inf orm financial strategy. The second chapter covers the basic financial statements. Financial
statements are an essential and often overlook ed tool to understand an organization Õs financial story .
This chapter intr oduces those statements, the inf ormation they contain, and the questions they help
public sector managers ask and answer.

Chapter 3 is about financial statement analysis. If financial statements tell an organization Õs
financial story , financial statement analysis is the annotated bibliograp hy of that story . ItÕs a tool to
understand the specific dimensions of an organization Õs financial position, to place that position in
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an appropriatel y nuanced context, and to identify strategies to impr ove that financial position in both
the near and long term.

To trul y understand the numbers in the financial statements, and how those numbers might change
asan organization pursues diff erent financial strategies, you must also understand the core concepts
of accounting. To that end, the fourth chapter is an applied primer on core accounting concepts
lik e accruals, revenue and expense recognition, depreciation and amortization, and encumbrances.
Theseconcepts and their application to actual financial activity are collectiv ely kno wn asÒtransaction
analysis.Ó

Chapter 5 is about cost analysis. M any public organizations struggle to meaningfull y answer a
simple question: What do your programs and services cost? They struggle not becausetheyÕre lazy
or inept, but because itÕs challenging to measure all the diff erent costs incurr ed to produce public
services, and then expressthose costs in an intuitiv e way. ItÕs even mor e challenging to think about
how those costs change as the amount of service changes,or as the scope of a service expands or
contracts. ItÕs challenging, but itÕs also essential. Every successful public program ever devised was
designed with a careful eye toward its cost structur e. In this chapter youÕlllearn the diff erent types of
costs, the core concepts of cost behavior , and how to think about ways to impr ove an organization Õs
financial position giv en its cost behavior .

Chapter 6 covers budgeting. A public organization Õs budget is its most important policy statement.
ItÕs where the mission and the money connect. Budgeting is at one level a technical process. It
demands solid cost analysis,revenue and expenseforecasting,and clear technical communication. But
mor e important, itÕs a political process.ItÕs how policymak ers bring their political priorities to lif e,
and shut down their opponents priorities. ItÕs how the media and taxpayers hold public organizations
accountable. ItÕs where sophisticated public managers can advance their own priorities. This chapter
focuseson budgeting asa technical process,with particular emphasison the diff erent types of budgets
and the legal processesby which budgets are made. But it also covers some of the common political
strategies that play out in the budget process,and how public managers do and do not engagethose
strategies.The discussion of those strategies is loosely organized around concepts borr owed fr om the
burgeoning field of beha vioral economics, such as loss aversion and the Òendowment eff ect.Ó

At the outset itÕs also worth highlighting w hat this book does not cover:

¥ Unlik e other textbooks in this space, we do not giv e special attention to healthcar e financial
management. Health care financial management has much in common with public financial
management. But recent trends in the former Ð especially the M edicare Modernization A ct,
the Aff ordable Care Act (i.e. ÒObamacareÓ), and thecollapse of the municipal bond insurance
market Ð have made it too distinct to co ver in a coherent way within the framew ork of this
book.

¥ We glossover government budgeting sy stems and processes. We cover the steps outlined in
law that governments are supposed to follo w to arriv e at a budget. But for r oughly a decade
now the actual budget pr ocesses in Washington, DC and many state governments have
been quite diff erent fr om whatÕs prescribed in law. Terms that used to describe deviations
fr om that pr ocess, like Òcontinuing r esolution,Ó Òsequestration,ÓÒsweepsÓ and ÒrecissionsÓ now
seem like parts of that pr ocess.ThatÕs why it seems silly to devote much attention to the
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budget process. Instead, we treat budgeting as the place where money, politics, and priorities
come together in pr edictable and unpr edictable ways.

¥ Financial managers find themsel vesin the thr oes of some transformational changes in public
organizations. They ar e asked to push the boundaries of w hat traditional pr ocurement and
contracting pr ocesses will allow. They are often asked to imp lement massive new information
technology pr ojects. They find themsel ves leading new initiativ es around Òevidence-based
decision-making, Ó Òlean managementÓ, and Òperformance benchmarking, Ó among others.
Woefull y, we do not have time or space to devote to these processes. We hope to cover these
topics in futur e iterations of this text.
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In January of 2010 the United States Department of Justice (DOJ) received a formal civil rights
complaint fr om a local community organization in the City of Ferguson, M O. In their complaint they
accused the Ferguson Police Department of aggressive and biased policing tactics, including large
numbers of traffic stops, searches,seizures,and arrests in the cityÕs African-American communities.
DO J officials corr oborated the report with the Missouri Attorney GeneralÕs office, who had also
received several similar complaints thr oughout the previous fiv e years.Both offices agreedto monitor
the situation.

On August 9, 2014, Michael Brown, a teenager and resident of Ferguson, was shot and killed by a
Ferguson police officer who wasinvestigating a nearby robbery. Ferguson police officials drew sharp
criticism for the incident and for their management of the subsequent investigation into potential
police misconduct. Several weeks later a grand jury later declined to indict the police officer . In their
view the evidence suggested the police officer had reason enough to consider Brown a potentiall y
dangerous suspect.

The shooting sparked violent protests across the US. Ferguson residents said the shooting wasjust
the most recent example of the racist policing they had pointed out to federal and state officials
years earlier . They imp lor ed Attorney General Eric Holder to immediatel y open a DO J civil rights
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investigation into the Ferguson Police Department. Holder said his office would gather as much
inf ormation as possible, but cautioned everyone that anecdotes and demographics are not sufficient
to prove an accusation of biased policing. For several weeks,the country anxiously awaited word on
what DO J would do next.

On September 20, 2014 DO J opened a formal civil rights investigation. The report fr om that
investigation was released in M arch 2015. It excoriated the Ferguson Police Department and the
Ferguson City Council for encouraging, both actively and passively, the sort of aggressive policing
that Ferguson residents had decried. But perhaps even mor e important, it explained that the most
compelling evidence of biased policing was not arrest records or police reports. It was FergusonÕs
budget. The report said ÒFergusonÕs law enforcement practices are shaped by the CityÕs focus on
revenue rather than on public safety needs.ÓIt documented a recent tr end toward raising new city
revenues thr ough aggressive enforcement of fines and fees. Ferguson generated mor e than $2.5
million in municipal court revenue in fiscal year 2013, an 80 percent incr easefr om only tw o years
prior . In all, fines and forf eitur es comprised 20 percent of the cityÕs operating revenue in fiscal year
2013, up fr om about 13 percent in 2011. By comparison, other St. Louis suburbs relied on fines and
fees for no mor e than six percent of operating revenue. This budget strategy legitimized and even
encouraged FergusonÕs law enforcement and court officials, most of whom were not racists, to pursue
such aggressive policing against FergusonÕs majority African-American community .

The take away here is clear: Where a public organization gets its money says a lot about its
priorities. In FergusonÕs case, choices about where to get revenue led to a nation wide social
movement.
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Governments across the United States do the same basic things. Cities and towns mostl y maintain
roads, plow snow, keep neighborhoods safe, prevent and fight fir es, and educate childr en. County
governments run elections, care for the mentall y ill, and prevent inf ectious diseases. State
governments coordinate health care for the poor , incarcerate prisoners, and operate univ ersities. The
national Ð or ÒfederalÓÐ government regulates trade and commer ce, defends our borders, and pays
for health care for the elderl y.
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At the same time, governments are remarkably dis-similar in how they pay for and deliver these
services. Some rely on a single tax source for most or all of their revenue. Others draw on many
diff erent revenue sources. Some deliver their services with the help of non-pr ofits, health care
organizations, priv ate sector contractors, and other stakeholders. Others engage outside entities
infr equently, if at all. Some citizens want their government to deliver many diff erent high-quality
services. Others want their go vernment to do as little as possible.

These choices, about how governments pay for their services, how much they provide, and how
they ultimatel y deliver those services, matter a lot to citizens. For instance, if a city
government depends mostl y on property taxes, its leaders might have an incentiv e to emphasize
services that benefit property owners, such as public safety and sidewalks, and to worry less about
services mor e lik ely to benefit those who do not own property , lik e public parks or housing the
homeless. In some regions governments pay non-pr ofit organizations to deliver most or all of the
basic services in areaslik e foster care, child immunizations, and assistedliving for seniors. For those
who use those services, the quality of service they receive can depend a lot on which non-pr ofit
manages their case.

So at a high level, governments look the same.But if we examine them mor e carefull y, we seethey
vary a lot on where their money comes fr om, and where it goes.That variation, and its imp lications
for citizens, is a key part of the study of public finance. This chapter is a basic overview of where
governments get their money, where they spend it, and some of the financial challenges theyÕre lik ely
to face in the futur e.

+�� ����)�# �& -�)%$�%+

The national government Ð also kno wn as the Òfederal governmentÓ Ð is one of the largest and
most important employers in the United States. Every soldier in the military , customs agent at an
airport, and astronaut at N ASA (the ÒNational Aeronautics and SpaceAdministration Ó)works for the
federal government. And so do many, many others. In 2015 the federal government spent just under
$4 trillion and employed an estimated fiv e million people, both dir ectly and as contractors. For the
past decadeor so, federal government spending has accounted for roughly one-quarter of the entir e
economic output of the US.

The chart below shows where the federal government has received and spent its money since just
before World War II. Ar easshadedblue represent revenue, or money that comes into the government.
Ar eas shaded red are spending items. Spending is called many diff erent things in public finance,
including expenses,expenditures,and outlays. Thesediff erent labelshaveslightl y diff erent meanings that
youÕlllearn thr oughout this text. All the figur esshown here are in per capita constant 2015 dollars. In
other words, theyÕve been adjusted for inflation, and theyÕre expressedasan amount for every person
in the US.

Roughly 80%of the federal governmentÕs revenue is fr om tw o sources:the individual incometax and
social insurance receipts.

1

¥ In 2015 the f ederal government collected just o ver $3,500 per capita from individual income

1. Portions of the f ollo wing discussion ar e quoted and adapted from the Governing Guide to Financial Literacy, Volume 1
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taxes. The income tax an individual pa ys is determined by their taxable, tax rate, and any
applicable tax pr eferences.Taxable incomeis an individualÕs income minus an y tax preferences.
The federal government off ers astandard exemption, or a reduction of an individualÕs taxable
income, that all taxpayers can claim. Beyond that standar d deduction, eligible taxpa yers can
claim hundr eds of other exemptions and other tax benefits r elated to home ownership,
retir ement savings, health insurance, investments in equipment and technology , and dozens of
other ar eas. Why does the federal government off er thesepreferences? To encourage
taxpayers to save for r etir ement, buy a home, invest in a business, or participate in many other
types of economic activity . Whether tax pr eferences actually encourage those behaviors is the
subject of substantial debate and analysis (see the discussion later on tax efficiencyand market
distortions). The tax rateis the amount of tax paid per dollar of taxable income. In 2015 the
federal tax code had seven diff erent rates that applied across levels of taxable income (also
kno wn as Òtax bracketsÓ). Thosestatutoryrates ranged fr om a 10% on individual annual income
up to $9,225, to 39.6% on annual income over $413,201. An individualÕs effective tax
rateis their tax liability divided b y their taxable income. If an individual claims a v ariety of tax
preferences, their effective tax rate might be much lo wer than the statutory tax ratelisted here.

¥ Social insurance receipts are taxes levied on individualsÕ wages. Employers take these taxes
out of w ork ersÕ wages and send them to the federal government on their behalf. ThatÕs why
theyÕre often called payroll taxesor withholding taxes.Social insurance receipts are the main
funding sour ce for social insurance pr ograms lik e Social Security and Medicare (see below).

¥ The remaining 20% or so of federal revenue is from a variety of sour ces including the corporate
income tax(taxes on business income, rather than individual income ), excise taxes(taxes on the
pur chase of specific goods like gasoline, cigarettes, airline tick ets, etc.), andestate taxes(a tax
imposed when a familyÕs wealth is transferred from one generation to the next ). As shown in
the figur e, these revenues as a share of total r evenues have not changed much in the past
several decades.
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Federal government spending is divided r oughly equally across six main areas:
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¥ National def ense includes pay and benefits for all members of the US Arm y, Navy, Air Force,
and M arines, and all civilian support services. I t also includes capital outlaysÐ or spending on
items with long useful liv es Ð for military bases, p lanes, tanks, and other military har dware.
Note the large spike in national def ense spending during World W ar II (1939-1945) and the
Korean War (1950-1953).

¥ Medicareis the federal governmentÕs health insurance program for the elderl y. It was
established in 1965. By some estimates, Medicare paid for nearl y one-quarter of all the health
care delivered in the US, a total of nearly $750 billion in 2015. M edicare has three main
components. ÒPart AÓ pays for hospital stays, surgery, and other medical pr ocedures that
requir e admission to a hospital. ÒPart BÓ covers supplementary medical services lik e physician
visits and pr ocedures that do not requir e hospital admission. ÒPart DÓ pays for pr escription
drugs. Part A is funded thr ough payroll tax es and through premiums paid by individual
beneficiaries. Part B and Part D ar e funded mostl y thr ough payroll tax es. Medicare does not
employ physicians or other health car e providers. I t is, in effect, a health insurance company
funded by the federal government. In 2015 it served more than 55 million beneficiaries and
spent an average of $18,500 per beneficiary.
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¥ Healthis a broad category that covers health-r elated spending outside of M edicare. The largest
segment of this spending is the federal governmentÕs contribution to state M edicaid pr ograms.
It includes funding f or public health and population health agencies lik e the National
Institutes of H ealth (NIH) and the Centers f or Disease Control and Prevention, and f or
health-f ocused regulatory agencies like the Food and Drug A dministration.

¥ Social Securityis an income assistance program for r etir ees.In 2015, over 59 million
Americans r eceived nearly $900 billion in Social Security benefits. Social Security is simp le.
Individuals contribute pa yroll tax es while they are working, those tax es are deposited into a
fund, and w hen they retir e, they are paid from that fund. In 2015, the average Social Security
benefit w as around $1,300 per month. Social Security also distributes benefits to disabled
individuals w ho are not able to work.

¥ Income securityis cash and cash-like assistance programs outside of Social Security . Most of
these programs help individuals pa y for specific, basic necessities. It includes unemployment
insurance, food stamps, foster care etc.

¥ The federal government borr ows a lot of money. Some of that borr owing is to pay for Òbig
tick etÓ orcapital outlayslik e aircraft carriers or r efurbishing national parks. Lik e most
consumers, the federal government does not have the money Òsaved upÓ to purchase these
items, so it borr ows money and pays it back over time. I t also borr ows when revenue
collections fall short of spending needs. This is kno wn as deficit spending. The federal
government borr ows money by issuing thr ee types ofTreasury Obligations: Treasury bills,
Treasury notes, and Treasury bonds.M uch lik e loans, obligations are bought by investors and the
government agr ees to pay them back, with inter est, over time. Treasury bills come due Ð i.e.
they have amaturity Ð of thr ee months to one year. Treasury notes have maturities of tw o
years to ten years. Treasury bonds mature in ten years upto 30 years. Each year the
government pays the annual portion of the inter est it owes on its Treasury obligations, and
that payment is kno wn as net interest.

¥ ÒEverything ElseÓ is just as it sounds. This includes federal government pr ograms for
transportation, student loans, aff ordable housing, the arts and humanities, and thousands of
other pr ograms.
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We often divide federal government spending into tw o categories: discretionary spending and non-
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discretionaryor mandatoryspending. Non-discr etionary spending is contr olled by law. Social Security
is a good example. A person becomes eligible for ÒfullÓSocial Security benefits once they are over
age 65 and have paid payroll taxes for almost four years. Once they become eligible, the benefit
they receive is determined by a formula that is link ed to the total wages they earned during their
last 35 years of working. That formula is written into the law that created Social Security. Once
a person becomes eligible they are ÒentitledÓ to the benefits determined by that formula. Other
federal programs lik e M edicare, food stamps,Supplemental Security Income, and many others follo w
a formula-based structur e. If Congr ess and the President want to change how much is spent on
these programs, they must change the relevant laws. By some estimates, non-discr etionary spending
is mor e than 65% of all federal spending. Add to that the roughly 7-8% for inter est on the debt, and
we see that nearly thr ee-quarters of f ederal spending is Òlocked in.Ó

The remaining one-quarter is discretionary spending. This is spending that Congr ess and the
President can adjust in the annual budget. It includes national defense,most of the ÒhealthÓspending
category, and virtuall y all of the Òeverything elseÓcategory. Ther e is considerable debate on whether
national defenseis, in fact, discretionary spending. Legislators are not eager to cut funding to tr oops
in harmÕs way. So keep in mind that when Congr essdebatesits annual budget, in effect, itÕs debating
about 10-25% of what it will eventuall y spend.The vast majority of federal spending is driv en by laws,
rules, and priorities that originate outside the budget.

This discussion about entitlements raises another absolutely essential point: the Federal
Government has a substantial structural deficit. A structural deficit is when a governmentÕs long-term
spending exceedsits long-term revenues.The figur e below illustrates this point. It shows that in 2016,
the federal government has a projected budget deficit of 2.9% of the US Gross Domestic Product
(GDP; the countyÕs total economic output ), or around $1.5 trillion. By the year 2046, assuming no
major changesin spending or revenue policies, that annual budget deficit will grow to 8.8%of GDP.
Why is the deficit expected to grow so quickl y?In part becausefederal non-discr etionary spending is
going to grow. M ore and mor e of the ÒBaby BoomerÓpopulation will become eligible for M edicare,
Social Security, and other programs. As the eligible population grows,so too will spending. M oreover,
the cost of health care services has incr easedthr ee to four times faster than all other costs across the
economy. ThatÕs why health-r elated non-discr etionary spending is the proverbial Òdouble whammyÓ
Ð the number of people who need those services will incr ease,and so will the rate of spending per
person to deliver those services. At the same time, most economists are projecting slower economic
growth for the next several decades.Giv en the federal governmentÕs curr ent revenue policies, that
will mean slower revenue growth over time. Those tw o main factors, growth in non-discr etionary
spending and slower revenue growth, will lead to much larger deficits o ver time.

YouÕre probably asking yourself how will the federal government finance those deficits? If it does not
collect enough revenue to cover its spending needs, it will borr ow. The figur e below shows how the
federal governmentÕs debt will incr easein response.In 2016, federal government debt was around
72% of GDP. The Congr essional Budget Office estimates it will grow to just under 150% of GDP by
2046. For context, consider that in 2015 Greece,long considered the Òfiscalproblem childÓ of the
European Union, had a debt-to-GD P ratio of 158%.

This rapid growth in debt is concerning for many reasons.First, federal government borr owing
Òcrowds outÓborr owing by small businesses,homeowners, state and local governments, and others
who need to borr ow to invest in their own projects. Since there are only so many investors with
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money to invest, if the federal government takesa larger share of that money, thereÕs lessfor everyone
else. M any economists and finance experts have also warned that if the federal governmentÕs debt
grows too high, then investors might be lesswilling to loan it money in the futur e. If investors are less
willing to loan the government money, the government must off er higher inter est rates to incr ease
investorsÕreturn on investment. As the federal governmentÕs inter est rates rise, inter est rates rise for
everyone else. Occasional incr easesto inter est rates are not necessarily a bad thing, but prolonged
high inter est rates mean lessinvestment by people and business,and that leads to lower productivity
and slower economic gr owth.

The federal governmentÕs structural deficit is the single most important tr end in public budgeting and
finance today. Without major changesin federal government policy , especially in areaslik e M edicare
and Social Security, the federal government will have no choice but to run enormous deficits and
cut non-discr etionary spending. Those cuts will mean less money for many of the key programs
that you probably care about the most: basic scientific research, student loans, highways, transit
systems, national parks, and every other discretionary program. In fact, some cynics have said that
in the futur e, Òthefederal government will be an army with a health care system.ÓState and local
governments will be forced to take on many of the services the federal government used to provide
in areaslik e affordable housing, envir onmental protection, international trade promotion etc. At the
same time, some optimists say this is a welcome change. Without the rigidity and unif ormity of the
federal government, local communities will have the latitude and flexibility to experiment with new
approachesto social problems. WhatÕs not debatable is that absent major changesin policy , especially
for non-discr etionary spending, federal government spending will look quite diff erent in the not -too-
distant futur e.
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Ther eÕs an old adage that state governments are in charge of Òmedication, education, and
incarceration.ÓThat saying is both pith y and true. In 2015 state governments spent $1.6 trillion, and
most of it wasspent on schools, M edicaid, and corr ections. That said, they vary a lot in how much of
those services they deliver, and how they pay for those services. In some regions, the state is one of
the largest employers. This is especially true in rural areaswith state univ ersities or state prisons. In
other r egions state government has a limited pr esence.

The figur e below shows the tr ends in state government revenuesand spending since the late 1970s.
All the shaded areas above 0 are revenues, and all the area below 0 is spending. All figur es are
expressed in 2015 per capita dollars.

Thr ee tr ends stand out fr om this chart. First, the size and scope of state governments varies a lot.
Today Nevada, for example, spends just under $5,000 per capita. On a per capita basis itÕs one of the
smallest state governments. Vermont, by contrast, spendsmor e than $9,000. Both stateshave roughly
the same population, but one stateÕs government spends almost twice as much per capita. Ther e are
several reasons for this. One is that much of NevadaÕs land is managed by the federal Department
of Interior and by Native American Tribes. Those governments deliver many of the basic services
that state governments deliver in other states. Citizens in Nevada have also historicall y preferred
less government overall. In Vermont, the state government is largely responsible for roads, public
health, primary and secondary education, and many other services that local governments deliver in
most other states. ThatÕs why state government spending in Vermont is roughly equivalent to state
government spending p lus total local government spending in most other states.

A second key tr end is that overall state spending grew substantiall y over the past few decades.In
1977, the averagestate per capita spending wasaround $2,800. In 2012 it was$5,100. Revenueshave
grown on a similar trajectory . But note that growth wasnot unif orm. Spending in stateslik e Arizona,
Calif ornia, Colorado, and Washington grew far slower than the average. This is not a coincidence.
These states have passed strict laws, broadly kno wn as tax and expenditure limitations, that restrict
how quickl y their revenues and spending can grow. States without those limits, lik e Connecticut,
Delaware, New York, and M assachusetts,have seen much faster growth in both revenues and
spending. North Dakota, Wyoming, and New M exico saw large jumps in revenues and spending in
the past decadeor so, due mostl y to growth of their respective shale oil industries (mor e commonl y
kno wn as fracking).
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A thir d important tr end is that state revenues roughly equal state spending. Virtuall y every stateÕs
constitution requir es that its legislatur e and governor pass a balancedbudget. As youÕllsee later,
ÒbalancedbudgetÓcan mean rather diff erent things in diff erent places.But overall, statesdonÕtspend
mor e money than they collect. This is in sharp contrast to the federal government. As you saw above,
thr oughout the past several decades the federal governmentÕs spending has routinel y exceeded its
revenues.Unlik e the federal government, the states cannot borr ow money to finance budget deficit.
In a number of states, restrictions on deficit spending ar e enshrined in law.
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States rely on a few key revenue sources:
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¥ About one-thir d of state government r evenues are from sales taxes. There are two basic types
of sales taxes: 1) ageneral sales taxthat applies to all r etail sales transactions, and; 2)special sales
taxesthat apply only to sales of certain goods and services, such as gasoline, cigarettes, alcohol,
and gambling. Some states tax construction, personal trainers, catering, and other
professional services, while many do not. M any special sales taxes are administer ed as excise
taxes.Lik e with the income tax, sales tax revenues are derived from a tax rate applied to a
taxable base. A stateÕs sales tax base is all the retail sales of personal property that happen
within its bor ders. The challenge is that itÕs not always clear what is included in that taxable
base. For instance, a business will remit state sales tax only if it has a substantial portion of its
business, known as asales tax nexus, in that state. When a company does business in multip le
states, or in multip le countries, it must use comp licated calculations, kno wn as tax
apportionment f ormulas, to determine the sales tax it o wes in each state. Online retailers lik e
Amazon.com have argued they should not pay state sales tax because they do not have a nexus
in any one state. Some states requir e consumers to pay a use taxif they pur chase a good
without pa ying sales tax. In many states, the goods and services purchased by businesses, for
the purposes or producing ar e good or delivering a service, are exempt fr om sales taxes. For
these and other reasons sales tax administration is quite complex.

¥ Appr oximatel y 18% of total state revenues are from individual and corporate income tax es.
For states that have them Ð 10 states do not have an income tax Ð income taxes are always the
largest or the second largest revenue source. State income taxes are administer ed much lik e
the federal income tax. In fact, most states apply the federal governmentÕs definition of taxable
income to determine state taxable income. Inter estingly, overall spending has grown much
slower in states that do not have an individual income tax.

¥ All state governments depend to some extent on intergo vernmental r evenues (IGR). For the
states, most intergovernmental r evenue is transfers from the federal government f or its share
of certain mandated pr ograms. Medicaid (see below) is the largest and most important f or
most states. The federal government also sends states money for transportation
infrastructur e, the child health insurance pr ogram (or S-CHIP ), federal student loan
assistance, and many other pr ograms. Federal IGR falls into r oughly tw o categories: categorical
grantsthat are restricted to specific purposes, and block grantsthat are less restricted but must
produce measurable outcomes or deliverables. Federal funds for high ways and university
research are good examples of categorical grants. The Community Dev elopment B lock Grant
program is a good example of a block grant.

¥ M ost state revenues are from the sales tax, income tax, and IGR. That said, states do depend
on a variety of other smaller r evenues. Some states levy a limited property tax (see below) on
transactions of certain personal pr operty , like vehicles. States also generate revenue through
fees attached to everything fr om hunting to running a ta vern to practicing medicine. Some
states also tax private electricity and w ater utility operators.

As mentioned, most state spending is around health, education, and corr ections.

¥ About one-thir d of total state spending is r elated to health. M ost of that one-thir d is state
Medicaidprograms. Medicaid is the federal governmentÕs healthcare program for the poor . ItÕs
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delivered through a partnership with the states. Each state designs its own M edicaid pr ogram,
and the federal government co vers 50-70% of the spending related to that pr ogram. ThatÕs
why itÕs actually part of ÒAssistance/Cash TransfersÓ in the figure above. Medicaid is non-
discretionary spending. In most states, an individual qualifies f or it if their income falls belo w
a certain level. ItÕs also the default health insur er for many vulnerable populations, including
foster childr en, the permanently disabled, and the mentally ill. O lder individuals w ho are poor
or disabled often qualify f or both M edicare and Medicaid. They are known as dual-eligibles.
M edicaid is to the states what M edicare is to the federal government: a massive health
insurance pr ogram that is expected to cover mor e people and become vastly mor e expensive
over time. In fact, in most states the primary sour ce of growth in M edicaid spending is
spending on nursing homes and other long -term car e for the elderl y. Health and hospitals
spending also includes public hospitals and fr ee health clinics run by state governments, and
state public health services like vaccinations, diabetes prevention, and outr each programs to
prevent sexually-transmitted diseases.
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¥ Ar ound 20% of state spending is related to public education. In most states, public education is
delivered by local school districts but paid f or in large part b y the state government. Virtuall y
every state constitution has language that calls out funding primary (Kindergarten thr ough
8th grade) and secondary (9th through 12th grade) public education as the stateÕs principal
responsibility . In most states, the state funding for public education is distributed to local
school districts thr ough a formula based on the number of students in the district, the
districtÕs local demographic cir cumstances, and the districtÕs financial condition. Public
education also includes community colleges and state univ ersities, both of w hich are paid for
thr ough a combination of state funding and student tuition pa yments.

¥ Correctionsand judicial servicesare around 5% of total state spending. This includes prisons,
parole officers, state court systems, and state crime prevention pr ograms.

¥ High ways are 5-12% of state spending, with lots of v ariation acr oss the states. Rural states like
Kansas and Texas have large and elaborate networks of state high ways. They spend 10-12% of
their annual budgets maintaining and building state high ways. By contrast, in N ew England,
the state highway systems are far smaller, so state highway spending is not nearl y as large a
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share of overall state spending. State governments finance most of their high way and other
infrastructur e projects by borr owing money , usually thr ough bondsthat they r epay over time.

¥ The other category includes state parks, state envir onmental conserv ation pr ograms, law
enforcement officials such as the state patrol, and inter est on state government debt. Pensions
and other post -employment benefits (OPEB) for r etir ed state government w ork ers are one of
the most important and fastest gr owing components of this ÒotherÓ category (see below).
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The discretionary vs.non-discr etionary spending distinction is also criticall y important to the states.
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M edicaid and primary / secondary education are effectively non-discr etionary programs. State
legislators can change their state M edicaid laws and policies, and many have. But without a policy
change,M edicaid spending is formula-driv en and locked in. Primary / secondary education spending
is also driv en by formulas that requir es the state to send a given amount of money to local school
districts each year, barring some substantial policy change.States must also pay the inter est on their
debts, and make good on their pension and OPEB promises.A quick glance at the figur e above shows
that non-discr etionary spending is around 70% of total spending in most states. ThatÕs why when
revenuesfall short of expectations, and statesneed to balance their budgets, they have little choice but
to scaleback on the 30% that remains in discretionary areaslik e higher education and public health.
WeÕve been reminded of this fact since the Great Recession.From 2008-2015, state governments cut
spending on higher education b y an average of 35%, and public health by an average of 50%.

$,% � ' �# + �*

Ther e are just over 19,000 ÒmunicipalÓgovernments in the US. They include cities, villages, towns,
and a few incorporated townships. In 2015 thesegovernments spent around $1.8 trillion, most of it in
thr ee core service areas:public safety, infrastructur e, and community development.

2
When we think

of local governments w e think of police officers, fir efighters, municipal parks, and local streets.
But beyond those core services, no tw o municipal governments are alike. Some operate their

own electric utilities and water companies. Some operate golf courses, swimming pools, and other
recreational facilities. Some have programs to fight homelessnessand promote affordable housing,
both areas that until recently were managed by the state and federal governments. Others have
programs to fight climate change, promote tourism, and acclimate new immigrants to their
communities. Of all the levels of government, municipalities off er the most variety in their size and
scope of services.

The figur e below shows revenues and spending for the 50 largest (by population ) US cities fr om
1977 thr ough 2012. This figur e is similar to the previous figur e for the states.All the shaded areas
above 0 are revenues,and all the areabelow 0 is spending. All figur esare expressedin 2015 per capita
dollars.

At a glance, this chart shows the enormous variety in the size of municipal governments. M any
of them collected and spent less than $1,000 per capita each year since 1977. They have not grown
or shrunk in any appreciable way. By contrast, cities lik e Baltimor e, Boston, Nashville, New York,
Philadelphia, and San Francisco have grown substantiall y. Financiall y speaking, these municipalities
are mor e lik e states than cities. They fund and manage public schools, utilities, large cash-transfer
assistance programs, and major infrastructur e networks. As a result, their total spending and the
growth in total spending is orders of magnitude larger than many other cities. Cities lik e Austin,
Jacksonville, and Seattle have financial structur es dominated by large public utilities. To these
jurisdictions, their utilities ar e both a major revenue source and a major spending item.

M unicipalities depend on the same r evenue sources as states, but in much different configurations.

2. This $1.8 trillion figur e does not include the nearly $400 billion spent b y local school districts.
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¥ Property taxesare the local revenue workhorse. They ar e the oldest local revenue source and
the only tax found in all 50 states. For the past tw o decades, they have accounted for at least
30% of all local government r evenues. There are good reasons for this. Pr operty tax es are
simple and transparent. They follo w the same basic taxable base times tax rate concept youÕve
already seen with both the income tax and the sales tax (see below for mor e detail on property
tax administration ). And yet, property tax es are wildl y unpopular . Taxpayers get angry when
their tax bill incr eases, but their income does not. They also struggle to understand how the
government determines their pr operty v alue. ThatÕs why the property tax is often called the
Ònecessary evilÓ of local revenue systems.
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¥ In 33 states, the state government has authorized local go vernments to levy a local sales tax. In
all, around 6,500 municipalities ha ve a local sales tax, and since World W ar II sales taxes have
grown fr om less than 5% of total local revenues to nearly 15%. Applicable rates and taxable
bases vary. Some municipalities have a general sales tax to fundgeneral local services. Rates
on these general local sales taxes are usually between 2-3%. Other local sales taxes are much
smaller rates but for mor e specific purposes like public safety, public health, or tourism. F or
example, in 2000, voters in Brown County , WI authorized a 0.5% sales tax to fund
impr ovements to Lambeau Field, home of the Gr een Bay Packers of the National Football
League (NFL).

¥ Local income taxesare common in ar eas with lots of commuters. In fact, theyÕre often called
commuter taxesor head taxes. Central cities often lament commuters w ork in the central city
and use central city services, but do not pay for those services becausethey own pr operty
outside the central city . Local income taxes impose a tax on wages, income, and other earnings
in the jurisdiction w here that income is earned. This is the logic behind local income tax es in
several large cities lik e Birmingham, Den ver, Kansas City , New York C ity , Philadelphia, St.
Louis, and Washington, DC. Several municipalities in gr eater Portland, O R impose a local
income tax to help fund T ri -M et, the regional light rail sy stem. This is an inter esting twist on
the commuter tax model. O hio authorizes all of its municipal go vernments to levy a local
income tax. The central criticism of local income tax es is that they drive away business. That
is, if a local business can avoid paying the local income tax simp ly by moving to another
jurisdiction, it will ha ve a strong incentiv e to do so.

¥ M unicipalities depend on a v ariety of intergovernmental revenues.M any state governments
off er municipalities grants to fund a v ariety of needs, especially infrastructur e. Many states
have grants and revolving loanprograms to help municipalities pa y for r oads, bridges, drinking
water systems, stormwater management systems, and other basic infrastructur e. Federal
intergo vernmental r evenues also assist municipalities with transportation infrastructur e,
affordable housing and community dev elopment, community policing, and man y other
initiativ es. In a few states, municipalities r eceive up to 30-40% of their r evenues through state
revenue sharingprograms. This is most common in states w here local governments are not
authorized to levy a local sales tax or are subject to strict pr operty tax limits.
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¥ M unicipalities also emp loy dozens of ÒotherÓ revenue sources. Some tax utilities, both
publicl y-owned and priv ately-owned, within their bor ders. Municipalities also impose f ees on
licenses for everything fr om owning a pet to operating a ta vern to practicing massage therapy.
M unicipal courts also impose a variety of fines on ev erything fr om illegal parking to v agrancy.
Lik e the sales tax, fees and other miscellaneous charges have become a much larger part of
municipal r evenue portf olios thr oughout the past tw o decades.

The figur e above also illustrates that itÕs difficult to broadly characterize municipal spending. That
said Ð

¥ Public educationaccounts for around 30% of total municipal spending. H owever, that figur e is
driv en by a few large school districts and a few states where municipal go vernments are
obligated to pr ovide or pay for public education. M ost municipal go vernments are not
dir ectly responsible for public education.

¥ M ost US municipalities spend 30-50% of their money on public safety. This includes police,
fir e, and emergency medical services. Public safety is also one of the fastest growing spending
areas. On average, municipal spending on public saf ety has grown at mor e than thr ee times
the rate of inflation in the br oader economy.

¥ The rest of municipal spending is sp lit r oughly between infrastructur e and community
development. M unicipal infrastructur e includes streets, sidewalks, bridges, drinking w ater
tr eatment, wastewater tr eatment, stormwater management, electricity , cable television, and
telecommunications. M any of our most basic human needs are met by municipal
infrastructur e. Community dev elopment includes pr ograms to encourage small business
growth, pr omote arts and cultur e, make neighborhoods safer and mor e walkable, among
others.

¥ As mentioned above, the scope of municipal governments around the country has expanded
dramaticall y in the past tw o decades. Today, many municipalities ha ve programs and services
designed to mitigate climate change, stop the emerging nation wide her oin epidemic, pr otect
the civil rights of the LGB TQ community , prepare recent parolees for careers in emerging
industries, pr omote international trade, and assist new ly arriving r efugees. In the past, these
issues were considered state, national, or even international issues. W hat diff erence can a city
make, the argument went, around a problem so vast as climate change? But in the midst of
chronic political gridlock in state capitals and in W ashington, DC, and in a new envir onment
where Òsymbolic politicsÓ are more potent than ever, many municipal officials f eel compelled
to go it alone.
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Counties are often called the Òbottom of the fiscal food chain.ÓThey deliver expensive and human
capital-intensiv e services lik e public health, elections, tax administration, and regional transit
systems, but they receive most or all of their money fr om property taxes with limited growth
potential, fr om highl y constrained salestaxes,and fr om categorical grants fr om the state that arriv e
with many Òstrings attached.ÓThatÕs why many counties have structural deficits that cannot be
addressed without substantial policy changes. In some sense, counties are the opposite of
municipalities. Where the scope of municipal government has expanded, the scope of county
government has narr owed by about the same margin.

Ther e are 3,144 counties in the US. The figur e below shows revenues and spending for the 50
largest (by population ) fr om 1977 thr ough 2012. ItÕs similar to the figur es above for states and
municipalities. All the shaded areas above 0 are revenues, and all the area below 0 is spending. All
figur es are expressed in 2015 per capita dollars.

This figur e shows that county governments are generally smaller and mor e narr ow in scope than
municipalities. According to the US Census of Governments, countiesÕaverage per capita spending
in 2012 was just over $1,200, where municipalitiesÕ average spending was nearly $3,000 per capita.
However, this figur e also highlights some important exceptions. In the southeastern US county
governments areoften the major local service provider . They are responsible for schools, roads,public
safety (i.e. the county sheriff ), storm water management, and most other major services. M unicipal
governments in the southeast have comparativ ely limited powers and responsibilities. ThatÕs why
Fairfax (VA), M ecklenberg (NC), M ontgomery (MD ), Prince Georges (MD ), Shelby (TN), and Wake
(NC) are orders of magnitude larger than most others. We seea similar dynamic in Calif ornia. For
most of Calif orniaÕs rural communities, the county go vernment is the main service pr ovider .

In general, counties deriv e one-thir d of the revenues fr om property taxes, one-thir d fr om
intergo vernmental sources,and one-thir d fr om other sourcesincluding salestaxes,chargesand fees,
utility tax es, and others. All counties in M aryland and Indiana levy a local income tax.

On the spending side, counties have the same basic spending patterns as municipalities. Public
safety and infrastructur e are typicall y the largest spending items. At the same time, counties also
manage services where a broader geographic reach, relative to municipalities, is mor e practical and
economical. Elections, for example, are usually a county function. Instead of dozens of municipalities
conducting their own elections, county governments manage county -wide elections that cover all
the municipal and county officials elected within the county . Tax administration is another
example. Property assessorsare usually positioned within a county government but execute property
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assessmentsfor all the municipalities and other taxing jurisdictions within their county . For this same
reason counties are usually responsible for a majority of human service programs including public
health and mental health services.

*'�� �# � *+) �+*

Specialdistrictsare local units of government that are independent fr om counties and municipalities.
They are called many diff erent things, including public authorities, special-purposedistricts, autonomous
governments, specialtaxing districts,and public corporations,among others. By definition, theyÕre narr ow
in scope. M ost special districts are authorized by their respective state governments to deliver one
particular service. School districts are authorized to collect property taxesand operate public schools.
Utility districts are authorized to deliver electricity to customers and collect fees in exchange.
Hospital districts are authorized to operate public hospitals and collect fees, grants, and other
revenues to that effect. And so forth.

The term Òspecial districtÓ means radicall y diff erent things in diff erent settings. Consider the
follo wing examp les:

¥ The Mil waukee (WI) Metropolitan Sew erage District (MMSD ) is a regional agency that
provides wastewater and storm water management services for about 1.1 million peop le. Its
service area covers 411 square miles that includes six w atersheds. It is one of the largest urban
sewerage districts in the country . In 1996 it contracted out most of its basic operations to the
priv ate firm U nited W ater, making it the largest urban sew er system in the US under priv ate
management. It collects r evenues from charges to businesses and homes who use its sewer
system, a .5% property tax on all land within the District, state and f ederal grants, and sales of
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ÒMilorganite,Ó an organic compost product it dev eloped and patented, among other revenue
sources. In 2015 it spent $252 million and emp loyed 1,200 people.

¥ The Port of Seattle (WA) manages one of the fastest growing airports in the w orld (Seattle-
Tacoma International Airport ), the thir d largest cargo container port on the w est coast, a real
estate portfolio w orth mor e than $15 billion, and a variety of technical education pr ograms
that train y oung people to work in the maritime and a viation industries. It employs
1,800 people and in 2015 it spent $336 million. I t collects r evenues from r ental fees paid by
airlines and shipping companies, f ees on cargo and airline passengers, and real estate rentals
and sales. It also has authority to levy a pr operty tax.

¥ The Barberton-N orton ( OH) M osquito Abatement District managespopulations of Òbiting
arthr opodsÓ across 60 square miles of northeast Ohio. In its o wn w ords, the District is
successful if Òyou can prepare a picnic, play cards by moonlight, ev en sit on your fr ont por ch
without the hassle of mosquitoes.Ó It employs 3 full-time staff and in 2015 it spent $784,000.
ItÕs sole revenue source is a .05% property tax.

¥ The Holley-N avarre (FL) Fir e District began as a volunteer fir e squad with no equipment or
funding. It operated fr om 1965 thr ough 1980 using borr owed equipment and was funded
solely by donations. In 1980 the District w as created by a special act of the Florida
legislatur e.Today it covers approximatel y 50 square miles in the Florida Òpanhandle,Ówith 30
full time fir efighters across four fir e stations. In 2015 it spent $2.5 million. All its r evenue is
fr om pr operty tax es andimpact fees(i.e. excise taxes levied on new construction ).

¥ The New Jersey Sports and Exposition A uthority (NJSEA) is the planning and land use agency
for a 30 square mile area just across the Hudson River fr om N ew York C ity . It was created in
1971 to develop sports and entertainment facilities near the ÒM eadowlands,Ó a marshy and
heavil y polluted f ormer industrial ar ea (see the opening credits of ÒThe SopranosÓ). Today it
managesM et Lif e Stadium (home of the N ew York Giants and N ew York Jets of the NFL ),
IZO D Ar ena (former home of the N ew Jersey Devils of the N ational H ockey League), and
several other racetracks, convention facilities, aquariums, and amusement parks. In 2015 the
New Jersey Meadowlands Commission, the authority originall y tasked with land use p lanning
and restoration of the M eadowlands, was folded into the NJSEA. As a result of that merger the
NJSEA now deliv ers services that include planning, zoning, floodp lain management, solar
energy, methane recovery, a marina, and pontoon boat cruises. In 2014 it emp loyed 85 full -
time staff and spent $90 million. I t deriv es most of its revenue from r ental fees and leases, and
a local tourism tax paid on hotel r ooms and rental cars.

¥ The Utah Housing Corporation is a statewide authority cr eated by the Utah legislatur e in
1975. ItÕs mission is to raise funds to make housing affordable for lo wer-income U tah
households. It does this mostly by off ering home loans Ð or mortgagesÐ to first time home
buyers and to developers building or r enovating aff ordable apartment pr ojects. The Authority
is self-supporting and raises hundr eds of millions of dollars each y ear through prartnerships
with banks, r eal estate developers, realtors, and others. In 2015 it emp loyed 80 people and
spent $75 million. I t collects inter est payments on its mortgages, it buy s and sells mortgages
for a profit, and it r eceives corporate donations.
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Special districts deliver a wide variety of local government services, and the variation in their scope
and scale is staggering.

They are the most dynamic area of public finance today. According to the US Census Bureau, in
1977 there were just under 26,000 special districts in the US. Today there are just under 40,000.
The figur e below shows the growth in special district revenues and spending fr om 1977-2012. Each
line represents the total revenues (solid lines) and total spending (dashed lines) for eight diff erent
types of special districts. M ost districts incr eased their total revenues and spending by 30-75%
during this period. Spending and revenues in the ÒotherÓcategory Ð which includes soil and water
conservation, libraries, cemeteries,parks and recreation, and many other types of districts Ð incr eased
mor e than 200% during this time. Also note that lik e state and local governments, special districtsÕ
aggregate spending is less than their aggregate revenues.This is becausespecial districts, lik e states,
municipalities, and counties, must balance their budgets.
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The next figur e shows the composition of special districtsÕrevenues.This figur e is basedon data fr om
2012 only. It shows each revenue source as a percentage of total revenues for each type of special
district. For example, in 2012 public hospitals deriv ed 77% of their revenues fr om charges and fees.
In other words, a typical hospital earns revenue by collecting feesfr om patients (and patientsÕhealth
insur ers including M edicare and M edicaid). Public hospitals levy property taxes (12%) and receive
federal (4%) and state (7%) intergovernmental r evenues.
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The key takeaway fr om this chart is that most special districts depend on one or tw o main revenue
sources.This is not a coincidence. State and local legislatur es typicall y grant special districts limited
taxing authority . That said, many districts are deeply engagedin business-type activities where they
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deliver a specific service to a particular customer in exchange for a fee.This is quite diff erent fr om
state and local governments where taxpayers pay general revenue sources lik e property and sales
taxes, and receive general services like public safety and public health.

What accounts for the explosive growth of special districts? Two, sometimes contradictory factors.
First, special districts allow for mor e dir ect taxpayer contr ol. If citizens receive a service thr ough
their municipal or county government, and they wish to changehow they pay for that service or how
that service is delivered, they can only affect that change thr ough their city council member or other
local representative who must also attend to dozens of other service delivery concerns. With special
districts, citizens elect a separate governing body that attends only to that specific service, and they
pay taxesor feesdedicated to that service. The relationship between governance, funding, and service
delivery is, in concept, much clearer.

Fir e protection is a good example. Citizens in unincorporated areas(i.e. areasthat fall outside the
boundaries of any municipality ) often receive fir e protection fr om a county government or nearby
municipality . In rural communities that are growing often want better fir e protection. In the event of
a fir e, theyÕd rather not wait for the county or nearby municipal fir e service to arriv e. TheyÕd much
rather have local fir efighters who understand the local terrain and can off er specialized services that a
municipal or county fir e service is lesslik ely to deliver, lik e wilderness rescueand wildfir e prevention
and outr each. So theyÕllcreate a local fir e protection district, pay a specialized property tax to that
district, and elect a specialized fir e protection district board. We see a similar dynamic in service
areas lik e flood contr ol, agricultural irrigation, and parks. ItÕs also quite common in the western
US, where local political cultur e tends to favor populist, local contr ol of government. For instance,
Tennesseeand Washington State have roughly the same population. Tennesseehas 347 municipal
governments and 475 special districts. Washington State has 281 municipal governments and 1,670
special districts.

Special districts have also prolif erated because they can help citizens cir cumvent tax and
expenditur e limitations. Sometimes those limitations are political. For instance, taxpayers across
the country have voted often to move traditional municipal services lik e libraries and parks fr om
their municipal government to a special district. When these services are delivered thr ough a special
district they have a dedicated revenue source.They need not compete with public safety, roads,water/
sewer, and other municipal services for limited tax dollars. And sometimes those limitations are legal.
For example, school districts in many statesmust get voter approval for new school buildings. Before
a district can borr ow money to build, voters must approve the additional property taxesneededto pay
back that borr owed money. Voters in many districts are reticent to approve those additional property
taxes.So as an alternativ e, a district can authorize the creation of a school building authority . That
authority will borr ow money, build the new school building, leasethe building to the district, and then
repay the borr owed money with the districtÕs leasepayments. At one point in the early 2000s, nearly
half the public school buildings in T exas were financed thr ough this ÒleasebackÓ model.

This prolif eration presents a variety of trade-offs for governance and accountability . Special
districts do off er mor e local contr ol, but the evidence suggests they often do the opposite. Voter
turnout for special district elections is usually among the lowest for all elected offices. Academic
research shows citizens rarely kno w that special districts even exist, and almost never kno w who they
voted for in the last special district election. So thereÕs little evidence that special districts off er better
democratic accountability . Another practical concern is that the prolif eration of special districts has
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drasticall y incr easedthe total amount of local government debt outstanding. This raises a variety of
concerns about whether local governments are able to repay those debts.

%&%�') &� +*

Non-pr ofits are big business!According to the National Center for Charitable Statistics, in 2013 there
are approximatel y 1.4 million nonpr ofit organizations registered with the Internal Revenue Service
(IRS). They collected $1.73 trillion of revenue and spent $1.62 trillion. Collectiv ely, they contribute
an estimated $900 billion to the US economy each year and employ almost 10% of the entir e US
workf orce.

To understand where non-pr ofits get their money and where their money goes you must first
understand the many diff erent types of organizations that comprise the Ònon-pr ofit sector .Ó

The table below illustrates some of these diff erences. It shows the ten largest non-pr ofits
by expenses in 2014. The ÒAllÓ category covers all non-pr ofits, and the other four categories are
specific types: envir onment, human services, international, and civil rights. Abbr eviations in
parenthesesare the state where that non-pr ofit is incorporated. M ost of the organizations listed here
are incorporated in one state but ha ve a national presence.
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A few key tr ends stand out. Eight of the ten largest US non-pr ofits are health care
organizations. Some are health systems that employ physicians, nurses, and other networks of health
care providers. Others are health insurance companies. Some are research institutions that focus
on health care. ItÕs also notew orth y that many of these large health care organizations defy the
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conventional wisdom that Ònon-profitÓmeans Ònotprofitable.ÓFor instance, Dignity Health, the fifth
largest overall non-pr ofit, reported profits in excessof $550 million in 2015. The other health care
organizations ar e similarl y profitable.

How can an organization be so profitable yet remain Ònon-profitÓ?BecauseÒnon-profitÓ is a tax
distinction, not a businessmodel . Non-pr ofit organizations do not pay state and local taxes,and they
receive a considerable subsidy thr ough a tax preference (see below). We grant them these benefits
becausethey deliver goods and services that benefit the public. M ost non-pr ofit hospitals accomplish
this by delivering fr ee or low-cost health care to people who canÕtafford it. As long as they provide
that service, thereÕs little if an y restriction on ho w much pr ofit they can earn.

Note also the staggering variety of services provided and populations served. M any of those
services are not unlik e governments. Non-pr ofits conserve land for futur e generations, manage
affordable housing programs, and provide pro bono legal services for the poor . Lik e governments,
most of their money is spent on employee wages and benefits. And lik e governments, the non-
profit sector is comprised of thousands of small organizations but dominated by a handful of larger
organizations. In fact, by some estimates,mor e than half of all non-pr ofits have total annual revenues
less than one million dollars.

But non-pr ofits are also quite diff erent fr om governments. M any non-pr ofits are deeply engaged
in political advocacy. They fight for everything fr om endangered species to vulnerable populations
around the world. And unlik e governments, who are funded mostl y thr ough general taxes,almost half
of non-pr ofit revenue is Òfee-for-serviceÓor Òexchange lik eÓtransactions. This includes everything
fr om tuition payments to revenuesfr om salesof specialty goods, club memberships, patient revenues
etc.

That said, keep in mind that non-pr ofits and governments interact in tw o crucial ways. Revenues
fr om government sources,including government contracts and M edicare/M edicaid, account for just
under one-quarter of non-pr ofit revenues.Government grants represent another eight percent. Put
diff erently, mor e than one-thir d of non-pr ofit revenue is dir ectly connected with government. Also
note that government revenuesare not distributed evenly across non-pr ofits. In fact, a large portion
of non-pr ofits, perhaps as much as 20-30%, depend on governments for mor e than half of their
revenues.This suggeststhat many non-pr ofits are not necessarily independent entities with their own
mission and organizational capacity, but rather low-priced government contracts. In later chapters
we explor e some of the advantages, disadvantages, and criticisms of this part of the nonpr ofit -
government nexus.

Governments also support the non-pr ofit sector thr ough a powerful tax preference.The federal
government and most state governments off er a tax deduction for charitable giving. Donors give to
non-pr ofits for many reasons.Perhaps they lik e a non-pr ofitÕs mission or strategy. M aybe they or
someone they kno w received that organization Õs services. Or , maybe the decision to give had a lot
to do with tax planning. When a donor gives to a non-pr ofit, that donorÕs taxable income is reduced
by the amount of that gift. So for many individuals and corporations, in addition to supporting their
favorite non-pr ofit, charitable giving can also reduce their income tax liability , by sometimes up to
50%.According to the US Congr essÕJoint Committee on Taxation, the charitable deduction costs the
federal government about $50 billion annuall y, in foregone revenue.

Ther e is considerable contr oversy around the deduction. Some believe it only benefits the wealthy
and does little to encourage giving. Others believe that highl y profitable non-pr ofit organizations,
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including many of the health care entities listed above,do not need or deserve an imp licit government
subsidy.

"<+->3-/�"<9,6/7=

�
 6C<O<M@OC@OCM@@=DBB@NO_I<I>D<G>C<GG@IB@NOC<OKP=GD>JMB<IDU<ODJINRDGGA<>@DIOC@I@SO?@><?@�

6C<O�JKKJMOPIDOD@N�?J�OCJN@�>C<GG@IB@N�KM@N@IO�OJ�NJKCDNOD><O@?�KP=GD>�_I<I>D<G�H<I<B@MN�

�
 8JP<M@OC@"DOT,<I<B@MJAOC@"DOTJA6CJ QDGG@<I? <M@>JIND?@MDIBJKODJINOJM<DN@I@RM@Q@IP@N


#@N>MD=@�OC@�<?Q<IO<B@N��?DN<?Q<IO<B@N��<I?�DHKGD><ODJIN�AJM�A<DMI@NN�JA�OC@�AJGGJRDIB�

� (I>M@<N@�KMJK@MOT�O<S@N

� (I>M@<N@�PN@M�>C<MB@N�<I?�A@@N

� (HKG@H@IO�<�GJ><G�N<G@N�O<S

�
 (I ���� OC@"DOTJA/DOON=PMBC�/  NP@?OC@4IDQ@MNDOTJA/DOON=PMBC,@?D><G"@IO@M�4/,"�
 3C@

BJ<GJAOC@G<RNPDOR<NOJNOMDK4/," JADONO<S�@S@HKONO<OPN
 >>JM?DIBOJOC@"DOTYN>JHKGD<IO�

4/," ?J@NIJO ?@GDQ@M<?@LP<O@>C<MDOT><M@OJEPNODATDONO<S�@S@HKONO<OPN�?J@NIJO >JIOMD=PO@

<I T K<TH@IONDIGD@PJAO<S@N�/(+ . 3N��<I? K<TNDON@S@>PODQ@NG<QDNC>JHK@IN<ODJIK<>F<B@N
'<?

OC@"DOTRJI DI>JPMO�DOKG<II@?OJDHKJN@<
��� DI>JH@O<SJI R<B@N@<MI@?=T4/," @HKGJT@@N


4/," >JPIO@M�NP@?�>G<DHDIBDOC<?=@@IPIA<DMGTNDIBG@?�JPO<HJIB /DOON=PMBCYN?JU@INJAG<MB@

O<S�@S@HKOJMB<IDU<ODJIN
3C@"DOT?MJKK@?DONNPDODI )PGT����� <I? =JOCND?@NC<Q@NDI>@=@@I

I@BJOD<ODIB< NJGPODJI
6C<O<M@OC@<?Q<IO<B@N<I? ?DN<?Q<IO<B@NJAOC@"DOTYNKMJKJN@?DI>JH@

O<S��'JR�RJPG?�TJP�NPBB@NO�/DOON=PMBC�<I?�4/,"�M@NJGQ@�OCDN�>JI`D>O�

�
 8JP <M@OC@>CD@A_I<I>@ JA_>@M�"%. � JAOC@"DOTJA/PG<NFD<I? <M@<=JPOOJ=JMMJR��� HDGGDJI

AJMM@K<DMNOJTJPM>DOTN@R@MNTNO@H
 R@@F=@AJM@TJPYM@N>C@?PG@?OJ>GJN@JI OC@=JMMJRDIB

RDOCTJPMG@I?@M� OC@%@?@M<G1@N@MQ@<IIJPI>@NDONDIO@IODJIOJDI>M@<N@OC@%@?@M<G%PI?N1<O@=T

�
���
�'JR�RDGG�OCDN�<AA@>O�TJPM�N@R@M�NTNO@H�KMJE@>O�

�
 3CMJPBCJPOOC@���� /M@ND?@IOD<G@G@>ODJIQDMOP<GGT@Q@MT><I?D?<O@C<NKMJKJN@?Z>JHKM@C@INDQ@

A@?@M<GDI>JH@O<SM@AJMH[ OC<ORJPG?M@LPDM@Z>GJNDIBOC@GJJKCJG@N<I? GJR@MDIBOC@M<O@
[ 6C<O<M@

OC@N@ZGJJKCJG@N�[ <I? CJRRJPG?>GJNDIBOC@H<GGJRAJM<GJR@MA@?@M<GDI>JH@O<SM<O@�6C<OJOC@M

_I<I>D<GJM@>JIJHD>DHKGD><ODJINHDBCOAJGGJRAMJH>GJNDIBOCJN@GJJKCJG@N�(N<GJR@MO<SM<O@BJJ?

_N><G�KJGD>T�

�
 (I ���� QJO@MNDI OC@"DOTJA 2@<OOG@�6  QJO@?OJ>M@<O@< ,@OMJKJGDO<I/ <MFN#DNOMD>O
3CDN

I@R#DNOMD>OC<NOC@KJR@MOJG@QTDONJRI KMJK@MOTO<S�<I? DON=JM?@MN<M@>JIODBPJPNRDOCOC@"DOT

JA2@<OOG@
3CMJPBC<I DIO@MGJ><G<BM@@H@IO�OC@"DOT<BM@@?OJM@>@DQ@<GGJADONK<MFNN@MQD>@NAMJH

OC@I@R#DNOMD>OAJMOC@I@SO�� T@<MN
6C<O<M@OC@<?Q<IO<B@N<I? ?DN<?Q<IO<B@NJAOCDN<KKMJ<>C

OJ�API?DIB�K<MFN�

�� '.6 6$ /  8 %.1 3'$ /4!+(" 2$"3 .1
Finan cial Str at egy f or Public Mana ger s | 36



Chapt er 2.
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In November 2013 the Contra Costa County (Calif ornia ) Board of Supervisors voted to end nearly
$2 million in contracts with the non-pr ofit M ental Health Consumer Concerns (MH CC). The reason:
MH CCÕs savings account had grown too large.

Since the late 1970s MH CC had off ered patient rights advocacy, lif e skills coaching, anger
management classesand several other mental health-r elated services to some of the poor est residents
of the Bay Ar ea. M uch of its work was funded by and delivered thr ough contracts with local
governments.

In 2007 its Board of Trustees began to divert 10-15% of all money received on government
contracts to a reserve account (or rain y day fund). MH CCÕs management concluded this policy was
necessary after several local governments began to consistentl y deliver late payments on existing
contracts. This new policy wasdesigned to guarantee MH CC would never again be exposed to these
types of unpr edictable cash flo ws. MH CCÕs Board and management considered this a prudent use of
public dollars, and a necessarystep to protect the organization Õs financial futur e. From 2007-2011
nearly $400,000 flowed into the new rain y day fund.

Contra Costa County disagreed. They interpr eted the contracts to mean that reimbursements
were only for actual service delivery expenses.They also pointed out that those contracts prohibited
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carrying over funds fr om year to year. A reserve fund containing County funds was therefore a
violation of those contracts, and the contracts were terminated. MH CC pointed out that they
disclosed the reserve fund strategy in their annual financial reports, and that the reserve allowed
them to deliver better , uninterrupted services even during the worst financial moments of the Great
Recession.Contra Costa County Supervisor Karen Mitchoff responded by saying MH CCÕs financial
statements were not the appropriate channel to communicate such a contentious policy choice. She
added,ÒIam not sympathetic to the establishment of the reserve,and the nonpr ofit board kno ws they
had a fiduciary r esponsibility to be on top of this. Ó

The contracts w ere canceled, and MHCC dissolved in early 2011.
This episode illustrates tw o of the key take-aways fr om this chapter. First, an organization Õs

financial statements are a vital communication tool. They tell us about its mission, priorities, and
service delivery strategy. In this particular case,MH CC made a policy decision to deliver lessservice
in the near-term in exchange for the ability to deliver mor e consistent and predictable services in
the futur e. That choice wasreflected several placesin MH CCÕs financial statements. ItÕs unr estricted
net assetswere higher . ItÕs dir ect expenseswere lower. They also disclosed the rain y day fund policy
in the notes to its financial statements. Second, and mor e important, financial statements are only
useful if the audience kno wshow to readthem. In this case,Contra Costa County failed to understand
how the rain y day fund policy was communicated in the financial statements, and how that policy
affected MH CCÕs finances and its ability to accomplish its mission. But without the ability or desire
to interpr et the financial statements, the County considered MH CCÕs actions a breach of contract.
Whether a rain y day fund is a dir ect service expense is an inter esting policy question. So is the
question of if and how a government should use financial statements for oversight of its non-pr ofit
contractors. But to engagethese and many other questions, one must first understand how a public
organization Õs financial statements tell its Òfinancial story.Ó
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If you want to kno w how an organization connects its money to its mission, read its budget. If the
budget calls for mor e spending in one program and less in another , that tells us a lot about that
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organization Õs priorities. If one of its programs operates at a loss, but another programÕs profits
subsidize that loss Ñ thatÕs also a clear statement about how that organization carries out its mission.
We can think of many other ways an organization Õs money does or does not connect to its mission. A
public organization Õs budget lays out the many, unique ways it makes those connections.

But sometimes we want an Òapples-to-app lesÓcomparison. Sometimes we want to kno w if an
organization Õs mission-money nexus is the same,or diff erent, fr om similar organizations. Sometimes
we want to kno w how efficientl y an organization accomplishes its mission compared to its peers.
Sometimes we want to kno w if an organization is in comparativ ely good or bad financial health. To
answer these types of question you need inf ormation found only in financial statements. In this
chapter, we walk thr ough the basic financial statements that most public organizations prepare, and
the essential concepts fr om accounting youÕllneed to understand the numbers that appear in those
statements.

M oreover, we may need to compare an organization Õs finances to the finances of other
organizations. If our organization Õs expensesexceeded its revenues we might consider that to be a
failur e. Unless, of course, we see that all organizations lik e it also struggled. If it failed to invest in
its capital equipment, we might think it was neglecting its own service delivery capacity, unless we
saw other organizations make that same trade-off. These types of comparisons demand financial
inf ormation thatÕs based on standardized financial inf ormation fr om a broadly-shared set of
assumptions. Budgets are rarely standardized that w ay.

Fortunatel y, we can get that inf ormation fr om an organization Õs financial statements. Financial
statements are the main ÒoutputÓ or ÒdeliverableÓfr om the organization Õs accounting function.
Accounting is the processof recording, classifying, and summarizing economic events in a process
that leads to the preparation of financial statements. Unlik e budgets, the numbers reported in
financial statements are based on generally acceptedaccountingprinciples(GAAP), that prescribe when
and how an organization should ackno wledge diff erent types of financial activity .
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GAAP tells us when an organization can say it ÒownsÓan asset,or when it has ÒearnedÓrevenue for
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delivering a service, among many other types of financial activity . These are kno wn as princip les
of accounting recognition. The key point here is that GAAP is a shared set of Òrulesof the gameÓ
for summarizing and reporting an organization Õs financial activities. If an organization off ers up
GAAP-comp liant financial inf ormation, we can compare its finances to itself over time, and to other
organizations.

Standardized rules arenÕtthe only diff erencebetween budgeting and accounting. Broadly speaking,
if budgeting is the story , then accounting is the scorecard. An organization Õs budget tells us the
activities it wants to do and how it plans to pay for those activities. Politicians and board members
love to talk about budgets becausebudgets are full of aspirations. TheyÕre how leaders translate their
dreams for the organization into a compelling story about w hat might happen.

Financial statements tell us what actually happened. Did the organization the organization Õs
revenues exceed its expenses?Did it pay for items with cash, or on credit? Did its investments gain
value or lose value? How much revenue would it need to collect in the futur e to pay for capital
impr ovements and equipment? Accountants often seethemselves as the enforcers of accountability .
ThatÕs why budget-makers and accountants often donÕt see eye-to-ey e.

These tw o world view s are diff erent in many other important ways. As mentioned, budgeting
is prospective (i.e., about the futur e) where accounting is retrospective (i.e., focused on the past).
Budgets are designed primaril y for an internal audience Ð elected officials and board members,
department headsand program managers,etc. Ð where accounting produces financial reports mostl y
for an external audience of taxpayers, investors, regulators, and funders. Budgeting focuses on the
resources that will flo w in and out of an organization, also kno wn as the financial resourcesfocus.
Accounting focuseson the long-term resourcesthe organization contr ols and its long-term spending
commitments, also kno wn as the economicresources focus. Budgeting is about balance between
revenues and spending, where accounting is about balance between an organizations assetsand the
claims against those assets.These main diff erencesbetween the tw o perspectivesare summarized in
the table below.
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Everything we do in accounting is organized around the Fundamental Accounting Equation. That
equation is:

Assets = Liabiliti es + Net Assets
An asset is anything of value that the organization owns. Ther e are tw o types of assets:1) short -
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term assets,kno wn mor e generally as current assets; and 2) long-term assetsor non-current assets. A
curr ent asset is any assetthat the organization will lik ely sell, use, or convert to cash within a year.
M ost organizations have supplies or inventory they expect to use to carry out normal operations.
Those are the most common curr ent assets.

When someone outside the organization owes the organization money, and the organization
expects to collect that money within the year, thatÕs also a curr ent asset kno wn as a receivable. An
organization recognizes an accountreceivableor A/ R when it delivers a service to a client and that
client or customer agreesto pay within the curr ent fiscal year. M any non-pr ofits also report donations
receivableor pledgesreceivable. Donations and pledges receivable represent a donorÕs commitment to
give at a futur e date. The same logic applies to grants receivablefr om foundations or go vernments.

M ost public organizations own buildings, vehicles, equipment, and other assetsthey use to deliver
their services.These are long-termassets. They have long usefullivesand itÕs unlik ely the organization
would sell these assets,as that would diminish their capacity to deliver services. State and local
governments maintain roads,bridges, sewer systems,and other infr astructureassets. These are among
the most expensive and important long -term assets in the public sector .

By contrast, a liability is anything the organization owes to others. Or to put it in mor e positiv e
terms, liabilities are how an organization acquires its assets.Here the short vs. long-term distinction
also applies. Short-term liabilities are liabilities that the organization expects to pay within the next
fiscal year. The most common are accountspayablefor goods or services the organization hasreceived
but not yet paid for , and wagespayablefor employeeswho have delivered services but not yet been
paid.

Long-term liabilities are money the organization will pay at some point beyond the curr ent fiscal
year. When an organization borr ows money and agreesto pay it back over several years,it recognizes
a loan payableor bondspayable. M any public sector employeesearn a pensionwhile they work for the
government, and they expect to collect that pension once they retir e. If the government has not yet
set aside enough money to cover those futur e pension payments, it must r eport a pensionliability .

WhatÕs left is called net assets. Technically speaking, net assetsare simply the diff erence between
assets and liabilities. For priv ate sector entities, this diff erence is known as ownerÕs equity.
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Public organizations donÕthave Òowners.ÓInstead, they have stakeholders, or anyone who has an
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inter est, financial or otherwise, in how well the organization achieves its mission. For governments,
taxpayers are a rough analog to owners. But unlik e investors in a for-pr ofit company, taxpayers
donÕthave a legal claim to the governmentÕs assets.TaxpayersÕmain inter est is that the government
delivers the services they expect it to deliver. Donors and funders who give money to a non-pr ofit
organization care about its financial health, but they also donÕtexpect to get their money back if the
organization fails. M ostly, they care that the organization will continue to serve its clients and the
community at large. For these reasons,net assetsare an important part of a government and non-
profit finances, but they don Õt have quite the same meaning as ownersÕ equity for a for-pr ofit entity .

That said, we can think of net assetsas an indicator of the organization Õs financial strength or
financial health. If its net assets are growing, that suggests its assets are growing faster than its
liabilities, and in turn, so is its capacity to deliver services. If its net assetsare shrinking, its service-
delivery capacity is also shrinking.

We also have to think about the restrictions on net assets. Net assets are reported as either
unrestrictednet assets, temporarily restrictednet assetsor permanentlyrestrictednet assets. Unrestrictednet
assetshave no donor -imposed stipulations but may include internal or board-designated restrictions.
Temporarily restricted net assetsrepresent assetswith time and/ or purpose restrictions stipulated
by a donor . Permanentlyrestricted net asset represent assets with donor restrictions that do not
expir e.

1
We are therefore inter ested in whether the growth in an organization Õs capacity is limited to

donor -funded programs (i.e., temporaril y or permanentl y net assets) or whether the growth is in its
unr estricted position.
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All organizations that f ollo w GAAP, both public and priv ate, produce thr eebasic financial statements:

1. Balance Sheet. Presents the organizationÕs assets, liabilities, and net assets at a particular
point in time.

2. Income S tatement . Presents the organizationÕs revenues, expenses, and changes in net
assets throughout a particular time period.

3. Cash Flow Statement . Shows how the organization r eceives and uses cash to carry out its
mission.

In the discussion that follo ws youÕllseemor e detail about eachstatement and how the inf ormation it
contains can inf orm k ey management and policy decisions.

When considering an organization Õs financial statements keep one central point in mind: Net
assetsare the focal point. Changes in assets,liabilities, revenues,expenses,and cash flo ws will affect
net assetsdiff erently. Each of the thr eefinancial statements illuminates diff erent dimensions of those
changes.Regardless of the organization Õs structur e or mission, its financial statements are organized
around changes in net assets.

1. Note that these net asset restriction categories ar e for non-pr ofit organizations. Go vernments use a separate classification scheme for net asset
restrictions. W e describe that scheme later.
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Also, each statementÕs presentation style and terminology can vary depending on the type of
organization that pr epared it. This table summarizes those diff erences.

M any of the diff erencesin labeling are intended to contrast the mission orientation of non-pr ofits
and governments with the profit orientation of for-pr ofits. We see this most clearly in the income
statement. For-pr ofit organizations often call the income statement the Òprofit/ loss statement,Ógiven
its purpose is to distinguish its profitable products and services fr om its non-pr ofitable products
and services. For governments and non-pr ofits, the focus is on Òactivities.ÓThe question here is not
whether the organization Õs activities are profitable, but rather how to do those activities advance
its mission. In the aggregate, they must take in mor e revenue than they spend, or they will cease
operating. But ÒprofitabilityÓ is not their main goal.
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YouÕllalso note several diff erences in what governments call these statements. WeÕve talked already
about how financial statements illuminate operational accountability, or how efficientl y and effectively
an organization used its financial resources to advance its mission. Taxpayers want to kno w their
government delivered services efficientl y and effectively. To that end, state and local governments
prepare a set of Ògovernment -wideÓfinancial statements. These statements present the governmentÕs
overall financial position, and they off er some insight into its ability to continue to deliver services
in the futur e. These government -wide statements are, with a few modifications, conceptuall y similar
to the basic financial statements for a non-pr ofit or f or-pr ofit.

The government -wide balancesheet is called the Statementof NetPosition, and the government -wide
income statement is called the Statementof Activities. By calling the income statement, the Statement
of Activities, the governmental accounting standards-setters have sent a clear message:governments
exist not to generate income, but to produce activities. This also explains why thereÕs no government -
wide cash flo w statement. Inf ormation about how a government generates and uses cash does not
necessarily help us understand if it is achieving its mission.

But with governments, operational accountability is only part of the story . Taxpayers also want to
kno w their government did what they told it to do. They want to kno w if it delivered the services they
wanted with the r evenues they gave it. ThatÕs fiscal accountability.

When we think of fiscal accountability in government we usually think of the budget. A
governmentÕs budget is not just a plan; ItÕs the law. M ost governmentsÕconstitutions or charters
requir e them to lay out their planned revenues and spending in a special law called an appropriations
ordinance. They must literall y passa law that makes their budget intentions clear. If they spend mor e
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than their budget allows or spend money in ways not specified in their budget ordinance, they are
breaking the law.

Budgets are enshrined in law becausethey are one of our most effective tools to ensure inter -period
equity . Inter-periodequity is the idea that if a government follo ws its budget, it is living within its means
and it is less likely to pass costs onto future generations.

Fiscal accountability and inter -period equity are so important that theyÕre built not just into a
governmentÕs budget, but also into its financial statements. For instance, imagine that a school district
levies a special salestax to pay for school buildings. Taxpayers want to seehow much revenue that tax
generated, how much money the school district borr owed to build those buildings, how much of that
revenue has been used to repay that borr owed money, and so on. TheyÕllwant fiscal accountability
on that special tax.

For taxpayers to assessthis theyÕllneed to seethose revenues, expenditur es,assets,and liabilities
presented separately fr om all other operations. To do that, the school district will present those
finances in a stand-alone special revenue fund.

A fund is a stand-alone, self-balancing set of accounts with a specific purpose. A governmentÕs
general fund is where it accounts for its general services that are paid for thr ough general revenue
sources. ItÕs where local governments account for police, fir e, public health, and other services paid
for thr ough property taxesand general salestaxes.ItÕs also where state governments account for their
M edicaid programs, state parks, state patrol, and other general servicespaid for thr ough state income
taxes and statewide general sales taxes. For most governments the general fund is the largest and
most carefull y-w atched. According to GAAP, a governmentÕs general fund, special revenue funds, and
capital projectsfunds are collectiv ely called its governmentalfunds.You can think of the governmental
funds as agovernmentÕs core services and operations.

Lik e the budget, governmental funds are focused on near-term revenues and spending. For that
reason the inf ormation you see in funds is prepared using a diff erent set of accounting princip les.
Those princip les are kno wn as modified accrual accounting(or ÒfundaccountingÓ)and are described
later in this chapter .

Since funds are self-balancing, we rewrite the fundamental equation for the modified accrual
context as:

Assets = Liabiliti es + Fund Balance
Funds are so important to governments that they are requir ed to present a separate set of fund

financial statements, prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. The balance sheet in
the governmental funds is simply called the balance sheet, and the income statement is called
the Statementof Revenues,Expenditures,and Changesin Fund Balance. Lik e with the government -wide
statements, there is no cash flow statement f or the governmental funds.

Governments also deliver goods and services whose operations are quite similar to what weÕd find
in the priv ate sector. Examples include water utilities, golf courses, swimming pools, waste disposal
facilities, and many others. These are kno wn as business-type activities or proprietary activities. In
concept, business-type activities should cover their expenseswith the revenue they generate thr ough
feesand chargesfor their services.In fact, many governments operate business-type activities because
those activities are profitable and can subsidize other services that cannot pay for themselves.Since
business-type activities are expected to pay for themselves,we account for them on the accrualbasis
and prepare a separate set of proprietary fund financial statements.Accrual basis accounting, assumes
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an organization records a transaction when that transaction has an economic impact, regardless of
whether it spends or receives cash. Those statements follo w the traditional titles of balance sheet,
income statement, and cash flow statement.
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The balancesheetis designed to answer asimple question: What is this organization Õscurr ent financial
position?Financial position hasboth a short -term and a long-term component. If curr ent assetsexceed
curr ent liabilities, then the organization is in a good short -term financial position. If long-term (i.e.
non-curr ent) assetsexceed long-term liabilities, the organization is in a good long-term financial
position.

For that reason, a point of emphasis for the balance sheet is the relationship between the
organization Õs assetsand liabilities. If assetsgrow faster than liabilities, net assetswill incr ease.And
vice versa.Later weÕllcover some mor e precisemeasures,also kno wn asfinancial statementratios, you
can use to answer these questions.

The balance sheet off ers a lot this sort of detail on why net assetsdo or do not incr ease.To that
point, w hen looking at an organization Õs balance sheet you should ask a few questions:

1. Do its total assets exceed its total liabilities? If they do, thatÕs a good indicator of a good
long-term financial position.

2. Do its curr ent assets exceed its current liabilities? If they do, thatÕs a good indicator of a
strong short -term financial position.

3. What portion of its curr ent assets are reported under cash? Does it appear to have a lot of
cash relative to its other assets and liabilities? Cash is critical. At the same time, itÕs possible
for an organization to ha ve too much cash. If it has more cash than it needs to cover its day-
to-day operations, then it could in vest some of that idle cash in marketable securities or
other safe investments, and earn a small investment return.

4. What portion of its assets are reported as receivables? What proportion of r eceivables are
due in 12 months or less? What proportion of r eceivables due are from a single donor or
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grantor? This can be a source of financial uncertainty or ev en weakness, depending on the
donors or payees in question.

5. What is the relationship betw een its current and non-curr ent assets? How much does the
organization r eport in buildings and equipment? The organization will lik ely need to use
cash, and other short-term assets, to pay for and maintain its long -term assets.

6. What portion of net assets are unrestricted? Are temporaril y restricted? Are permanently
restricted? Unr estricted and temporaril y restricted net assets can be use to cover short -term
spending needs, if they are used within the confines of the donor r estrictions.

7. Does the organization ha ve non-curr ent liabilities? H ow might these aff ect the
organization Õs current assets in the future? Long-term liabilities lik e loans, bonds, legal
settlements, and pensions increase demand for curr ent assets like cash.

ItÕs important to keep in mind that the balance sheet is a snapshot in time. When an organization Õs
accounting staff prepareabalancesheetthey simply report the balancesin eachof organization Õsmain
financial accounts on a particular day. Usually, that day is the last day of the fiscal year. Keep in mind
that if an organization has a dynamic balance sheet Ð i.e., it has a lot of receivables or payables,or it
hasa lot of investments whose value fluctuate Ð then its total assetsand total liabilities can look quite
diff erent fr om one week to the next or fr om one month to the next.

LetÕs look at an example. Here youÕllsee Fiscal Year 2015 Balance Sheet Ð i.e. the Statement of
Financial Position Ð for a non-pr ofit organization called Treehouse. Treehouse supports childr en
in foster care with tutoring and other educational support (e.g., counseling, food, clothing). It was
founded in 1988, and serves nearly 8,000 childr en in greater Seattle, WA.

The balance sheet is organized in order of liquidity . The most liquid assetsappear first, and the least
liquid assetsappear near the bottom. Liquidity refers to how quickl y an assetcan be converted to cash
with minimal loss in value. We can convert an assetto cashby selling it, or , in the caseof receivables,
by collecting on it. Cash is, of course, the most liquid asset.ThatÕswhy itÕs listed first. Cashequivalents
(e.g.,commercial paper, and marketablesecuritieslik e moneymarketmutual fundsand overnightre-purchase
agreementsor ÒReposÓ)are extr emely safe investments that can be converted to cash immediatel y at
low or no cost.
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Treehouse reports the most typical curr ent assets:

¥ Investments (current assets). Investments includes holdings of stocks, bonds, and other typical
financial instruments. B y definition, in vestments reported as current assets are bought and
sold less frequently and less liquid than mark etable securities.

¥ Receivables. When someone pays money they owe to the organization that money , that
receivable is converted to cash. Treehouse reports receivables for p ledges, rent (it owns
property that it r ents to others), and contracts. Also note that it r eports net r eceivables. This
means it has subtracted from that r eceivables figure, the portion of those r eceivables it has
determined it cannot collect. Those r emovals are known as bad debt expense, and are
described later in this chapter .

¥ Inventory. This includes goods that the organization intends to sell or giv e away as part of
delivering its services. M uch of TreehouseÕs inventory is held in its ÒWearhouse,Ó a thrift store
where childr en can pick up clothing and personal items f or fr ee. Many organizations
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(Treehouse not included) report a separate category for supplies. These are goods and
materials, usually commodities, that the organization intends to use w hile deliv ering its
services.Unlik e marketable securities and investments, there may not be a robust mark et for
supplies and inventory , so they are among the least liquid curr ent assets.

¥ Pre-paid Expenses. When an organization pa ys in advance for services it will use later Ð such as
insurance, memberships, subscriptions, etc. Ð thatÕs known as a pre-paid expense. If the
organization can cancel, r enegotiate, or otherwise change a pre-paid and get cash back in
return, then the pr e-paid can be converted to cash. This is rare.

Treehouse also reports the most common long -term assets. These are also listed in order of liquidity:

¥ Long-term Receivables. Some receivables are received over multip le fiscal periods. This is
especially true f or long -term grants and contracts, and f or donors w ho choose to give at
regular interv als over several years. These long-term r eceivables are also reported net of bad
debt.

¥ Furnitur e and Equipment. Reported at historical cost(see below) and net of depreciation(see later
in this chapter ). These are also known as capital assets or property , plant, and equipment
(PPE). They are illiquid as ther e may or may not be an inter ested buyer. If Treehouse owned a
building the v alue of that building w ould also be reported here.

¥ Endowment Investmentsrepresent donated funds with a explicit r estriction that funds not be
expended, but rather, invested for the purpose of pr oducing income. This is the pr ecise reason
why these investments are reported as long-term assets. Its not because the owner cannot sell
Ñ or that they cannot be sold, but rather if they ar e sold, they must be replaced by an
equivalent financial instrument. Earnings fr om endowment in vestments can be used to
advance the organization mission as long as the organization exists. T reehouse maintains a
sizeable pool of endowment in vestments. For some organizations, endo wment in vestments
may not be explicitl y reported in the balance sheet, but these are often disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements.

¥ Other Investments. Many investments are not liquid because their o wner is not allo wed to sell
them. This is usually true of holdings in hedge funds, priv ate equity, and other investment
vehicles where investors give up liquidity , but expect a more profitable in vestment in r eturn.
Some investments are less liquid because there are simply fewer potential buy ers. Commercial
real estate, for instance, can take some time to sell because there are simply fewer potential
investors inter ested in those types of properties compar ed to, say, residential r eal estate. All
these investments are reported as ÒotherÓ long term assets.
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Liabilities are also listed in reducing order of liquidity . Liquidity of a liability refers to how quickl y
the organization will need to pay it. TreehouseÕsbalancesheet includes the tw o most common curr ent
liabilities Ð accounts payable and accrued salaries and related costs (i.e. wagespayable). These are
liabilities that will come due within the fiscal year. Lik e many non-pr ofits, Treehousedoes not report
any long-term liabilities. If it had a mortgage, loan payable,or other liabilities that will come due over
multip le years it would r eport them as long-term liabilities.

At a glance, thr eekey features of TreehouseÕs balance sheet stand out. First, its curr ent assetsfar
exceed its curr ent liabilities. This indicates a strong near-term financial position. Treehouse has
mor e than enough liquid resources on hand to cover liabilities that will come due soon. However,
roughly one-thir d of those curr ent assetsare pledges receivable. This intr oduces some uncertainty
into TreehouseÕs overall asset liquidity . WhatÕs mor e, a substantial proportion of TreehouseÕs net
assetsare reported as either temporaril y restricted or permanentl y restricted. This indicates that a
good amount of TreehouseÕs overall spending is for donor -dir ected programs. Taken together , the
findings suggestTreehouseis in a strong financial position, has good balance across its curr ent and
long-term assets,and does not have long-term liabilities. At the same time, it does not have full
autonom y over its financial r esources.
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Governments prepare government -wide financial statements that are similar to the basic financial
statements for a non-pr ofit or for-pr ofit entity . These government -wide statements answer some of
the key questions taxpayers ask about their government:

¥ Has its overall financial position impr oved or deteriorated?

¥ How much has it in vested in its infrastructur e and other capital assets?

¥ Were its curr ent year revenues sufficient to pay cover full cost of curr ent year services?

¥ How much does it depend on user fees and other exchange-lik e revenues compared to general
tax revenues?

¥ How does its financial position compar e to other, similar governments?

To illustrate, letÕs look at the financial statements for the City of Overland Park, KS. Overland Park
(OP) is a large suburban community just west of Kansas City , M O. In 2015 its population was just
under 188,000.
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LetÕs start with OPÕs government -wide balance sheet, kno wn formall y as the Statement of Net
Position. It shows OPÕs balances for its assets,liabilities, and other accounts on the final day of its
fiscal year, December 31. This statement includes separatepresentations for governmentalactivitiesand
business-typeactivities. Governmental activities are supported by taxesand other non-exchangerevenues.
Business-type activities, or proprietary activities, are supported by exchange-like revenues, or feesthe
government charges for goods and services it delivers. For local governments, government -owned
utilities, recreational facilities, golf courses, and other enterprises are almost always considered
business-type activities. For state governments, business-type activities usually include programs lik e
work ers compensation/ unemployment funds, state lotteries, univ ersity tuition assistanceprograms,
priv ate corrections facilities, and man y other activities.

On the assetside, we seemany of the sameassetswe saw at Treehouse.OP has cash, investments,
and accounts receivable. Lik e a non-pr ofit, curr ent assetsare assetsit expects to collect within the
fiscal year. The same applies to the liabilities side. OP has accounts payable, unearned revenue,
accrued expenses, and other items weÕd see at a non-profit or f or-pr ofit entity .
But there are several important diff erences. First, note the tw o new categories of deferrals. A
government records a deferred inflo w of resources when it receives resources as part of a non-
exchange transaction in advance. Pre-paid property taxes are a good example. Imagine a property
owner in OP paid their property taxes for 2016 in July of 2015. OP might be tempted to call this
deferredrevenuebecauseit received payment in advance for services it will deliver next year. However,
that would be incorr ect becauseproperty taxesare a non-exchangerevenue. Taxpayers in OP donÕtpay
property taxes for specific services at specific times; they pay for a variety of services delivered at
various times thr oughout the year. Ther eÕs no real exchange.So in this case,OP would recognize the
taxpayerÕs cashasan asset,but simultaneousl y recognize a deferredinflow of resources. Next year, when
OP delivers the police, fir e,and other services funded by those property taxes,it will reduce cashand
reduce that deferred inflo w.

The inverse is true for deferred outflo ws. Say, for example, that most of OPÕs employeesbelong to
the KansasPublic EmployeesÕRetir ement System. That System sendsOP a bill for $14.86 million to
cover pensions and other costs related to the OP employeesnow in the System. That bill is due on
January 20, 2016. In December 2015 OP closesits books and preparesits financial statements, but its
City Council signs papers acknowledging their commitment to make that $14.86 million shortl y after
the start of the coming fiscal y ear. Those resources are effectively unavailable for the coming y ear.

OP might be tempted to call this accounts payable because it has owes money for a service itÕs
already received. But thatÕs not entir ely true. A state retir ement system is not a service, and even
if it was, it wouldn Õtdeliver that service until the next fiscal year. So instead, OP will book this as
a deferred outflo w of resources,and book a corr esponding incr easein liabilities. By not booking a
liability , and not actually spending the cash, OPÕs FY15 balance sheet looks much stronger. At the
sametime, it hascommitted resourcesto the futur e,and that will impact its operations in the coming
year. By recognizing a deferred outflo w of resources,OP has off ered us a clearer pictur e of how well
the resources it collects each year cover its annual spending needs.
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With the addition of deferrals, we re-write the fundamental equation for the government -wide
financial statements as:
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In the traditional fundamental equation, we use ÒnetassetsÓto identify assetsminus liabilities. When
we add deferrals, the ÒnetassetsÓlabel no longer captureseverything on the right side of the equation,
but Ònet positionÓ does.

Going back to O PÕs assets, we see itemsthat w eÕd only see on a governmentÕs financial statements.

¥ Taxes Receivable. Taxes, usually property tax es, that OP is owed for 2015 and expects to receive
early in 2015.

¥ Special Assessments.Recall special assessments are taxes, usually property tax es, levied on
specific parcels of property or gr oups of properties. Special assessments are reported
separately fr om general property tax es because they are used to fund specific assets like
sidewalks and street lighting, and specific services lik e economic development.

¥ Due from Other Governments. Local governments r outinel y partner with other local
governments. These inter-local agreementsor cross-jurisdictional sharingarrangements are
common in ar eas like emergency management, police and fire response, and public health,
among many other service areas. If those agreements requir e one government to pa y another
government, those payments appear as Òdue to other governments.Ó

Lik e with most governments, the majority of OPÕs liabilities are long-term liabilities. State and
local governments finance most of their infrastructur e impr ovements with long-term bonds (either
general obligation bonds or revenue bonds), usually paid off over a 20 up to 30 year period. When a
government issuesbonds it recognizesa long-term liability , and the borr owed cashasan asset.Cities,
counties, and school districts rarely go bankrupt or ceaseoperations, so investors are willing to invest
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in them for such long periods of time. This is quite diff erent fr om non-pr ofits or for-pr ofits, where
the going concernquestion is not al ways so clear.

Net position and its components are also a uniquel y governmental reporting feature. Here OP is
similar to other states and local go vernments.

¥ Net Investment in Capital Assetsis the value of OPÕs infrastructur e assets (net of depr eciation )
minus the money it o wes on the bonds that financed those assets. All capital assets are
reported in this component of net assets, even if ther e are legal or other r estriction on ho w the
government is to use them f or service deliv ery.

¥ Governments r estrict portions of their net position f or many purposes. Restricted net positionis
virtuall y the same as restricted net assets for a non-pr ofit. A ccording to go vernmental G AAP,
a portion of net position is r estricted if: 1) an external body , like bondholders or the state
legislatur e, can enforce that restriction, or 2) the go verning body passes a law or other action
that imposes that r estriction. F or most state and local governments, the largest and most
important portion of r estricted net position is restricted for debt service. In 2001 OP created a
non-pr ofit organization called the Overland Park Development Corporation ( OPDC). OP
includes OPDC in its financial statements as a component unit(see below). Shortly after its
creation OPDC financed, constructed, and no w owns a Sheraton Hotel thatÕs designed to
bolster local con vention business. OP agreed to levy a small tax on hotel rooms and car rentals
within the city Ð a Òtransient guest taxÓ Ð to pay the debt service on the bonds OPDC used to
finance that hotel. Almost all of O PÕs restricted net position is r elated to that debt service and
to capital spending r equir ed to maintain the hotel.

¥ A governmentÕs unrestricted net positionis akin to a non-pr ofitÕs unrestricted net assets. These
are net assets available for spending in the coming fiscal y ear.
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The Income Statement is designed to tell us if an organization Õs programs and services cover their
costs? In other words, is this organization profitable?

ItÕs organized by revenuesand expenses. In GAAP, revenue is defined aswhat an organization earns
for delivering services or selling goods. Expenses are the are the cost of doing business. Whenever
possible, think of expenses in terms of the revenues they help to generate. For non-pr ofit
organizations this relationship is sometimes clear, and sometimes not. For example, imagine that
a non-pr ofit conservation organization operates guided backpacking trips. Participants pay a small
fee to participate in those trips. To run those trips the organization will incur expenseslik e wages
paid to the trip guides, supplies, state permitting fees,and so forth. These are expensesincurr ed in
the course of producing backpacking tour revenue. Here that relationship between revenues and
expenses is clear.

This sameorganization might sell coffeemugs, water bottles, and other merchandise, and then use
those revenuesto support itÕs conservation mission. The expensesto produce those mugs are kno wn
as costof goodssold. Here again, the revenue-expense relationship is clear. When that link is clear, we
can determine if a program/ service/ product is profitable. That is, does the revenue it generatesexceed
the expenses it uses up? In for-pr ofit organizations, profitability and accountability are virtuall y
synonymous.

But for public organizations profitability has little to do with accountability . For instance, our
conservation non-pr ofit might accept donations fr om individuals in support of its conservation
work. Which expenses were necessary to ÒproduceÓthose revenues? The development dir ectorÕs
salary? The administratorÕs travel expenses to go visit a key donor? The expenses fr om a recent
marketing campaign? Here the revenue-expense link is less clear. Same for in-kind contributions
(i.e. donated goods and services) the organization receives in support of its mission. This link is even
murkier for governments, where taxpayers pay income, property , and salestaxes,but those taxeshave
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no dir ect link to the expensesthe government incurs to deliver police, fir e, parks, public health, and
other services.

To put this in the language of accounting, public organizations have a mix of exchange-like
transactions, such as the backpacking trips and coffee mugs, and many mor e non-exchange-
like activities lik e conservation programs and public safety functions that are just as, if not mor e
central, to their mission as their exchange-lik e activities. ThatÕs why profitability is one of many
criteria w e need to apply when thinking about the finances of a public organization.
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That said, the main point of emphasis on the income statement is the relationship between revenues
and expenses.As mentioned, net assetsare a good indication of that relationship. If revenuesincr ease
faster than expenses,then net assetsincr ease.If expensesincr easefaster than revenues,net assetswill
decrease.The income statement can help illuminate several follo w-up questions to understand an
organization Õs revenues-expenses relationship at some detail:

1. How much did net assets increase since last year? How much of that incr ease was in
unr estricted net assets? How much w as in restricted net assets? Growth in unr estricted net
assets generally indicates that the organization Õs core programs and services are profitable.
Growth in r estricted net assets can mean many other things.

2. What portion of r evenue is from earned incomevs. revenue from contributions? Earned
revenue, or revenue generated when the organization sells goods or services, is attractiv e
because managers have direct contr ol of expenses needed to generate income.
Contributions ar e less predictable and less directly manageable, but do not have an
immediate offsetting expense.

3. What percentage of earned revenue is from the organization Õs core programs and services?
What percentage is from other activities and other lines of business? I tÕs common for non-
core programs and services to subsidize core programs and services, but is that the right
policy f or this organization to pursue its mission?

4. To what extent does this organization r ely on in-kind contributions? In vestment income?
In-kind contributions Ð such as legal services pr ovided to the organization f or fr ee by a
donor Ð and in vestment income make up a smaller portion of o verall r evenues but often
allow the organization r eport a positiv e change in net assets.
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To illustrate, letÕs examine TreehouseÕs FY2015 Income Statement (i.e. Statement of Activities ).
TreehouseÕs FY2015 Income Statement reports the four most common types of revenues:
contributions and grants, in-kind contributions (i.e. donated goods and services), contract revenue,
and ÒotherÓ revenues. The Income Statement reports revenues by restrictions Ð i.e., unr estricted,
temporaril y restricted, and permanentl y restricted. It also reports revenues,expenses,and change for
FY 2014.

For FY 2015, Treehouse reported $10,625,911 in revenues. Of that, $7,484,460 was fr om
contributions and grants, $1,879,833 fr om in-kind contributions, $1,261,618 fr om contracted
revenue and $1,396,194 releasedfr om restrictions. Net assetsreleasedfr om restrictions identifies
restricted net assetsthat became unr estricted once the conditions defining the restriction has been
met. For example, if a non-pr ofit receives a grant that is temporaril y restricted to the provision of
specific services to a specific group of beneficiaries, and it delivers those services, it will then convert
those temporaril y restricted net assets to unr estricted net assets.On the Statement of Activities
that conversion will appear as a reduction of temporaril y restricted net assetsand an incr easein
unr estricted net assets.These releasesdo not indicate new revenues, but rather a re-classification
across the different types of net asset restrictions.

In reviewing financial statements, we want to take note of important tr ends. In the case of
Treehouse, there was substantial growth in Contributions and Grants Ñ up fr om $6,337,712 in
FY2014, a more than 18% increase.
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Turning to the expense part of the Statement, we see that expenses for program services (i.e.
services for foster childr en, consistent with TreehouseÕs mission) were $7,447,627 in FY2015, nearly
80% of total expenses.Total expensesgrew by 14.5% fr om FY2014 to FY2015, a growth rate that is
lower than the rate of r evenue growth.

The expenses part also highlights how investment income affected the change in net assets.In
FY2015 TreehouseÕs investments lost value, and reduced net assetsby $175,756. This is a substantial
change from FY2014, where those same investments added $477,175 to net assets.

Change in net assetsis, as mentioned before, the focal point for the Statement of Activities. To
seethe change in net assetswe compare across the ÒChangein Net AssetsÓrow. We seeTreehouseÕs
total net assetsgrew fr om by $1,057,657, an incr easeof almost nine percent. M uch of that incr easeis
attributable to gr owth in both contributions and grants and in-kind contributions.
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A governmentÕs Statement of Activities presentsmuch of the sameinf ormation we seeon the income
statement for a for-pr ofit or non-pr ofit. It lists a governmentÕs revenues and expenses or
expenditur es, and the diff erence between them. It reports the change in net assetsand off ers some
explanation for why that change happened. Lik e an income statement, it tells us where the
governmentÕs money came from, where it went, and whether its cor e activities pay for themselves.

That said, the Statement of Activities is also quite diff erent fr om a traditional income
statement. Expensesin the upper left, are presented by major function or program, with the
governmentalactivities presented separately fr om the business-type activities. Governmental activities
and business-type activities together comprise the primary government. Next to expenses youÕll
occasionally see (although not with OP) indir ect expenses the government has allocated to each
activity ( mor e on this in Chapter 4).
Program revenueincludes tw o types of revenues. One is fees dir ectly link ed to these functions and
programs for Òexchange-lik eÓtransactions. OP reported $4.25 million in charges for services for
Planning and Development Services. M ost of that was building permit fees.As another example, it
reported $7.5 million in chargesfor Servicesfor Public Safety, and that wasmostl y parking tick et and
speeding ticket revenue. And so forth.

The other type of program revenue is grants and contributions, which are broken out by operating
grants and contributions, and capital grants and contributions. Theseare usually revenuesfr om other
governments. For instance,in 2015 OP received $3.1 million in Public Safety operating grants. M ost
of that was payments for fir e protection services OP delivers to neighboring jurisdictions that lack
a full -service fir e department. It also received a $34.7 million capital grant fr om the State of KansasÕ
clean water revolving fund for upgrades to its storm water infrastructur e.That money wasrecorded as
a capital grant to Public Works. These are just a few examples of program revenuesthat governments
are likely to r eport.

Beneath the total expenses and program revenues for business-type activities, we see totals for
the primary government. The primary government is the governmental activities and business-type
activities combined. It does not include the governmentÕs component units (seebelow). The primary
government plus any componentunits comprise the governmentÕs reportingentity or the total scope of
financial operations co vered by its financial statements. O P does not report any component units.
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Shifting to the right, we see a group of columns with the heading ÒNet (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position.ÓThe totals listed here are total program revenuesminus total expenses.OP
lists a deficit in public safety of $46,116,847. This number is its charges for services plus operating
grants and contributions plus capital grants and contributions minus expenses,or (($74,58,653 +
$3,149,365 + $86,442) Ð $56,811,306) = -$46,116,847. This reporting structur e is called the net cost
format. It nets program r evenues from pr ogram costs (i.e. program expenses).
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This deficit tells us that, not surprisingl y, OPÕs public safety services do not pay for themselves.Put
diff erently, in 2015 OP had to finance $46 million for public safety using general revenues. We see
similar deficits across all of OPÕs governmental activities. None of these services are profitable, and
the total ÒdeficitÓ across all governmental activities w as $125,846,359.

Should OPÕs leaders be concerned that their core services are hemorrhaging money? Not really.
We donÕtwant basic local government services lik e public safety, planning, and zoning to pay for
themselves becausethereÕs not a clear link between the users and the beneficiaries of these services.
OP exacts fines on people who break the law when they park illegall y or speed on city streets, but
those feesare designed to deter those behaviors. Perpetrators who pay these fines really donÕtreceive
a service, and aswe saw in Ferguson, M O and elsewhere,bad things happen to local governments that
try to turn fines into a viable r evenue source.

But that leavesopen an important question. Citizens who follo w the law and want public safety to
keep their community safe are the real beneficiaries of public safety services. How do they help to
fund public saf ety?

To answer that question skip down to the lower right corner of the statement. Here we seea list
of General Revenues lik e property taxes, sales taxes, and others. General revenues are not dir ectly
connected to a specific activity . When we add up these general revenuesand take away any transfers
of general revenues to other parts of OPÕs government, the ÒTotal general revenue and transfersÓis
$140,463,295. Compar e that figur e to the $125,846,359 ÒdeficitÓ for the governmental activities, and
weÕre left with an incr easein net assetsfor the governmental activities of $14,616,936. In other words,
OPÕs general revenuescover the governmental activities expensesnot covered by program revenues,
plus almost $15 million mor e. To put this a bit diff erently, OPÕs core services generate about one-
thir d of the revenues they need to cover their costs. The remaining tw o-thir ds comes fr om general
revenues.This relationship between expenses,program revenues,and general revenues is one of the
most important things to observ e on a governmentÕs activity statement .

For the business-type activities, this expenses-program revenues link is much clearer. Recall
business-type activities are designed to pay for themselves thr ough charges and services. For OP,
we seethat the Golf Course had net positiv e revenue of $559,332 and the Soccer Comp lex had net
positiv e revenue of $148,449. As expected, these activities were profitable. They generated mor e
revenue than expenses.But that wasnot true for OPDC. It ran a net deficit of mor e than $3.6 million.
Lik e with the governmental activities, this deficit w as covered by general revenues.

Business-type activities present many diff erent challenging strategic and policy questions. How
profitable is too profitable? Should business-type activities be profitable enough to subsidize the
governmental activities? If a business-type activity lik e a golf course is not profitable, does it off er
enough indir ect benefits in areas lik e economic development and tourism to justify that lack of
profitability ?With a careful look at the Statement of Activities, you can begin to put numbers to these
and other questions.
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The Cash Flow Statement is just asthe title suggests.It tells us how an organization receivesand uses
cash.

It might seemstrange to devote an entir e financial statement to a specific asset.But cash is not just
any asset.Cash is king. For small organizations, especially small non-pr ofits, itÕs possible to run out
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of cash. If that happens, nothing about that organization Õs mission, clients, or impact on society will
matter . Its employees,vendors, and creditors wonÕttake compelling mission statement as a form of
payment. If youÕre out of cash,youÕre out of business.To that end, the Cash Flow Statement is quite
useful if we want to answer a few key questions about how a public organization receives and uses
cash:

1. Do this organization Õs core operations generate mor e cash than they use? If not, why not?
2. Does this organization depend on cash flo w fr om in vesting activities and financing

activities to support the cash flo w needs of its basic operations? How pr edictable are are
cash flows from in vesting and financing activities?

3. How much of this organization Õs cash is tied up in transactions it cannot dir ectly contr ol,
such as receivables and payables?

4. How much of this organizationsÕ cash flow is related to sales of goods and inventory ? How
predictable are those sales?

From the cashflo w statement we can learn a lot about the specific waysan organization generatesand
usescash.The statement breaks cash flo ws into thr eecategories: operations, investing activities, and
financing activities. E uphemisticall y, we call this ÒOIFÓ (pronounced Òoy-fÓ):

1. Cash Flow from Operations.This is how the organization r eceives cash and uses cash for its
core activities. N egative cash flow fr om operations indicates the organization Õs basic
operations use more cash than they produce. Without positiv e cash flow fr om other
sources, this is not sustainable.

2. Cash Flow from Investing Activities.In this case investing includes in vestments in financial
instruments lik e stocks and bonds, and investments in capital assets like buildings. For most
non-pr ofits this section is f ocused on cash earned from in vestments. If those investments
produced mor e cash than what was spent acquire them, then they produce positive cash flow.
Purchases of buildings and equipment are acash outflow, and if the organization sells any
buildings or equipment the r eceipts from those sales also appear here as a cash inflow. In
general, we expect positive cash flow fr om in vesting activities. I tÕs important, ho wever, to
kno w the origins of that positiv e cash flow. If the organization sold a building, that might
produce positiv e cash flow, but at the expense of its ability to deliv er services in the futur e.
It might see negative cash flow fr om in vesting activities if, f or instance, it mo ves idle cash
into short -term in vestments.

3. Cash Flow from Financing Activities. Financing activities ar e cash the organization borr ows to
finance its operations. M ost of the activity in this section has to do with borr owed money.
For-pr ofit entities use this section of the cash flo w statement to show how selling stock
produces a cash inflow. For non-pr ofits and governments, the cash inflow fr om issuing
bonds or fr om taking out a loan will appear her e. For non-pr ofits with an endowmentor
other permanently restricted net assetsthat pr oduce unrestricted in vestment income that cash
flo w will also appear her e.

Lik e with the balance sheet and the income statement, net assets are a key part of most public
organizationsÕcash flo w statement, especially Cash Flows From Operations. It might seem strange
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that net assetsare the point of departur e for a statement about cash,but it makessenseif weÕre willing
to make a few assumptions. Recall that the most common way for net assetsto incr easeis for revenues
to exceed expenses.To understand the cash flo w statement take this idea a step further . Assume that
a public organization Õs total cashwill incr easeduring a fiscal period if the cash inflo ws fr om its main
operating revenues exceeds the cash it pays out to cover its main operating expenses.The ÒCash
Flow fr om OperationsÓpart of the cash flo w statement is basedon precisely this idea. It starts with
the assumption that an organization Õs change in net assetsis a good indicator of its cash flo ws fr om
operations.

M ost sizable public organizations follo w this concept and report their cash flo ws fr om
operations using the indir ectmethod. This method starts with the change in net assets,assuming that
change is the result of cash flo ws fr om operations. But of course, not all changesin net assetsare the
result of positiv e or negative cashflo w. As youÕllseelater in this chapter, many diff erent transactions
and accounting procedures can affect revenues or expenseswithout affecting cash flo w. A typical
example is depreciation. Depreciation is when an organization ÒusesupÓsome portion of an assetin
the processof delivering services. The portion of that assetÕs value that is used up is recorded as a
depreciation expense.Lik e all expenses,depreciation reducesnet assets.But at the same time, there
is no cash flo w associated with depreciation. You wonÕtfind any checks written to an entity called
ÒDepreciation.ÓThe sameis true for changesin the value of an organization Õs investments. Its stocks,
bonds, and other investments can incr easein value, but unless it sells those investments that incr ease
in value wonÕtproduce any positiv e cash flo w. Depreciation and changesin the value of investments
are both examples of reconciliations. These are transactions that affect net assetsbut do not involve a
cash flow.

In FY15 Treehouseproduced its Statement of Cash Flows according to the indir ect method. In the
second column of the statement you can seethat its net assetsincr easedby $1,057,657 fr om the start
of FY2015 (October 1, 2014) to the end of FY2015 (September 30, 2015). Skip down to the row ÒNet
cash flo ws fr om operating activitiesÓ and youÕllsee that in FY2015 TreehouseÕs operating activities
resulted in a net cash outflo w of $199,299. In other words, the cash its operating activities used was
almost $200,000 mor e than the cash those activities generated. This begs a natural question: How
could Treehousehave mor e than a million dollars of new net assetseven though its basic operations
lost $200,000 of cash?This seemsinconsistent with the idea that growth in net assetswill corr elate
with gr owth in cash holdings.

To answer this question look at the reconciliations in the thir d/ fourth row (i.e. ÒAdjustments to
reconcile change in net assetsto net cash flo ws fr om operating activitiesÓ).Recall that the figur es
in this part of the statement are reconciliations, so we interpr et them inversely. Activity that would
otherwise decrease net assets is shown here as an incr ease because weÕre Òadding backÓthose
decreasesto arriv eat net cashflo ws fr om operations. Activity that would otherwise incr easenet assets
is shown as a reduction (in parentheses) becauseweÕre ÒbackingoutÓthose incr easesto arriv e at net
cash flows from operations.

Treehousereported several reconciliations in FY2015, but a few of the larger ones deserve special
attention. We see that TreehouseÕs net assets incr eased because it received $163,767 of donated
investments and $600,265 of donated computer equipment. These tw o transactions alone incr eased
net assets by $764,032, but did not produce any positiv e cash flo w. Computer equipment is
equipment, not cash.Investments incr easethe assetcalled investments, but do not immediatel y result

61 | The Basic F inan cial Stat em ents
%(- -"( + 231 3$&8 %.1 /4!+(" , - &$12 ��



in a cash flo w. So we can seehow net assetscan incr easesubstantiall y without any change in cash
flo w. The opposite is true for depreciation and an unrealizedlosson investments (i.e. when the market
value of an investment is less than the book value, also kno wn as a ÒpaperlossÒ;the opposite is also
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true for unrealizedgainsor ÒpapergainsÓon investments). These reconciliations decreasednet assetsby
$198,775 and $271,087 respectively, so here they are added back to total net assets.

Below the reconciliations youÕllseeÒChangein Operating Assetsand Liabilities. ÓThe figur es listed
here are also reconciliations, this time to reconcile changesin assetsand liabilities that do involve cash
to changes in net assets.

The key here is weÕre focused on assetsand liabilities driv en by cashflo ws.So to make senseof the
Change in Operating Assetsand Liabilities section, first think about how typical assetsand liabilities
interact with cash. M ost assetswill incr easeif cash decreases.If we pur chase inventory with cash,
for instance, inventory will incr easeand cash will decrease.It follo ws that decreasing an assetwill
almost always bring about an incr easein cash.For example, if we sell marketable securities or collect
on accounts receivable, those assetswill decrease,but cashwill incr ease.When liabilities lik e loans or
a mortgage incr ease,so does cash (otherwise, most incr easesin liabilities donÕtcorr espond to a cash
flo w). When we pay down an account payable or a loan payable, cash decreases.

Now, recall that with the indir ect method, the goal is to arriv e at cash flo ws fr om operations by
adjusting changesin net assets.To that end, we need to undo the effectsof theseasset/liability changes
on net assets,this time focusing on how cash flo ws affect those specific types of assetsand liabilities.
The table below lays out how these reconciliations w ork.
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To illustrate these mechanics letÕs return to TreehouseÕs cash flo w statement for FY15. First look at
the ÒChangein Operating Assetsand LiabilitiesÓ section and focus on the reconciliation for inventory .
We kno w that an incr easein inventory will corr espond to decreaseof cash,and vice versa.Look at the
table above to seehow that translates into a reconciliation. If inventory incr eased,we would reconcile
by reducing net assets.ThatÕs becausethat inventory incr easewould produce a cashoutflo w. We want
our reconciled net assetsfigur e to reflect that cashoutflo w, so we reduce it. The opposite is also true.
If inventory decreased,weÕd seea cashinflo w, so weÕd want to reconcile by incr easingnet assets.WeÕd
want the reconciled net assetsfigur e to show that reducing inventory produced new cash flo w fr om
operations. That makessense,given that reductions of inventory usually associatewith salesof goods,
and those sales will increase cash.

For Treehouse,weseea reconciliation for inventory of $56,402. Since the reconciliation is asking us
to incr easenet assets,we can assumethis means inventory decreased.ThatÕs evident in the Statement
of Net Position. Again, if inventory decreased,then cash incr eased,so we want our reconciled net
assetsto be larger asa result. ThatÕs why TreehouseÒadded backÓthis inventory reconciliation. Recall
that a big part of TreehouseÕs mission is operating a thrift store for childr en in foster care. This
inventory r econciliation is lik ely because it sold a particular product to a customer in its stor e.

Consider another example: pledgesreceivable. Here we seea reconciliation that reducesnet assets
by $343,500. Returning to the table, we seethat a reduction in net assetsmeans that assetincr eased.
Practicall y speaking, this means Treehouse incr easedits pledges receivable. ThatÕs generally a good
thing, but it did not produce a cash inflo w. In fact, you can think of incr easesof receivables as
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transactions that ÒtieupÓoperating cash. Treehouse wonÕthave accessto that cash until its donors
make good on their pledges.So in terms of day-to-da y operations, receivablesdonÕtreally ÒproduceÓ
cashfr om operations. So Treehousetook that $343,500 out of net assets.Note that all of TreehouseÕs
receivablesincr easedthr oughout FY15. Treehousehasbrought in lots of new receivables,but until its
collects those receivableswe canÕt consider them cash flow fr om operations.

Turning to the liability side, we seea reconciliation for accounts payable of $11,922. In the table
above we see that an incr ease of a liability requir es a reconciliation that incr easesnet assets. If
Treehouseincr easedits accounts payable, that means it pur chasedsomething it would otherwise have
pur chased with cash. By acquiring goods it needs to operate, but acquiring those goods without a
cashoutflo w, TreehousehasÒsavedÓcashfor other parts of its operations. Although it seemscounter -
intuitiv e, on the cash flo w statement we consider this a cash inflo w fr om operations. Why? Because
by committing to a futur e cash outflo w, Treehousehas Òfreed upÓcash it can use today. ThatÕs why
incr easing a liability leads to a reconciliation that adds back to net assets.

Of course, this canÕtgo on forever. At some point Treehousewill need to pay off those payables.
When they do that liability will decrease,but so will cash.ThatÕs why when liabilities decrease,we see
a reconciliation that also decr eases net assets.

As mentioned, most organizations prepare their cash flo w statement according to the indir ect
method. ItÕs convenient, and it can be prepared using inf ormation that most organizations have
readily available. Even if they donÕtcarefull y track their cash flo w, they do carefull y track changes
in assets,liabilities, and net assets.As youÕve seen, those changes are the basis for the cash flo w

statement prepared with the indir ect method. However, asyouÕve also seen,the indir ect method does

not pr oduce a clear illustration of exactl y how cash moves through the organization.

Less complex organizations are able to address this problem by reporting their cash flo w fr om
operations using the direct method. Here the organization Òdir ectlyÓreports the actual cash flo ws.
Instead of deriving those cash flo ws fr om changesin net assets,it reports the diff erence between its
total cashinflo wsand outflo ws fr om diff erent parts of its operations. Those parts are usually reported
in discrete, useful categories lik e ÒCashReceived fr om Donors,ÓÒCashReceived fr om Clients,ÓÒCash
Paid to Emp loyees,Ó or ÒCash Paid for Supplies.Ó

The dir ect method is simple and intuitiv e. So why donÕtmor e organization Õs use it? Simp ly put,
most large organizations have thousands or even millions of transactions thr oughout their fiscal
year. They use cash in so many diff erent ways itÕs not feasible add up all of their cash inflo ws and
all of their cash outflo ws. So as counter -intuitiv e as the indir ect method might seem, itÕs the only
feasiblemethod.

Cash Flows fr om Investing Activities and Cash Flows fr om Financing Activities sections are mor e
intuitiv e, and are the same for both the dir ect and indir ect method. Here we interpr et the figur es
dir ectly. No reconciliations or conversions. An incr easemeans cash incr eased,and a decreasemeans
cash decreased.

Returning to Treehouse,we seethat in FY2015 it pur chased$1,488,331 of investments with cash.
We also seethat it sold some investments,and those salesincr easedcashby $1,298,318. In Cash Flows
fr om Financing Activities we seea cash inflo w of $62,412. Recall that for non-pr ofits, the proceeds
fr om endowments and other permanentl y restricted net assets are reported as financing activities.

We can draw tw o immediate and important conclusions fr om TreehouseÕs cash flo w statement
overall. First, we seethat in FY2015 its operations used mor e cash than they produced. We also see
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that overall cashalso decreasedby $339,940. This is notew orth y becauseitÕs a big change fr om FY14,
when cash flo w fr om operations and overall cash flo w were both positiv e by mor e than one million
dollars. Normall y weÕd think such a big change in cash flo w might have to do with big incr easesin
capital items or investments,but thatÕsnot the casehere.Cash flo ws related to investments and capital
items had essentially the sameeffect on cashflo ws in both FY14 and FY15. In fact, the main diff erence
is the ÒCy pres award receivableÓin FY14. We seea reconciliation that added back $750,000 to net
assets.Practicall y speaking, this means Treehousecollected on a large receivable in FY14 that did not
appear in FY15. This raises a natural question: Was FY14 an outlier year with respect to receivables
and cash flo w? If it was, then an important second conclusion is that TreehouseÕs basic operations
donÕtproduce as much positiv e cash flo w as the ÒNet cash flo ws fr om operating activitiesÓ line on
the cash flo w statement suggests. In turn, Treehousedepends to some degree on positiv e cash flo w
fr om investing and financing activities. ThatÕs not a weakness,per se,but it doeschangehow we think
about TreehouseÕs operational and financial strategy .
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One of the central questions in non-pr ofit financial management is: How well does this organization
accomplish its mission? From a financial standpoint, one way to answer this question is to determine
how much of the organization Õs expenses are related to its core, mission-r elated services. In the
languageof accounting, this distinction is programservicesvs.supportservices(i.e.administrativeservices).
According to paragraph 28 of FASB Statement 117, program services are Òactivities that result in
goods and services being distributed to beneficiaries, customers, or members that fulfill the purposes
or mission for which the organization exists.ÓSupport services are everything else: fundraising,
communications, management, administrativ e support, and other activities necessary to deliver
program services.

Donors want to support a non-pr ofitÕs main goals. They want to kno w their contribution impr oved
a childÕs education, fed hungry people, advanced scientific research, or advanced whatever
objectiv esare outlined in that organization Õs mission. They are less inter ested in funding rent,
insurance, professional memberships, administratorÕs salaries (gasp!),or other support services. To
be clear, support services are essential. TheyÕre just not sexy. ThatÕs why one of the most closely-
watched numbers in non-pr ofit financial management is the program expense ratio, computed as
total program service expenses/total expenses. M any donors look for organizations with
comparativ ely high program expense ratios, and many non-pr ofit leaders work hard to minimize
their support service expenses for that same reason.

In fact, the program services vs. support services distinction is so important that GAAP for non-
profits calls for a fourth basic statement to illustrate it. This statement is called the Statement of
Functional Expenses. It shows three basic categories of expenses:

1. Progr am. Many non-pr ofits r eport their pr ogram expenses separately for each of their
major mission or pr ogram areas.

2. M anagement and Gener al. This is principall y salaries and benefits for administrators,
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technical support services lik e accounting, and reconciliation expenses in ar eas like
depreciation.

3. Fundr aising . Includes expenses related to fund raising and special events, identifying and
contacting donors, and other expenses associated with soliciting and generating
contributions.

LetÕs return to Treehouse and examine its Statement of Functional Expenses. Treehouse reports
expensesfor each of its main programs in the first thr ee columns fr om the left. Education programs
are by far the largest spending area. In FY 2015 they comprised 46% of the organization Õs total
expenses.The previously-mentioned ÒWearhouseÓprogram was20%of total spending, and all ÒotherÓ
programs were 14%.Total expensesin all program services in 2015 were $7,447,627, or 80% of total
spending. In other words, the program service ratio is 80%.To put it one mor e way, 80 cents of every
dollar Treehousespends is for services provided dir ectly to foster childr en. As youÕllseein the next
chapter, 80% is a commonly-observed program service ratio.

One appealing feature of the Statement of Functional Expenses is that the expensecategories are
intuitiv e. Items lik e payroll, occupancy (i.e. expensesrelated to maintaining buildings ), licenses and
fees, transportation, etc. are self-explanatory .

Lik e many other human services-focused non-pr ofits, most of TreehouseÕs spending on support
services is for fundraising, and most of its spending on support services overall is for payroll. The
same applies to spending on the education programs. All these functions are labor-intensiv e. Also,
note that total spending incr easedby mor e than 14.5%fr om FY2014 to FY2015. M uch of that incr ease
wasin payroll and payroll taxes.This would suggestTreehouseexpanded its service delivery capacity.
However, some of that incr easewasalso due to a big incr easein depreciation expense.That incr ease
may or may not r eflect a qualitativ e change in how Treehouse delivers its services.

%.1 &. 5$1-,$-32 W3'$ %4-# 23 3$,$-32

Recall that in governmental accounting, a fund is a stand-alone, self-balancing set of accounts. Funds
are one of our main toolÕs to assessa governmentÕs fiscalaccountability. That is, did it follo w taxpayersÕ
dir ectiveson how to collect and spend its money?This is a rather diff erent focus fr om the economic
resources focus or a focus on operational accountability that runs thr oughout the government -wide
statements.

Funds are so important that governments prepare an entir ely separate set of fund-based financial
statements. M oreover, those statements are prepared on a diff erent basis of accounting, kno wn
as modified accrual accounting, thatÕs designed to reflect this unique focus on short -term, fiscal
accountability . Here we start with a quick tour of those fund financial statements, and then talk about
how w e recognize diff erent types of financial activity in the modified accrual framew ork.

At the outset we must first recognize yet another small adaptation to the fundamental equation. In
the fund financial statements, we care most about the diff erence between assetsand liabilities within
the fund. To that end, for those fund financial statements w e express the fundamental equation as:
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Fund balance is per haps the most closely-w atched number in all of governmental accounting.
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Taxpayers seem to understand the core idea that if a government is living within its means, then
its assets will slightl y exceed its fund balance, and it will record a small positiv e fund balance.
Policymak ers seem to understand that ending the fiscal year with a fund balance, especially in the
general fund, means thereÕs a bit of money to spend in the next fiscal year. ThatÕs why many fiscal
policy and financial strategy discussions often come back to a simple ÒGoldilocksÓquestion: Is our
general fund balance too large, too small, or just right?

Governments prepare thr eediff erent types of fund financial statements: 1) governmental funds; 2)
proprietary funds; and 3) fiduciary funds. Each type is co vered herein.
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GAAP requir es governments to prepare a balance sheet that shows the assets,liabilities, and fund
balance in every major governmental fund, and also shows the combined assets,liabilities, and fund
balance in non-major funds. OPÕs balance sheet is presented here. It shows fiv e discretely-pr esented
governmental funds. They include the General Fund, which accounts for all of OPÕs general revenues;
thr eespecial revenue funds (One-Eighth Cent SalesTax Str eet Impr ovement, Storm water Utility , and
Str eet Impr ovement), the debt service fund, and the combined non-major funds (presentedasÒOther
Governmental FundsÓ).Recall that the proprietary (i.e. business-type activity ) funds are presented
elsewhere.

OPÕsGeneral Fund has$114.7 million in total assets,mor e than tw o-thir ds of its total governmental
funds assets.The basic distribution of cash and receivables in the general fund is quite similar to
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the distribution we saw earlier in the government -wide Statement of Net Position. OP also has few
General Fund liabilities relative to its General Fund assets.As youÕllseea bit later, most general fund
spending is on salaries and other expense/expenditur e items that do not generate a liability . And lik e
the Statement of Net Position, OP also reports deferred inflo ws related to pre-paid property taxes,
special assessments, and other revenues.

According to GAAP there are fiv e types of fund balance, each corr esponding to the strength of
restrictions on ho w fund balance r esources can be spent:

¥ Non-spendablefund balance is, as the name suggests, not available for spending in the next
fiscal period. Go vernments usually record non-spendable fund balance for items lik e legal
settlements, small trust funds or endo wment funds, or other long -term in vestments where the
corpus of the in vestment must r emain intact. O P did not r eport any non-spendable fund
balance.

¥ Restrictedfund balance is similar to r estricted net assets. It can only be spent for the specific
purposes prescribed in the governmentÕs constitution, enabling legislation, or some
action fr om an external funder . OP is similar to other cities in that it r eports restricted fund
balance in both its special revenue funds and its debt service fund. I tÕs common for bond
holders to r equir e minimum coveragelevels or contingencyfunds. These are financial r eserves
designed to ensure the government will be able to mak e regular payments on its bonds
especially if revenues fall short of expectations.
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¥ Committedfund balance includes amounts that can be used for purposes determined b y a
formal action of the go verning body . State and local legislators will occasionall y commit fund
balance for particular capital pr ojects, for legal settlements or other one-time spending needs,
or f or rainy day fundsor other stabilization fundsdesigned to prevent spending cuts in the
General Fund during an economic do wnturn. O P did not r eport any committed fund balance.

¥ Assignedfund balance is restricted by some action other than a governing body commitment
or other enf orceable restriction. U sually this means restrictions that management p laces on
fund balances without the appr oval of the governing body . OP assigned $30.2 million
of general fund balance for a variety of purposes including back w ages it expected to pay as
part of a new labor contract with its fir efighters, and an ÒinformalÓ rainy day fund that
management maintains internall y.

¥ Unassignedfund balance is the portion of fund balance without an y other r estrictions. In 2015
OP reported unassigned fund balance of $41.2 million. General fund unassigned fund
balance is one of the most closely-w atched indicators of a governmentÕs overall financial
position.

Some readers review the governmental funds balance sheet and ask an intuitiv e question: Do the
fund balances in the governmental funds equal the net assetsin the governmental activities that we
see on the government -wide Statement of Net Position? Fund balance and net assetsare both the
residual that left when we subtract liabilities fr om assets,so shouldnÕtfund balanceequal net position.
The answer is no. Why? Because,these tw o statements are prepared according to diff erent basesof
accounting. Recall that the Statement of Net Position is prepared on the accrual basis, where the
Balance Sheet for the Governmental Funds is prepared on the modified accrual basis. As youÕllsee
below, the modified accrual basiscalls for slightl y diff erent recognition of some key types of financial
transactions. Those diff erences can cause fund balance to diverge substantially fr om net assets.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenditur es, and Changes in Fund Balance is lik e an income or
activity statement for the governmental funds. It lists the revenues,expenditur es,and changesin fund
balancesfor the governmental funds. In this case,changesin fund balance are akin to changesin net
assets.

From OPÕs Statement of Revenues,Expenditur es,and Changesin Fund Balanceswe seethat its tw o
largest overall tax revenue sources are property taxes (just under $37 million total) and sales taxes
($51.9 million ). It also relies on intergo vernmental revenues (almost $29 million total), mainl y in its
street impr ovement fund, and $27.8 million of other general grants and contributions.

An expenditur e is roughly equivalent to an expense, albeit on the modified accrual basis of
accounting (mor e on this below). M ore than half of OPÕs general fund expenditur es are for public
safety. This is typical for mid to large suburban cities. Almost half of OPÕs total governmental funds
expenditur es are in the general fund. The other half is mostl y for debt service and capital spending
in the special revenue and debt service funds. This illustrates one of the key take-aways fr om this
statement: In general, non-capital expenditur es in the general fund are a good proxy for a
governmentÕs Òoperating costs.ÓM ost of its salaries, benefits, and other operational spending will
appear asgeneral fund expenditur es.By contrast, most of the revenuesand expenditur esin the special
revenue and debt service funds will be related to capital spending and debt repayments, neither of
which are considered day-to-da y operations costs.
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At the bottom of this statement, we also seeÒother financing sources.ÓThese are inflo ws and outflo ws
of resources that affect fund balance but do not result in a revenue or expenditur e. Refunding bond
issue,for instance, refers to a restructuring of some of OPÕs existing debt. In 2015 OP borr owed new
money at relatively low-inter est rates to pay off some of its outstanding bonds that were issued with
higher inter est rates in the past. As a result of this refinancing, OP will now pay back $20,685,000
less than it wasscheduled to pay back over time. This new ÒsavingsÓappears asan incr easeto Òother
financing sour ces (uses)Ó in the debt service fund.

The last tw o lines of other financing sources are an important and sometimes contr oversial part
of governmental accounting: inter-fund transfers. Transfers in are movements of resourcesinto a fund
fr om some other fund. Transfers out are movements of resourcesout of a fund into some other fund.
In 2015 OP transferred $15.5 million into its General Fund, and transferred $42.4 million out of
its General Fund. Transfers lik e these are a necessarybecause,as you saw above, the General Fund
finances operations acrossthe entir e government. For that to happen, OPÕs financial staff transferred
a good amount of money out of the general fund. Critics say governments use inter -fund transfers
to perpetuate a financial Òshell-game.ÓBy transferring money in and out of funds at just the right
moment, they argue, finance officials can obscure a governmentÕs actual financial position. How and
when transfers can and should happen are important parts of financial strategy and policy .
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Governments account for their business-type activities Ð or proprietary fundsÐ on the accrual basisof
accounting. As such, GAAP requir es governments to supply a separate presentation of the financial
activity in those proprietary funds. What follo ws is a quick tour of those proprietary fund statements.
At the outset, keep in mind that thesestatements are quite similar to non-pr ofit or for-pr ofit financial
statements given their basis of accounting and their o verall scope of activity .

Governments show their proprietary fund assets, liabilities, and net position in a Combining
Statementof NetPosition. Lik e the Statement of Net Position, here OP hasdrawn a distinction between
major and non-major proprietary funds. ItÕs only major fund, shown in the second column is
the Overland Park Development Corporation (OPDC). OPDC ended 2015 with $64.6 million in
total assetsand $115.8 million in total liabilities. M ost of the assetsare related to OPDCÕs ownership
of the leasing rights to the Sheraton Hotel project, identified here as Òother capital assets,net of
depreciation.ÓM ost of the liabilities Ð mor e than $100 million Ð are connected to the bonds issued to
finance that pr oject.

This statement imp lies that OPDC is highl y leveraged. That is, it owes others far mor e than the
value of its assetstoday. ThatÕs not a problem, so long as the hotel project generates its expected
revenues.The other non-major proprietary funds ended 2015 with total assetsof $5.4 million, and
total liabilities $477,056.
This statement is called the ÒcombiningÓ statement becauseit combines the governmentÕs proprietary
funds with its internal service funds. Internal servicefunds are activities within the government that
serve other parts of the government. OP has four internal service funds. Two are related to employee
Òself-insurance.ÓFor instance, OPÕs city manager, engineers, attorney s, and other professionals need
to hold professional liability insurance to protect them in the event they are sued for malpractice. By
pooling their risk across the entir e city , they are able to pur chaseinsurance at much lower rates than
if they pur chased individual policies. OP also uses this same model to off er work ers compensation
and catastrophic health insurance to its employees.Internal service funds can also include everything
fr om motor pool to inf ormation technology r epair to internal consulting services.

Internal service funds are designed to be self-balancing, so they are also accounted for on the
accrual basisand presentedon the Combining Statement of Net Position. In 2015 OPÕs governmental
activities internal service funds reported total assets of $5.3 million, and total liabilities of $1.9
million.
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Also note that governments can restrict portions of net position in the proprietary funds. OP
has net position restricted for a typical array of needs such as debt service, capital spending, and
compensation claims.
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Governments also produce a Combining Statement of Revenues,Expenses,and Changesin Fund Net
Position for the proprietary funds. This statement is quite similar to an income statement for the
proprietary funds, especiall y given that those funds are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.

In 2015 the OPDC r eported total oper ating r evenue of $23.6 milli on, compar ed to $21.3 milli on
of oper ating expenses. In other wor ds, its basic oper ati ons are pr ofitab le. However, those
oper ati ons do not include the $5.8 milli on in r equir ed debt servi ce. This suggest that, in fact,
OPDC is not generating enough r evenue to cover both its oper ati ons and and its long-term
liabiliti es. OPÕs leadership ought to tak e noti ce. The non -major enterprise funds r eported a
$911,763 operating gain, and the internal servi ce funds r eported a $1.1 milli on l oss.
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WeÕve covered governmental, proprietary , and internal service funds. The final type of fund youÕll
see on a governments financial statements are fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are money that
governments keep but do not contr ol. The vast majority are funds related to employee pensions
and retir ements. Each year a government must deposit money into their employee retir ement plans.
Diff erent plans are managed in quite diff erent ways. Some are managed at the state level and include
members fr om the state government and employees of local governments across the state. Some
governments are Òself-funded,Ómeaning they manage a plan whose members come only fr om their
own government.

Regardlessof how their employeesÕretir ement plans are managed,every government must account
for the money they pay into those plans. They do not contr ol those plans, but they are obligated to
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pay into them and to record their employeesÕportion of those plansÕassetson their own financial
statements. ThatÕs the motiv ation f or fiduciary funds.

At the end of 2015 OP reported $181.3 million in assetsin its employee retir ement plans. M ost of
its employeesbelong to the KansasEmployee Retir ement System (KPERS or ÒKay-PersÓ).Each year
KPERS sends its member employers a listing of all the assetsheld by its members who are curr ently
employed by that employer. That listing is the basis for this Statement of F iduciary N et Position.

According to this statement, $104.6 million of that $181.3 million was held in mutual funds, with
the rest held allocated acrossequities (i.e. stocks), corporate bonds, a real estate investment trust, and
other government bonds. OP does not report any liabilities becauseit has not incurr ed any. All of
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those liabilities residewith KPERS,who owesits members retir ement benefits asthose benefits come
due.

OP also reports $24.3 million of both assets and liabilities in its agency funds. Agency funds
refers assetsheld by OP in a trustee capacity for another entity . It acts in an agencycapacity tw o ways.
One is when it collects feeson behalf of the state government. Specifically, it receives payments for
driv erÕs license reinstatements and for cereal malt beverage tax licenses (a licence requir ed for bars,
grocery stores, and other entities to sell high alcohol content malt beverages). Both these taxes are
collected mor e efficientl y by cities than by the state.At the end of eachyear OP remits theserevenues
to the KansasDepartment of Revenue.OP also acts asan agent on behalf of priv ate developers. When
developers take on large, multi -year projects they sometimes choose to pay their special assessments
and other local feesand taxes in periodic installments. OP collects those installment payments over
time and then remits them to those developers, who then use them to pay their property tax or other
relevant bills.

And finall y, governments also produce a Statementof Changesin Fiduciary Net Position. This statement
is similar to an income statement for the fiduciary funds. Instead of revenues and expenditur es it
identifies additions and deductions to those funds. For OP most of the activity in this statement is
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related to its previously-mentioned KPERScontributions. In 2015 it contributed 6.4 million on behalf
of its employeemembers, and KPERSrequir ed a $5.3 deduction to pay benefits to members who have
retir ed and are now r eceiving benefits.
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On M arch 22, 2014 the side of a hill near the town of Oso, Washington gave out after thr ee days of
relentless rainfall. A massive landslide follo wed, with mud and debris covering mor e than a square
mile. Forty -thr eepeople were killed w hen their homes w ere engulfed by the slide.

In the days that follo wed mor e than 600 personnel participated in search and recovery operations.
They rescuedeight people fr om the mud and evacuated mor e than 100 others to safety. M ost of the
rescue personnel came from the four rural S nohomish County fir e districts that surr ound Oso.

Minutes after hearing of the slide, staff at the Washington State Office of Financial M anagement
(OFM) Ð the governorÕs budget office Ð made tw o critical phone calls. Earlier that week they had
reviewed some data on the financial health of local special districts across the state. They observed
that rural fir e districts in the counties north of greater Seattlewere showing signs of acute fiscal stress.
Those districts had seenhuge growth in property tax collections during the real estate boom of the
2000Õs.But since the real estatecrisis of 2007-2009, those revenueshad fallen precipitousl y. M any of
those districts had laid off staff, cut back on specialized training, and back-filled shifts with volunteer
fir efighters.

Somoments after hearing of the slide, OFM staff called the fir e chiefs at tw o of the most financiall y-
stressedSnohomish County fir e districts. Their messageto those chiefs wassimple: send your people.
OFM agreed to reimburse the districts fr om state or federal emergency management funds if needed.
In turn, personnel fr om tw o of those districts were among the first on the scene,and were responsible
for thr ee of the eight lif e-saving r escues.

A few weeks later the chiefs of both those districts acknowledged that had OFM not called, they
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would not have sent their personnel. Both districts were so financiall y stressedthat they could not
have afforded the overtime wagesand other expensestheyÕd have incurr ed to participate in the rescue
operations.

Financial condition matters. It shapeshow a public organization thinks about its mission and its
capabilities. In the caseof the Oso mudslide, it was the focal point for some lif e-saving decisions.
ThatÕs why all aspiring public servants need to kno w how to evaluate financial statements, and to
measure, manage, and improve their organization Õs financial position.
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Financial position is a public organization Õs ability to accomplish its mission now and in the futur e.
When stakeholders ask Òhow are we doing, financiall y?Óthe answer should reflect that organization Õs
financial position.

An organization Õs financial position has thr ee main components:

1. Li qui dity . Does the organization ha ve liquid r esources Ð especially cash Ð to cover its near-
term liabilities? Can it con vert its less liquid assets to cash to cover those liabilities?

2. Profitability . Do the organization Õs revenues cover its operating expenses?
3. Solvency. Can the organization generate enough r esources to cover its near-term and long -

term liabilities?
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In the previous chapter you learned how to extract inf ormation about an organization Õs financial
position fr om its balance sheet. For example are most of its assetsliquid (e.g.,cash and marketable
securities), or does it have assetsthat are mor e difficult to convert to cash(e.g.,receivables,inventory ,
or pr epaid expenses)?

The balancesheetalso tells us a lot about solvency, namely if the organization hasa lot of long-term
liabilities (e.g., long-term debt or pension obligations ). Long-term liabilities mean the organization
will have to divert some of its resources to meet those liabilities, and that can mean fewer resources
to invest in its mission. To be clear, there are times when an organization can and should take on
long-term liabilities in pursuit of its mission. Sometimes it makessenseto borr ow and invest in a new
facility that allows the organization to effectively serve its clients. Pensions and retir ee health care
benefits are an important employeerecruitment and retention tool, even though they result in a long-
term liability .

To learn about profitability we typicall y look to the income statement. Recall that if an
organization Õs revenues exceed its expenses, then its net assetswill grow. The income statement
makesclear the organization Õs major sourcesof revenues,which revenuesare growing, and whether
those revenues cover program and administrativ e expenses. On the income statement, we can also
seedepreciation, bad debt expenses,and other expensesthat reduce net assetsbut donÕtnecessarily
impact cash. These are all profitability concerns.

While financial ratios can provide us with useful metrics, always start off with a quick review of
the financial statements. Ideally, the financial statements you are working with should report on the
organization Õs operating and financial position for at least tw o financial periods. Keep in mind that
funding agenciesand financial analysts often would need accessto at least four if not fiv e years of
financial data.

What dothefinancial statementstell youabouttheorganizationÕsfinancial position?Operating results?Cash
flows?Review the financial statements and take note of the changesin assets,liabilities, revenuesand
expenses.Carefull y review the notes to the financial statements as they will provide you with mor e
detailed inf ormation regarding the organization Õs financial position. For example, a note related to
fix ed assetswill report fix ed assetsat historical cost, assetssubject to depreciation, any additions or
retir ed assets,annual depreciation expenseas well as accumulated depreciation, and ending balance
as reported in the balance sheet. A note for pledges receivable will report amounts due in one year
(or curr ent portion ), amounts due mor e than one year but less than fiv e years, and amounts due
mor e than fiv e years. The note will also detail bad debt expense and the discount factor used to
find the present value of non-curr ent pledges receivable. A review of the tr ends should inf orm your
interpr etation of the ratios.

A review of the Statement of Financial Position (or Balance Sheet) can be guided by the follo wing
questions:
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¥ Assets: How have the assets changed? What proportion is curr ent? How much is r eported
under cash and cash equivalents? How much is r eported under pr operty p lant and equipment,
net of depr eciation? Were there any new in vestments in property p lant and equipment
(review notes related to fix ed assets)? How much is r eported under in vestments? What
proportion of in vestments is restricted? Have investments changed significantl y and was this
the result of mark et gains and investment income, a capital campaign, or transf ers from cash
(review note on in vestments)? How much mor e or less is the organization r eporting in
receivables/pr epaid expenses? Have changes in current assets had a negative or positiv e
impact on cash flows (also review Cash Flow Statement)?

¥ Liabilities: How have the liabilities changed? What proportion of liabilities is the r esult of
borr owing or financing activities? T o assess long-term sol vency, what proportion of liabilities
are reported as long-term debt obligations? Ar e there any covenants or restrictions associated
with these obligations? To assess short-term sol vency, what proportion of liabilities ar e
curr ent? Of that, how much is in the f orm of a short -term loan or a line of cr edit? Are there
any contingent liabilities r eported in the notes to the financial statements?

¥ Net Assets: What proportion is r eported as unrestricted? Of r estricted net assets, what
proportion is r eported as permanently restricted?

Your r eview of the Income Statement can be guided by similar questions:

¥ Revenues: What are the major sources of revenues? Have there been significant changes in
revenues? Of total revenues, what percent is unrestricted, restricted (i.e., temporaril y versus
permanentl y)? How much of the organization Õs revenue is driven by earned income activities?
Is the organization susceptible to changes in policy or funding priorities of a go vernmental
agency?

¥ Expenses: How much did the organization spend on pr ograms? How much did the
organization spend on administration? F undraising? H ave there been significant changes in
the level of spending? Have personnel costs changed? Are there other fix ed costs that limit
budget flexibility ? How much did the organization r eport in depr eciation and amortization?
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The purpose of accounting is to help organizations make better financial decisions. Financial statement
analysis is the processof analyzing an organization Õsfinancial statements to produce new inf ormation
to inf orm those decisions. Public organizations make dozens of crucial decisions everyday: Should we
expand a program? Should we leaseor buy a new building? Should we move cash into longer-term
investments? Should we take a new grant from a local government?

All of thesedecisions must be inf ormed by financial statement analysis.An organization should not
expand if its existing programs are not profitable. It should buy a new building only if it kno ws how
its curr ent rent and other operating expensescontribute or detract fr om its profitability . It should
move cash into less liquid investments only if it kno ws how much liquid resources it needs to cover
its operating expenses?And so on. To answer these questions with precision, we need good metrics
that illustrate an organization Õs liquidity , profitability , and solvency.

For those metrics, we turn to financial ratios(sometimes called financial statementratios). Financial
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ratios are calculations deriv ed fr om the financial statements. Each ratio illustrates one dimension of
an organization Õs overall financial health.

Analysts who evaluate public organizationsÕ financial statements employ dozens of diff erent
financial ratios. The first table lists a set of liquidity ratios. Liquidity ratios speak to the composition
of an organization Õs assets,and how quickl y those assetscan be deployed to cover the organization Õs
day-to-da y expenses.The numerator in these ratios is a measure of liquid resourcesÑ either curr ent
assetsor a specific type of curr ent asset(cashand cashequivalents, receivablesetc). The denominator
in these ratios is either curr ent liabilities or a measure of average daily cash expenses.For the latter ,
we take total expensesand remove expenseslik e depreciation, amortization, and bad debt expense
that do not requir e an outflo w of liquid resources.This adjusted for spending number is divided by
365 to pr oduce a rough measure of average daily spending.
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Profitability ratios are deriv ed fr om changes in net assets.Recall that net assets incr ease when
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revenues exceed expenditur es. This is an intuitiv e measure of profitability . The operating margin
speaks to profitability in the organization Õs basic (i.e., unr estricted) operations. Net assetgrowth is a
mor e inclusiv e measure of profitability across the entir e organization. Net assetgrowth will include
changes in temporaril y restricted and permanentl y restricted net assetsthat are not included in the
operating margin.

M argin (sometimes called the profit margin ) is the price at which a good or service is sold, minus
the unit cost. Industries lik e retail clothing have extraor dinaril y tight margins, meaning the price
exceedsunit cost by just a percent or tw o. Low margin businessesmust be Òhighvolume,Ómeaning
they must sell a lot of product to be profitable. Professional services lik e accounting, tax consulting,
and equipment leasing are Òhighmargin,Ómeaning the price charged exceeds the unit cost by a lot,
sometimes by orders of magnitude. High margin industries tend to have barriers to entry . They
requir e highl y-trained professionals, expensive equipment, and other significant up-fr ont
investments.

Profitability measuresare lesssalient for governments becausegovernments need not be profitable
to continue operating. Unlik e a non-pr ofit or for-pr ofit, a government can bolster its financial
position by raising taxes or fees.M ost governments donÕthave wide latitude to that effect, but they
have mor e than other organizations. ThatÕs why profitability measures for government are focused
both on growth in net assets,but also on the share of total revenue thatÕsderiv ed fr om revenue sources
the government can contr ol on its o wn, lik e general revenues and capital grants.
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The solvency measures speak to where the organization gets its resources. If it depends too much
on unpr edictable or volatile revenues fr om donors, thatÕs a potential solvency concern. The same is
true of revenues fr om governments. Government revenues can disappear quickl y if the government
changesits own fiscal policies and priorities. Debt, although sometimes necessary, indicates a drain on
futur e resources.All thesefactors can inhibit an organization Õs ability to continue to serve its mission.
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The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) monitors the contributionsratio aspart of its public supporttestfor
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charitable organizations. According to this test, a non-pr ofit must receive at least 10% of its support
fr om contributions fr om the general public and/ or fr om gross receipts fr om activities related to its
tax-exempt purposes. Lessthan that suggeststhe public is not invested in that organization Õs mission.
By contrast, non-pr ofit analystsalso emphasizethe tipping point where a non-pr ofit dependstoo much
on individual donors. Diff erent analysts define the tipping point thr eshold diff erently, but most agree
that 80% of total revenues fr om individual contributions is dangerously high. At that point, a non-
profitÕs ability to serve its mission is far too dependent on unpr edictable individual donors, and not
dependent enough on corporate, f oundation, and go vernment support.

For governments, the solvency ratios are focused entir ely on debt and other long-term obligations.
Governments can borr ow money that wonÕtbe paid back for decades.If careless,a government can
take on too much leverage.ThatÕs why thesesolvency ratios focus on how much money a government
hasborr owed in both its governmental and enterprise funds, and its ability to pay back that debt. The
later is kno wn as coverage. Bond investors, particularl y for public utilities, often stipulate how much
coveragea government must maintain at all times. Coverageratios are usually expressedasoperating
revenues as a percentage of interest expenses.

In addition to financial health, financial statements can illuminate how efficientl y a non-pr ofit
raises money and how much of its resources it devotes to its core mission. These effectiveness
measures are related to, but separate fr om financial position. Fundraising efficiency shows the
financial r eturn a non-pr ofit r ealizes for its in vestments in fundraising capacity .

The program expense ratio is one of the most closely-w atched and contr oversial ratios in non-
profit financial management. It tells us how much of a non-pr ofitÕs total expensesare invested in its
programs and services, rather than administration, fundraising, and other overhead spending. M any
analysts and non-pr ofit monitors r ecommend a program service ratio of at least 80%.
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Before going further letÕs consider a few key points about financial statement ratios:

¥ Ratios are only part of the story.Ratios are useful because they help us quickly and efficientl y

�� %(- -"( + 23 3$,$-3  - + 82(2
Finan cial Str at egy f or Public Mana ger s | 84



focus our attention on the most critical parts of an organization Õs financial position. In that
sense theyÕre are a bit like watching on ESPN the thirty -second highlight r ecap of a football
game (or w hatever sporting ev ent, if any, you find inter esting). If we want to kno w w hich
team won, and who made some big plays, weÕll watch the highlight r eel. If we want to kno w
the full story Ð the coachesÕ overall game plan, which p layers played well thr oughout the game,
when a key mistake changed the course of the game, etc. Ð we need to watch a lot mor e than
just the highlights. Ratios ar e the same way. TheyÕre fast, interesting, and important. If w e
want a quick overview and not much mor e, theyÕre useful. If we donÕt have the time to dig
deeper into an organization Õs operations, or if itÕs not appropriate f or us to dig deeper, then
theyÕre the best tool we have. But theyÕre never the whole story . Always keep this limitation in
mind.

¥ Always interpret ratios in context.Ratios are useful because they help identify tr ends in an
organization Õs financial behavior . Is its profitability impr oving? How has its overall liquidity
changed over time? Are its revenues growing? And so on. But on their o wn, ratios don Õt tell us
anything about tr ends. To reveal a trend, we must put a ratio in context. W e need to compare
it to that same ratio f or that same organization o ver time. For that r eason we often need
multip le years of financial data. ItÕs also essential to put ratios in an industry context.
Sometimes, a broader financial tr end will aff ect many organizations in similar w ays. A decline
in corporate giving will mean lo wer donor r evenues for many non-pr ofits. Incr eases in overall
health care costs will impact all organizationsÕ income statements. Reductions in certain
federal and state grants will aff ect particular types of non-pr ofits in similar w ays. To
understand these trends we need to compare an organizationsÕ financial ratios to the ratios of
organizations in similar industries. I tÕs useful, for instance, to compar e human services-
focused non-pr ofits with less than $2 million in assets to other small, human-service f ocused
non-pr ofits in the same r egion with less than $2 million in assets. W e should compare fee-for-
service revenue-based non-profits to other f ee-for-service revenue-based non-profits to other
fee-for-service revenue-based non-profits. Large non-pr ofits with a national or international
mission should be compar ed to each other. There are clear rules about defining comparable
organizations. The onl y rule is that without context, an anal ysis doesnÕt tell us much.

¥ Financial statement analysis raises questions.A good financial statement anal ysis will almost
always reveal some contradictory tr ends. Why does this organization Õs profitability look
strong but the curr ent ratio is w ell below the rule of thumb? W hy is this organization less
liquid than its peers? W hy does this organization not ha ve debt, and is far more liquid, than
similar organizations? A good financial statement anal ysis raises many of these types granular
questions about the organization Õs financial assumptions, pr ogram operations, and overall
effectiveness. Sometimes these follo w-up questions can be answered from other publicl y-
available inf ormation, such as the notes to the financial statements or the annual r eport.
Sometimes they canÕt. If your analysis concludes with many unanswered questions, that does
not mean your analysis is bad. It simp ly means there are limits to w hat we can learn from
financial statements alone.

¥ Ratios are retrospective.M ost organizations r elease their financial statements thr ee to six
months after the close of their fiscal y ear. Analysis based on those statements is relying on
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inf ormation that is at least 12 to 18 months old. A lot can happen in 18 months. Al ways keep
this in mind w hen doing financial statement anal ysis.
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To seetheseratios in action letÕs return to Treehouse.The table below shows its computations for the
key financial ratios fr om its FY15 financial statements. All the inf ormation for these computations is
taken from TreehouseÕs basic financial statements included in the pr evious chapter.

We can summarize TreehouseÕs financial position asstrong. Each of its ratios are at or better than
their benchmarks. ItÕs profitable, it has a robust and effective fundraising operation that produces
70% of its total revenues,it does not have debt, and it depends minimall y on government revenues.

1

Theseare all markers of a strong financial position. Its contributions ratio suggeststhat going forw ard
it should seek to diversify some of its revenues away fr om donations. Perhaps not surprisingl y, its
program service ratio is .79, almost exactly the .8 rule of thumb.

Treehouse is also quite liquid. Its curr ent ratio suggestsits curr ent assetscould cover its curr ent
liabilities almost 15 times over, and its quick ratio suggestsits most liquid resourcesalone could cover
those liabilities mor e than 11 times over. It also has just above the recommended days of liquid net
assetsand days of cashon hand. So in other words, it doesnot keepa startling amount of cash,but it is
highl y liquid. Nonpr ofits that depend on pledgesoften seeprecisely this dynamic. If an organization
dependson pledgesthen it will in turn book a lot of pledgesreceivable that will roll in thr oughout the
year. Those receivablesare liquid resources,but theyÕre not necessarily cash,thatÕs available to spend.
And since most of TreehouseÕs expensesare for salaries and other near-term spending, it carries few
if any curr ent liabilities. That combination of high receivables and low curr ent liabilities can make
Treehouse look more liquid than it is, especiall y given its modest cash holdings.

3'$ Z3$- /.(-3 3$23[ W - (++4231 3(.-

Thr oughout the past few decades,analysts have developed a popular framew ork to evaluate local
governmentsÕfinancial condition. ItÕs kno wn as the ÒTen Point Test.ÓItÕs comprised of ten key ratios

1. These computations assume Treehouse's "contracts" are contracts with go vernments.
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that, when taken together , summarize a governmentÕs liquidity , profitability , and solvency. In the
Ten Point Test framew ork a government earns ÒpointsÓbasedon how its ratios compare to its peer
governments. If its ratios are consistentl y better than its peers it earns a higher score. If its ratios are
consistentl y worse than its peers, itÕs scores are lower and in some instance negative.

To see the Test at work letÕs return to Overland Park, KS. The table below shows the Ten Point
Test ratios and their computations basedon its FY2015 financial statements. To compute these ratios
yourself r efer back to OPÕs basic financial statements included in the pr evious chapter.

2

2. Ther e are several versions of the Ten Point T est. The version pr esented here is based on the version r ecommended by Dean Mead, Research
M anager at the Governmental A ccounting Standards Board. A few of the ratios have been changed slightly to r eflect the data available to
compute national tr ends. For the original M ead version see Dean Mead, ÒA M anageable System of Economic Condition Anal ysis for
Governments,Ó inPublic Financial Management, ed. Howard Frank (Boca Raton, FL: Taylor and Francis, 2006); pp.383-419.
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OP ratios look good overall. It has plenty of liquidity . Its short -run financial position (i.e. itÕs Òfund
balance ratio Ó)is 29%, well above the rule of thumb. It also has mor e than enough cash to cover its
general fund curr ent liabilities. Its net assetsare growing, only six percent of its operating revenues
are fr om sources it does not contr ol, it has few near-term liabilities

3
, and its Òoperating margin Ó(i.e.

the extent to which it relies on taxes,rather than user chargesto cover its operating expenses) of 0.61
is positiv e.For thesereasonsitÕs no surprise that Overland Park maintains the highest possible ÒAAAÓ
rating fr om tw o major cr edit rating agencies Ð MoodyÕs and Standard & PoorÕs.

Fortunatel y, the Ten Point Test framew ork allows us to go a step further . Instead of asking how OP

3. Note that the near-term liabilities ratio w as first pr esented in Karl N ollenberger (2003), Evaluating Financial Condition: A Handbook for Local
Government(Washington, DC: I CMA Pr ess)
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comparesto generic benchmarks, we have the tools to compare OP to its peer local governments. This
allows us to make much mor e precise statements about OPÕs current and futur e financial position.

Analysts typicall y do these peer comparisons by computing the Ten Point Test ratios for a variety
of local governments, and then assigning point values based on relative rankings. For example, to
compute OPÕs Ten Point test score for FY 2015, refer to the table below. This table shows national
tr ends for these same ratios. These tr ends are based on data fr om the financial statements of 3,721
city governments and 1,282 county governments fr om FY2005-2015.

4
The ratios are presented in

quartiles. Recall that a quartile is a group of percentiles, and a percentile identifies a point in the
distribution of that ratio. The table is organized by population groups. So for instance, for cities
with populations between 100,000 and 250,000 (OPÕs peer group) the 25th percentile for short -run
financial position was8%.That meansone-quarter of OPÕspeer cities had short -run financial position
less than 8%, and thr ee-quarters had short -run financial position equal to or greater 8%. For all the
ratios shown here the first quartile starts at the lowest ratio and endsat the 25th percentile, the second
quartile covers the 25th percentile thr ough the 50th percentile, and the thir d quartile covers the 50th
percentile thr ough the 75th percentile. The fourth quartile includes all observations above the 75th
percentile.

These quartiles are the basis for the Ten Point Test scoring. If a local government is in the second
quartile for a ratio, its score for that ratio is zero. It is not qualitativ ely better or worse than its peers,
so that ratio doesnot help or hurt its relative score. If a ratio is in the thir d quartile it earns one point.
The logic here is that a ratio above the median (i.e. the 50th percentile) is a financial positiv e for that
government. If a ratio is in the fourth quartile it earns tw o points. To land in the fourth quartile, a
government is better than most of its peers on that particular ratio, and that indicates a source of
financial strength. By contrast, a ratio in the first quartile means that government is comparativ ely
weak on that dimension of financial health. T o reflect that w eakness, we subtract one point.

A local governmentÕs overall Ten Point Test score is easy to interpr et. Analysts generally use the
follo wing categories:

¥ A score of 10 or greatersuggests a governmentÕs financial position is Òamong the best.Ó It can
easily meet its immediate spending needs, it has more-than-adequate reserves to mitigate the
immediate eff ects of recessions, natural disasters, or other unexpected events, and it has the
capacity to generate adequate resources to cover its long -term spending needs. To earn that
score most of its ten ratios must be as good as or better than its peer governments.

¥ A score between 5 and 9means the government is Òbetter than most.Ó Most of its ratios ar e better
than its peer governments, and a few ratios are equal to its peers.

¥ A score between 1 to 4means the government is Òaverage.Ó Most of its ratios ar e equal to, or
weaker than its peer governments.

¥ A score between 0 and -4means the government is Òworse than most.Ó Most of its ratios ar e

4. M erritt R esearch Services collects these data and makes them available thr ough the Bloomberg T erminal.
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weaker
than its peer governments.

¥ A score less than -5means the government is Òamong the worst.Ó It has major financial pr oblems
and may be insolvent. Scores this low are quite rare.

LetÕs return to OP, to compute its Ten Point Test Score. Recall that OPÕs population in FY2015 was
187,730, so weÕll use the ÒPopulation 100,000 to 250,000Ó quartiles.

As we saw above, OPÕs liquidity is strong. It scores in the top quartile for both short -run financial
position and liquidity . ItÕs profitability ratios are also acceptable, but not nearly as strong as its
liquidity . It was in the first quartile for net asset growth, and the thir d quartile for own-sour ce
revenues.These tw o ratios reflect the sameunderl ying fact: OP depends mostl y on general taxes lik e
sales taxes and property taxes, and depends little on user charges and fees or on outside grants or
other support. ThatÕs why its own-sour ce revenue is comparativ ely high, but its operating margin is
comparativ ely low.

OPÕs solvency profile is mix ed. It has virtuall y no curr ent liabilities in its governmental funds,
and virtuall y no long-term debt in its proprietary funds. ThatÕs why its near-term solvency and
coverage 2 ratios, respectively, are both in the top quartile. At the same time, it is quite leveraged.
That fact is reflected in its comparativ ely high debt burden and its comparativ ely low coverage 1
ratio. It also appears that in 2015 OPÕs investment in capital assetswascomparativ ely low, despite its
comparativ ely high leverage.
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Taken together , OPÕs ratios add up to an overall Ten Point Test score of seven. Its main financial
strengths are its liquidity and its near-term solvency. At the same time, its higher than average debt
load and dependence on general revenue sources, lowered that score. Recall that a score of seven
suggests OP is Òbetter than mostÓ similarly-sized local governments.

With this overall framew ork you can compute and interpr et a Ten Point Test score for virtuall y any
local government.

� %�%� �# '&* + &% �%� � %�%� �# *+)� +��0

Financial statement analysis can tell us a lot about an organization Õs financial position. The question,
then, is what to do about it? As mentioned, sometimes financial statement analysis imp lies some
clear follo w-up questions about an organization Õs financial operations and overall performance.
Ideally, it also suggestssome steps that management can take to impr ove that financial position and
performance.

The table below identifies some of those potential steps. It is organized around liquidity ,
profitability , and solvency. Plus signs identify that part of the organization Õs financial position that
is strong. Minus signs suggestsa potential weakness.Ther e is no ÒtextbookÓdefinition of a financial
strength or weakness.However, most public sector analysts define ratios above the benchmark rule
of thumb or above the median within a peer group asstrong, and ratios below the benchmark rule of
thumb or below the median within a peer group asweak. This is not a compr ehensive list, but it does
illustrate some basic management strategies that tend to follo w fr om diff erent patterns of financial
position.

For example, the top right box lists strategies appropriate for a non-pr ofit with good liquidity
and good profitability , but concerns about solvency. An organization with these characteristics has
enough resourceson hand and is curr ently able to generate enough resources to cover its expenses.
WhatÕs lessclear is whether it can continue that tr end into the futur e. Perhaps it is too dependent on
donor revenuesor government grants. M aybe it delivers a service that no one will want in the futur e.
M aybe it has had to borr ow a lot of money to build out its service delivery capacity. Regardless of
whatÕs driving the solvency concerns, itÕs clear this organization has a good, profitable business.The
challenge is ensuring it has enough demand for its services to support its ongoing operations.

To that end, an organization with thesecharacteristics could consider investing in additional capital
equipment or facilities that might help it expand its client or customer base. It might also expand
or extend its programs to include new lines of business that will allow it to tap into new clients/
customers. If long-term liabilities are part of the solvency concern it could consider restructuring or
re-negotiating those liabilities.
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Contrast this with an organization that has concerns about liquidity , but is otherwise profitable and
solvent. This is a good example of a Òprofitable but cash poorÓorganization. Here the challenge is to
convert some of that profitability into a stronger baseof liquid resources.To that end, an organization
under thesecir cumstancescould consider some short -term borr owing to better manageits cashflo w.
This might weaken its solvency a bit, but that might be a necessarytrade-off relative to weak liquidity .
It might also make a specific ask to donors for a reserve fund or other financial contingency fund to
bolster its liquidity .

Of course, organizations with concerns about all thr eeaspectsof financial position might consider
mor e drastic measures like a merger with another non-pr ofit.

In short, these strategies are some of the most typical for organizations with diff erent financial
position pr ofiles.
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The City of Rochester, NY is lik e most classic ÒRust BeltÓcities. It wasonce a global center of skilled
manufacturing, but since the mid-1980s it has shed thousands of manufacturing jobs. Tax revenues
have lagged, and the CityÕs overall financial position has slowly eroded. Thr oughout the past tw o
decadesthe mayor and other local leadershave investedsubstantial public resourcesin local programs
to pr omote economic and community dev elopment.

Communities lik e Rochester face a financial dilemma. Some local leaders believe the City should
do much mor e to promote economic and community development. Despite its financial problems
Rochester does have one key financial strength: a comparativ ely low debt burden ($775/ capita).
Unlik e many of its peers it has not issued a lot of bonds or other long-term debt that it will need to
repay over time. Some leaders believe it could borr ow money to invest in infrastructur e projects that
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would spur economic growth, grow the local tax baseand, in effect, pay for themselves.Or at least
thatÕs the theory.

Others disagree.They concur that the City has carefull y managed its borr owing and does not owe
investors much money. However, they point out that RochesterÕs has an enormous amount ($3,927/
capita) of ÒotherÓ long-term debts. Principal among them is Òother post-employment benefitsÓor
OPEB. Rochester, lik e many of its peers, allows its retir ed city work ers to remain on its health
insurance plan. M oreover, it pays most of the insurance premiums for those retir ees and for their
families. M any thousands of retir ed City work ers are expected to take advantage of this benefit for
many years to come.

Under governmental accounting rules, the money Rochester expects to spend on OPEB
benefits over the next 30 years must be recognized as a long-term liability . Those rules follo w fr om
the idea that employees earn OPEB benefits as part of their salary. Once earned, those benefits
become a long-term liability that appears on the CityÕs balance sheet. Rochester can change those
benefits any time, but until they do, they constitute a major long -term liability .

This anecdote highlights one of the key points of this chapter: How we account for Ð or ÒrecognizeÓ
Ð financial activity can have a major impact on how an organization perceives its own financial
strengths and weaknesses,and how it might choose to manage its finances in response.ThatÕs why
all public managers must kno w how to analyze financial statements, and kno w the origins of the
numbers that appear in those statements. In other words, they need to kno w a bit of accounting.
ThatÕs the focus of this chapter.
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Now that weÕve tour ed the basic financial statements, letÕs take a step back and go over how we
produce those statements. Financial statements are useful because theyÕre prepared according to
generally acceptedaccounting princip les (GAAP). To understand financial statements you must kno w
a few of those princip les, and you must kno w how typical financial transactions shape the numbers
you see in those statements. This section covers both these topics.
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M ost of us organize our personal finances around the cashbasisof accounting. When we pay for
something, we reduce our bank account balance by that amount. When we receive a paycheck, we
incr easeour bank account balance by that amount. In other words, we recognize financial activity
when we receive or spend cash.

M any small organizations also usecash basis accounting. M any small non-pr ofits and small
governmental entities lik e irrigation districts and mosquito abatement districts, for instance, keep
separate checkbooks to track the taxes they collect and to account for their payroll and other
operating expenses.

But for larger and mor e complex organizations, cashbasisaccounting tells an incomp lete story . For
instance, imagine that Treehouse(the organization in our previous examples) is planning to pur chase
$20,000 of furnitur e for its main office. Treehouse will pur chase that equipment on credit. That is,
they will order the equipment, the manufactur er will deliver that equipment and send an invoice
requesting payment, and a few weekslater Treehousewill write the manufactur er a check and pay off
that in voice.

This transaction will have a big impact on TreehouseÕs balance sheet. It will draw down its cash,
and it will bring in a large capital item that will stay with on the balance sheet for several years.
TreehouseÕs stakeholders should kno w about this transaction sooner than later .

But on the cashbasisthose stakeholders wonÕtkno w about this transaction until Treehousepays off
the invoice. That might be several weeksaway. If itÕs toward the end of the fiscal year Ðand many large
pur chaseshappen toward the end of the fiscal year Ð that transaction might not appear on TreehouseÕs
financial statements until the f ollo wing y ear. ThatÕs a problem.

ThatÕs why most public organizations use the accrualbasisof accounting. On the accrual basis,an
organization records an expense when it receives a good or service, whether or not cash changes
hands. In this case,as soon as Treehousesigns the pur chase order to receive the equipment, that
equipment will appear as a $20,000 incr easein non-curr ent assetson its balance sheet. It will also
record Ð or recognize, in accounting speak Ð an account payable for $20,000. On the accrual basiswe
can see how this transaction will aff ect TreehouseÕs financial position no w and in the futur e.

Keep in mind also that accrual accounting assumesthe organization is a goingconcern. That is, it
assumesthe organization will continue to deliver services indefinitel y. If weÕre not willing to make
that assumption, then accrual accounting does not add value. In some rare casesthe audit report will
suggestthat the auditor believes the organization is not a going concern. In other words, the auditor
believes the organization Õs financial position is so tenuous, that it might ceaseoperations before the
close of the next fiscal year.

We can apply a similar logic on the revenue side. Imagine that Treehousestaff run a day-long
outr each program at a local school. This program was designed to sensitize public school teachers
about the unique challenges faced by childr en in the foster care system. They typicall y charge $2,500
for this type of event. Assume that Treehousestaff deliver the program and then send the school
district a bill for their services.Treehouseused a lot of staff time, supplies, travel, and other expenses
to pr oduce this pr ogram, but they might not get paid f or the pr ogram for several weeks.

On the cash basis it will be several weeks before we kno w those expenseshad been incurr ed and
that Treehousehad earned $2,500 in revenue. But on the accrual basis, Treehousewould recognize
both those expenses and the expected revenue immediatel y after deliv ering the pr ogram.
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These tw o simple transactions illustrate a key point: If the goal of accounting and financial
reporting is to help stakeholders understand an organization Õs ability to achieve its mission, then
accrual accounting is far better than cash accounting. ThatÕs why the accrual concept is a central
princip le of GAAP. From this point forw ard weÕllfocus exclusively on how to apply accrual
accounting to public organizations.

1$".&-(3(.-  -# 3'$ %4-#  ,$-3  + $04  3(.-

Accountants spend much of their time on revenue and expense recognition. When accountants
recognize a transaction, they identify how that transaction affects the organization Õs financial
position. WeÕllrecognize transactions relative to the fundamental equation of accounting. Recall that
equation is:

�**�+* � # �� # + �* � %�+ �**�+*

One of accountingÕs central concepts is that the fundamental equation must always balance. In other
words, the net effect of any transaction on the fundamental equation must be zero. This is also kno wn
asdouble-entry bookkeeping.
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Consider the pr evious example:
Transaction 1: Treehousesigns a purchase agreement with Furniture Superstores, Inc. for $20,000 in office

furnitur e. It agrees to pay later.
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Here we recognize Ð or ÒbookÓ Ð the equipment on the asset side of the equation. Because
Treehousepaid on cr edit, we book an equivalent amount as an account payable on the liability side.
Note that the equipment is a non-curr ent asset because Treehouse expects to use it for several years.
The account payable, however, is a current liability because T reehousecan expect to pay it off within
the fiscal year. This transaction adds to both sides of the fundamental equation, and the net eff ect on
the equation is zero.

What happens three weeks later when Treehousepays for the equipment?

115 | Transa ction Analy sis
%(- -"( + 231 3$&8 %.1 /4!+(" , - &$12 ���



Transaction 2: Treehousepays the invoice for audiology equipment received in Transaction 1.
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This transaction decr eases both sides of the equation. Cash decreases, but so does accounts payable.
Public organizations execute many diff erent types of transactions in their day-to-da y operations.

For most of those transactions you can identify the corr ect accounting recognition by asking a few
simple questions:

1. Did the organization deliv er a good or service?
2. Did the organization r eceive a good or service?
3. Did the organization mak e a payment?
4. Did the organization r eceive a payment?

If the organization delivered a service or received a service, then the transaction probably affects
revenues and expenses.Note that revenues incr easenet assetsand expensesdecreasenet assets.If
the organization delivered or received a good, then the transaction lik ely affects assets,revenues,and
expenses.Whether or not the transaction affects a liability has to do with whether a payment was
made or received for those goods or services.
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The chart below presents these concepts as a flo w chart. Take Transaction1 as an example. Recall
that in this transaction Treehouseagreed to pur chaseaudiology equipment and pay for it later. Has
it received a good or service?Yes,it has received a good. To reference the flo w chart, this transaction
therefore starts on the bottom left corner of the chart at ÒReceive a Good Ð Received.ÓHas it made a
payment for that good? No. ThatÕs why we follo w the ÒPayment Not Deliv eredÓline of the chart, and
we seewe would recognize this transaction asan incr easein equipment (in this caseoffice furnitur e)
along with an incr ease in accounts payable, since Treehousewill pa y for this equipment later .

With this simple framew ork we can do the accounting recognition for most of the basic types
of transactions a typical public organization will encounter . That said, this framew ork does cover
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certain types of transactions, and sometimes diff erent types of non-pr ofit and governmental
transactions have unique rules that apply just in those contexts. WeÕllcover those mor e nuanced
accounting rules in the lectur es on non-pr ofit financial management and government financial
management.
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Transaction1 and Transaction2 are good examplesof financial activity that affect the balancesheet.You
should be aware of a few others.

Some transactions affect only the assetside of the equation. For instance, imagine if Treehousehad
pur chased the audiology equipment with cash rather than on cr edit.
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Transaction 1a: Treehousebuys $20,000 of office furnitur e with cash.
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Here Treehousehas swapped a liquid asset(cash) for a less liquid asset(equipment ). Cash decreases
but equipment incr eases,so the effect on the fundamental equation is zero. This sameapproach also
applies to curr ent assets like supplies and inventory .

Treehouseneeds services that it pur chases and then uses later. Examples include insurance,
certifications, subscriptions, professional association memberships, and the lik e. Treehousewill
pur chasethese services in advance,and then use or ÒexpenseÓthem thr oughout the fiscal year. These
are kno wn as pre-paid expenses. Conversely, this is also why assetsare sometimes called Òunexpired
costs.Ó For example:

Transaction3: Treehousepays$1,500for threeof its staff to renewtheir annual membershipsto theNational
Association for Social Workers .
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Organizations lik e Treehousealmost always have financial assets. Assetslik e buildings and equipment
are tangible; they have physical substance. Financial assetsare intangible assets. They do not have
physical substance,but theyÕre valuable becausethey represent a contractual claim. For instance, if
Treehouseowns shares of Boeing stock, they have a right to the dividendsand other benefits that
Boeing imparts on its shareholders. Treehousecan also sell its Boeing stock to another investor in
exchange for cash. So even though Boeing stock is intangible, itÕs quite valuable.

We account for financial assetsdiff erently. If Treehousebuys $500 of supplies, it will record those
supplies on its balance sheet at the $500 it cost to acquire them. In accounting, this is kno wn as
historical cost. Supplies are valuable because they help Treehousedeliver its services. TheyÕre not
valuable as an investment. That is, we would not expect Treehouseto buy supplies at one price and
sell them at a higher price as a way of earning revenue. ThatÕs why historical cost is the appropriate
way to value most of TreehouseÕs assets.
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Financial assetsare diff erent becausethey are, by definition, for investment. Treehouseinvests in
Boeing stock precisely becauseit expects the price of that stock to incr ease.For that reason, if we
want to kno w if investments are adding value to TreehouseÕs mission, we need to see the market
valueof those investments. If those investments have become mor e valuable, theyÕre contributing to
the mission. If theyÕve lost value, theyÕre taking r esources away fr om the mission.

ThatÕswhy we record financial assetsat fair valuerather than historical cost. Financial assetsare still
ÒgoodsÓ, but we account for them diff erently.

For most financial assets fair value means the curr ent, observed market price. Investments the
organization intends to hold lessthan a year that have a clear market price and can be easily liquidated
are kno wn asmarketablesecurities. Investments the organization intends to hold longer than one year,
or that are lessliquid, are kno wn simply asinvestments.M arketable securities are a curr ent asset.YouÕll
see investments classified as both a current and non-curr ent asset.
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When an organization puts money into an investment we record that investment at the pur chase
price. In that sense,at the time of the initial investment, fair value is not altogether diff erent fr om
historical cost. F or example:

Transaction 4: Treehousepurchases 500 shares of Boeing stock at $145 per share.
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If Treehouselater sells this stock before the end of the fiscal period for mor e than the original
recorded value, the incr easein value is called a realizedgain and is recorded asan incr easein net assets.

For example:
Transaction5: Treehousesellsits 500 sharesof Boeingstockat $155 per share. Recall that it originally

purchased that stock at $145 per share.
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Realized gains have roughly the sameeffect on TreehouseÕs financial position asa profitable program.
Both incr ease TreehouseÕs overall net assets and available liquid resources. However, since
Treehousedid not ÒearnÓthis realized gain by providing a good or service, we donÕtcall that gain
a revenue. The opposite is also true. If Treehousesold its Boeing stock for less than the original
pur chase price, it would r ecord a realized loss.

Fair value accounting is a bit mor e complex Ð and inter esting! Ð than historical cost, becauseit
requir esorganizations to restatethe value of their financial assetsat the end of every fiscal period. For
Treehouse,this meansthey must record a new value for their Boeing stock at the end of the fiscal year,
even if they donÕtbuy or sell it. If the stockÕs price at the time of the re-statement is greater than the
previously-r ecorded price, Treehousewill record an incr easein investments on the balancesheetand
an unrealized gainon the income statement. For example:

Transaction6: At the endof the current fiscal period,TreehouseÕs accountant estimatesand records a fair
value for Boeingstockof $150per share. Recall that during this samefiscal periodTreehousepurchased500
shares of Boeing stock at $145 per share.
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Unr ealized gains and losses do not dir ectly affect cash or any other resources that Treehousehas
available to deliver services. ThatÕs why we euphemisticall y call unr ealized gains paper gainsand
unr ealized lossespaperlosses. But they do matter indir ectly becausethey represent a potential gain or
loss in available resources.If TreehouseÕs holdings of Boeing stock contribute substantial unr ealized
gains for several years,management might consider selling those holdings, realizing those gains, and
investing in capital projects, equipment, or some other resourcesthat dir ectly benefit service delivery.

Of course, sometimes organizations must borr ow money to pur chase equipment, build a new
facility , or cover other expenses.The most typical form of borr owed money is a loan fr om a bank.
The initial accounting recognition of such a loan is simple. The borr owed money, or loan principal, is
recognized as a liability that offsets the cash received from the loan:

Transaction7: Treehouseborrows$30,000 from a local bank to finance the purchaseof a van to transport
students. The loan is for 5 years at 7% annual interest, and interest is paid on an annual basis.
Treehousepurchases the van immediately after the loan closes.
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Public organizations can also borr ow money using bonds, notespayable,mortgages, or lines of credit.
Bonds typicall y have a longer maturity than loans (i.e. the organization pays them off over a longer
time).M oreover, they are alwayspaid back at a fix ed rate of inter est,whereassome loans, have variable
ratesor floating ratesthat fluctuate over time. Notes payable are short -term loans, usually lessthan 18
months. A mortgage is a loan secured by with a real estate pur chase.A line of credit is an agreement
between a public organization and a bank that allows that organization to borr ow money on short
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notice, at a pre-determined inter est rate. A line of credit can be especially useful if an organization has
unpr edictable cash flows, or if it is considering taking on a large capital pr oject.

That said, transactions related to repaying debt present some special accounting considerations.
Consider the previous example. Here the $20,000 loan principal is clearly a liability . At the sametime,
the inter est on that loan principal is not necessarily a separate liability . Treehousehas agreed to pay
inter est on the loan each year the loan is active. It has not agreed in advance to pay the full amount
of inter est on the loan for all fiv e years the loan might be active.So instead, inter est payments on
this loan, and most loans lik e it, is considered an expense.Treehousepays the bank to use the bankÕs
money. ItÕs paying the bank f or the ÒserviceÓ called access to credit. So to illustrate:

Transaction8: Treehousemakesits first annual principal and interest paymenton the loan describedin
Transaction 7.
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Since the $20,000 loan is paid off over fiv e years, the annual payment on the principal is
$4,000 or ($20,000/ 5 years). The inter est rate was 7%, so we compute the annual inter est payment
as ($20,000 X 7% = $1,400). That inter est payment becomes the inter est expense.In year 2 the loan
balance would be $16,000, so Treehousewould pay $5,120 in cash to cover a $4,000 payment on the
loan principal and $1,120 of inter est expense ($16,000 X 7%). If Treehousechose to not make its
inter est payments, the inter est expense would instead be recognized as a liability.
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TreehouseÕs mission demands that it focus most of its efforts on delivering services.As a result, most
of its day-to-da y financial activity will involve revenues and expenses.Revenues and expensesaffect
the income statement.

For instance, recall fr om the earlier discussion that that Treehousedelivers outr each programs at
local schools. When one of those programs is delivered it records a revenue.

Transaction9: Treehousedeliversan outreachprogram at a local schooland sendsthat schooldistrict an
invoice for $2,500.
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Here Treehousehas earned revenue because it delivered a program. It recognizes those earned
revenues asa Òprogram revenue.ÓThis incr easesnet assets.Did it receive a payment? No. Ther efore,
it recognizesaccounts receivable on the assetside. Thr eeweeks later, when it collects payment it will
convert that r eceivable into cash. That transaction is as follo ws:

Transaction10: Treehousereceivespaymentfromtheschooldistrict for theoutreachprogram deliveredthree
weeks ago.
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Transaction10 does not affect the income statement, but keep in mind that the transaction that
resulted in the original accounts r eceivable did.

In Transaction9 Treehouseearned a revenue.Of course, that revenue didn Õtjust appear. It incurr ed a
variety of expensesÐstaff time, travel, supplies, etc. Ð to deliver that service. When should it recognize
the expensesincurr ed to deliver that program? One of the core princip les of GAAP is the matching
principle. That is, when we recognize a revenue we try to recognize the expensethat was incurr ed to
produce that revenue. This is not always clear for services. Services are driv en by personnel, and we
incur personnel expensesconstantl y. Services also requir e equipment, certifications, and other assets
where itÕs not always what it means to ÒuseÓ that asset.

The matching princip le is much mor e applicable when the transaction in question involvesa good
rather than a service. When an organization sellsa good, it presumably kno ws what it cost to produce
that good. Those costs, kno wn generally as cost of goodssold, are immediatel y netted against the
revenue collected fr om the transaction. ThatÕs why in the flo w chart above you seesome additional
recognition r elated to delivering goods.

That said, public organizations do encounter a few typical transactions that account for many of
their expenses.First, and most important, when Treehousepays its staff it recognizes an expensefor
salaries.

Transaction 11: Treehouserecognizes and pays bi-weekly payroll of $15,000.
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Payroll is critical becausepersonnel is the largest expense for most public organizations. From the
organization Õs perspective, payroll is an expensebecausethe organization is receiving a service fr om
its employees.That ÒserviceÓis their day-to-da y work. This is diff erent than if the organization were
to hir e the one-time services of, say, a plumber fr om another company to fix some leaky pipes. But
the accounting r ecognition is essentiall y the same.

Treehouseincurr ed other expenses to deliver the school outr each program. The program was
held at a school 100 miles fr om Treehouseheadquarters. The tw o staff members who delivered that
program rode together to that off -site location in one of their personal vehicles. They will expect
to be reimbursed. M any non-pr ofits and government organizations follo w the federal governmentÕs
guidance and reimburse mileage at a fixed rate of 57.5 cents per mile.

Transaction 12: Treehousepays mileage expenses of 57.5 cents/mile for a 200 mile round trip.
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To deliver the outr each program staff also used up $50 of construction paper, duct tape, and other
supplies. Recall that supplies are an asset.To account for the full cost of the outr each program we
should also recognize that TreehouseÒused upÓ or ÒexpensedÓ these assets. For example:

Transaction 13: Treehouseexpenses $50 in supplies related to its outreach program.

�CC6DC � #:23:<:D:6C � %6D��CC6DC

2PKKGD@N W���� 2PKKGD@N�$SK@IN@W����

123 | Transa ction Analy sis
%(- -"( + 231 3$&8 %.1 /4!+(" , - &$12 ���



Recall that Treehousealso pre-pays for many of its ongoing expenses, such as insurance and
certifications. The choice of when to expense pre-paid items is admittedl y arbitrary . M ost
organizations have accounting policies and assumptions that state when and how this happens.M ost
will record those expensesmonthl y or quarterl y. Recall that Treehouse pre-paid $1,500 for some
annual professional association memberships. Assume that it expensesthose memberships quarterl y.
At the end of the first quarter since the membership w as paid, it would r ecord:

Transaction 14: Treehouserecords quarterly professionalassociationmembershipexpenses.Recall that
annual association dues are $1,500.
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Keep in mind that after this first portion is expensed $1,125 in pre-paid association membership
expenses remains on the balance sheet. This transaction simply expenses out one-quarter of the
original $1,500 asset.

Another crucial set of accounting assumptions are around depreciation. Depreciation is when an
organization expensesa long-term asset.To deliver its services,Treehousemust useup some portion
of its building, vehicles,audiology equipment, and other capital items. Lik e with salariesand pre-paid
expenses,itÕs not always clear when and how those assetsare Òusedup.ÓSome of that use is normal
wear and tear. Some of it might happen if the assetbears a particularl y heavy workload. Some capital
items might be largely out of use,but they will lose value becauseeachyear that goesby, theyÕllbecome
harder for Treehouse to sell should they choose to liquidate them.

In the absenceof a detailed way to measure that wear and tear, accountants typicall y deal with
depreciation thr ough simplifying assumptions. One of the most common is to use straight-line
depreciationalso kno wn as the straight-line method. Under the straight line method, when an
organization pur chasesa new capital asset it determines the length of time it can use that asset to
deliver services. This is kno wn as the useful lif e. The organization must also determine the value of
that assetonce itÕs no longer useful for delivering services.This is the salvagevalueor residualvalueor
value at write-off . If we subtract the salvagevalue fr om the historical cost, and divide by the useful lif e,
we get the annual depreciation expense.

Ther e are many other methods to calculate and allocate depreciation expenses, including the
acceleratedmethod, declining balance, sum-of-the-yearsmethod, and others. Diff erent assumptions can
produce rather diff erent estimates and allocations of depreciation expenses.

For an example letÕs return to TreehouseÕs office furnitur e.Recall that it pur chased that furnitur e
for $20,000. Say that equipment has a useful lif e of 10 years.Assume also that at the end of its useful
lif e Treehousewill be able to sell it for $2,500 to a used furnitur e distributor . To calculate the annual
depreciation expenseusing the straight -line method, we take ($20,000 Ð$2,500)/10 = $1,750 per year.
Using this assumption, w e could record the follo wing transaction:

Transaction 15: Treehouserecords annual depreciation expense on its audiology equipment of $1,750.
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After this first recording for depreciation expense,the value of the audiology equipment reflected on
TreehouseÕs balance sheet will be $18,250, or ($20,000 Ð $1,750).

This sameconcept of spreading out the useful lif e also applies to intangible assets.Say, for example,
Treehousepur chasessome specialized casemanagement softw are that allows it to safely store foster
care childr enÕs school and medical records. That softw are requir esTreehouseto pur chasea fiv e-year
license. That license is an intangible asset,but it hasa lot of value with respectto TreehouseÕs capacity
to deliver services over the next fiv e years. In this case,Treehousewould amortizethat asset.It would
use up some portion of that license Ð usually an equal amount, akin to straight -line depreciation
Ð value each year in an amortization expense. If it pur chased a fiv e-year license for $5,000 it would
record a $5,000 at the time of that pur chase.Ther eafter, if it amortized that license in equal annual
installments, the eff ect on the fundamental equation is as follo ws:

Transaction 16: Treehouserecords amortization expenseon its cash management software licenseof $1,000.
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Follo wing this first amortization expense,the license would remain on TreehouseÕs balance sheet at
$4,000.

Finall y, we must consider what happens if Treehouseis paid for a service before it delivers that
service. This is kno wn asdeferredrevenueor unearnedrevenue. Deferred revenue is a liability becauseit
representsa futur e claim on Treehouseresources.By taking payment for a service not yet delivered,
Treehouseis committing futur e resourcesto deliver that service. Once it delivers that service it incurs
expenses and removes that liability .

For example, imagine that Treehousearranges another $1,500 outr each program with a diff erent
local school district. That school district is nearing the end of its fiscal year, so it agrees to pay
Treehousefor the program several weeks in advance. Once it receives that payment it would
recognize that transaction as follo ws:

Transaction17:Treehousetakesa $1,500paymentfor a schooloutreachprogramto bedeliveredin thefuture.
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This initial transaction does not affect the income statement. However, when Treehousedelivers the
program a few weeks later, it r ecords the follo wing:

Transaction 18: Treehousedelivers the school outreach program for which it was paid previously.
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The key take-away fr om all these income statement transactions is simple: For Treehouseto be
profitable, it must take in mor e revenue fr om its programs and services than the total payroll and
other expenses it incurs to deliver those programs. If those revenues do exceed those expenses,
then its net assetswill incr ease.If expenses exceed revenues, then net assetswill decrease.ThatÕs
why, as previously mentioned, change in net assetsis the focal point for much of our analysis of an
organization Õs financial position.
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Non-pr ofits arenÕttraditionall y paid for their services.In fact, large parts of the non-pr ofit sector exist
precisely to provide services to those who canÕtpay for those services.The homeless,foster childr en,
endangered species,and others come to mind immediatel y. Non-pr ofits depend on donations and
contributions to fund those services.

At the outset, it might seem lik e the accrual concept breaks down here. How can a non-pr ofit
recognize a revenue if the recipients of its services donÕtpay for those services? In non-pr ofit
accounting, we addressthis problem by simply drawing a parallel between donations and payments
for service. Donors who support a non-pr ofit are, in effect, paying that non-pr ofit to pursue its
mission. Donors may not benefit dir ectly fr om their contribution, but they benefit indir ectly thr ough
tax benefits and a feeling of generosity. Those indir ect benefits are substantial enough to support the
accrual concept in this context.

Practicall y speaking we address this with a category of net assetscalled Òdonor revenueÓand a
category of assets called Òpledges receivable.Ó For example:

Transaction19:Treehousereceivedpledgesof gifts in theamountof $2,500to beusedasits Board of Dir ectors
considers appropriate.
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M ost donor revenues happen thr ough the tw o-step process suggested here. A donor pledges to
donate and that pledge is recognized aspledgesreceivable. GAAP stipulates that a signed donor card
or other documented promise to give constitutes a pledge that can be recognized. Once the donor
writes T reehouse a check for the p ledged amount, Treehousewould book the f ollo wing:

Transaction 20: Treehousecollects the $2,500 pledge recognized in Transaction 19.
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One of the big financial questions for any non-pr ofit is how much contr ol does it have over where its
money comes fr om and where its money goes?In a perfect world, non-pr ofit managers would fund
all their operations thr ough unr estricted program revenuesand donations. ItÕs much easier to manage
an organization w hen there are no strings attached to its money.

M ost non-pr ofit managers arenÕtso lucky . Virtuall y all non-pr ofits have some sort of restrictions
on when and how their organization can spend money. Donors who want to ensure the organization
accomplishes specific goals will restrict how and when their donation can be spent. Governments do
the same with r estricted grants or loans. Some resources, namely endowments, canÕt ever be spent.

Restricted resources usually appear asrestricted net assets. Ther e are tw o types: temporarily
restrictednet assets, and permanentlyrestrictednet assets. Temporaril y restricted net assetsare restricted
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with respect to purpose and/ or timing. Permanentl y restricted net assets can never be spent or
converted to cash. Consider this example:

Transaction21: Treehousereceivesa cashdonationof $5,000.That gift wasaccompaniedby a letter fromthe
donor to TreehouseÕsexecutive director requesting that the donation be usedfor staff development.
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This is a typical temporaril y restricted contribution. The donor hasspecified how Treehousewill use
these donated resources.WeÕd seea similar restriction if the donor had specified that the donation
could not be spent for some period of time.

Our accounting recognition for net assetrestrictions is not unlik e other transactions that affect the
income statement. The main diff erence is that with restricted net assetswe have to take the additional
step of ÒundoingÓ the restriction once the donorÕs conditions have been satisfied. For instance:

Transaction 22: Treehousestaff attenda national training conference.Travel, lodging, and conference
registration expenses were $3,990. Staff are reimbursed from the resources donated in Transaction 21.
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The first part of this transaction converts the temporaril y restricted donor revenue to unr estricted
revenue. Treehouseis able to do this conversion because it has met the donorÕs condition: staff
attended a professional development conference. Once that restriction is satisfied, the second part
of the transaction recognizes the professional development expenses.After this transaction, $1,010
of the original temporaril y restricted net assetsremain on TreehouseÕs balance sheet and income
statement.

We often think of temporaril y restricted net assetsin terms of restricted donor contributions. But
keep in mind that long-term assetslik e equipment donated for a specific programmatic goal also
tend to appear astemporaril y restricted net assets.The sameapplies to donated buildings, equipment,
furnitur e, or other long-term assetswhere the donor requir esthat the recipient organization not sell
the asset for some period of time.

Permanentl y restricted net assetsmost often appear as endowments. An endowment is a pool
of resources,usually investments, that exists to generate other assetsto support the organization Õs
mission. By definition, the donation that comprises the original endowment Ð also kno wn as the
corpusÐ cannot be spent. In practice, the accounting recognition for the formation of an endowment
looks lik e this:

Transaction23: An anonymousbenefactor donatesto Treehouse3,500sharesof VanguardÕs Global Equity
InvestorFund (a mutual fund). Thegift stipulatesthat theannual investmentproceedsfrom that stocksupport
general operations,and that Treehousecannotunderany circumstancesliquidatetheendowment.At thetime of
the gift, the investment had a fair market value of $100,000.

Once the endowment is established it generates investment earnings that become unr estricted net
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assets.These unr estricted net assetsare usually recorded as a Òdistribution fr om endowment,Óor
Òendowment r evenue.Ó

Transaction24: At the end of the EndowmentÕs first fiscal year, Treehousereceivesa dividend checkfrom
Vanguard (the mutual fund manager) for $4,500.
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Note that endowment earnings do not always immediatel y become unr estricted net assets.In fact,
many non-pr oft boards prefer to reinvest endowment earnings back into the endowment. This
allows the permanentl y restricted net assets to grow and produce mor e unr estricted net assets
later. Also note that some endowments are structur ed so that the investment proceedsfund specific
programmatic needs.In those casesthe investment proceedsare temporaril y restricted net assets,not
unr estricted net assets.

(-�*(-# ".-31(!43(.-2

In addition to donated revenue, non-pr ofits also depend on donations of goods and services. These
are called in-kind contributions. According to GAAP, a non-pr ofit can record as an in-kind
contribution specialized services that it would otherwise pur chase. In most cases this means
professional services lik e attorney s, counselors, accountants, or professional development coaches.
We recognize in-kind services once theyÕve been received, and all the recognition happens in the net
assets part of the fundamental equation. For instance:

Transaction25: A localattorneyagreesto representTreehouseÒpro bonoÓin a lawsuit filed by thefamily of a
formerstudent.TheattorneyÕsregularrateis $500/hour, and thecaserequires10 billablehours.Without these
pro bono services Treehousewould have had to hire outside counsel.
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If in-kind contributions donÕtresult in a net incr easeor decrease in net assets,then why do we
bother recognizing them? Becauserecognizing them helps us understand the organization Õs capacity
to deliver its services.If it had to pay for otherwise donated goods and services,those pur chaseswould
certainl y affect its financial position and its service-deliv ery capacity.

Some in-kind contributions produce both an in-kind contribution and a donated asset.This is
especially important f or services lik e carpentry or p lumbing. F or example:

Transaction26: A localcontractoragreesto donatethe labor and materialsto constructa newplaygroundat
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Treehouse.Total labor expensesfor the projectwere $3,000,and the contractor purchasedthe newplayground
equipment for $8,000.
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Unfortunatel y, pledges donÕtalways materialize into contributions. Sometimes the donorsÕfinancial
situation changes after making a pledge. Sometimes they have a bit too much wine at a gala event
and promise mor e than they can give.Sometimes they simply change their mind. For theseand many
other r easons, non-profits rar ely collect 100% of their p ledged revenues.

M ost non-pr ofits re-evaluate at regular interv als,usually quarterl y or semi-annuall y, the lik elihood
theyÕllcollect their pledges receivable. Once they determine a pledge cannot or will not be collected,
the amount of pledges receivable is adjusted accordingl y. The accounting mechanism to make this
happen is an expense called Òbaddebt.ÓBad debt is specific type of reconciliation entry kno wn as
a contra-account. Lik e with depreciation, amortization, and other reconciliations, entries in contra-
accounts do not affect cash flo ws. They are simply Òwrite-offÓtransactions to offset the reduction of
an asset, in this case pledges receivable. Consider this example:

Transaction27: Treehousedeterminesit will not beableto collect$3,000of pledgesmadeearlier in the fiscal
year.
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When is a pledge deemeduncollectable? That dependson the organization Õspolicies. GAAP rules only
state that an organization must have a policy that dictates how it will determine collectability . Non-
profitsÕpolicies to that effect state that a pledge is uncollectable after a certain number of days past
the close of the fiscal year, or if the donor pr ovides documentation that the p ledge is cancelled.

Pledgesreceivable among non-pr ofits is the most common type of asset to be offset by bad debt
expense.However, be aware that bad debt is not unique to non-pr ofits or to pledgesreceivable. For-
profits and governments can and often do record bad debt expenses,and those expensescan apply
to any receivable, including accounts receivable for goods services previously delivered, or grants
receivable from a donor or a government.
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Governmental funds and the modified accrual basisof accounting on which they are prepared, focus
on expendable financial resources. Taxpayers want to kno w their government used its curr ent
financial resources to meet its curr ent financial needs. This is, once again, a core part of how
accountants think about inter -period equity . If a government pushescosts into futur e fiscal periods,
then futur e taxpayers will ha ve to either pay mor e taxes or expect lessin services.

For this reason,when thinking about the fund financial statements, we need to re-think how we
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recognize certain revenues.Instead of focusing recognition on when a government ÒearnsÓa revenue,
we focus instead on whether that revenue is or will be available to cover costs during that samefiscal
period. Specifically, GAAP for governments requir esthat for a revenue to be recognized in the curr ent
fiscal period is must be measurableand available.

¥ M easurable means the government can r easonably estimate how much it will collect. F or
taxes like property tax es, this is easy. TheyÕre measurable because the government determines
what a taxpayer owes and then sends a bill. But for sales taxes, income taxes, or other revenues
measurable might r equir e some reasonable estimates.

¥ According to G AAP, available means a revenue is recognized during the fiscal period for
which itÕs intended to pay liabilities or up to 60 days after the close of that fiscal period. Again,
this is not al ways clear. For instance, when does an intergovernmental grant become available
if it r equir es the government to perf orm certain services or incur certain expenditur es?

To address this problem, government GAAP establishes a few basic types of revenues and a set of
recognition concepts that applies to each. HereÕs a few hypothetical transactions to illustrate those
concepts. WeÕllrecognize all these transactions in the fund financial statements, and thus, on the
modified accrual basis. If we recognized these transactions in the government -wide statements the
normal accrual concepts would apply. To simplify , we restate the fundamental equation as Assets=
Liabilities + F und Balance.

In Chapter 1 w e said the property tax is the local r evenue workhorse. So letÕs start there
1
.

LetÕs assumeOverland Park sendsout its annual property tax bills in January. Those bills are based
on the CityÕsassessedvalue,property tax rates,and any applicable tax preferences.After running these
calculations OP determines it will send out $515 million in property tax bills. From past experience,
it also kno ws it wonÕt collect a certain portion of those bills.

Property taxes are imposednon-exchangerevenues, meaning they are not related to a specific
transaction. As such, they become measurable and available when the government imposes them. As
soon astheyÕre imposed, OP hasa legal claim to them. In this case,to impose them meansto levy them,
or to send out pr operty tax bills.

Transaction28: In January 2015 Overland Park leviesproperty taxes of $515 million for the year. It
estimates $15 million will be uncollectible.
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1. M any of the transactions pr esented here are based on Granof (2001)
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This recognition records OPÕs property tax levy. What happens then when OP collects theseproperty
taxes?

Transaction29: Throughout2015Overland Park collects$410 million of property taxes. It collects$30
million of the remaining2015 taxesduring eachof the first threemonthsof 2016and estimatesthat the $15
million balance will be uncollectible.
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We recognize these collections in four diff erent parts. Part a) recognizes the collections of property
taxes during 2015 and during the first tw o months of 2016. OP collected $30 million in each of
the first thr ee months, but according to GAAP, only the first 60 days are available. Part b) converts
deferred revenuesinto property tax revenuesfor the taxescollected during 2015. Part c) doesthe same
for the taxes collected during the first tw o months of 2016. Part d) recognizes a write-do wn of the
uncollectible pr operty tax es.

Note that this recognition approach would also apply to the other main type of imposed non-
exchange revenues: fines and fees. Those revenues are also recognized when they are levied or
imposed.

Salesand income taxes are the most common type of deriv ed taxes, meaning the taxes collected
are deriv ed fr om some other transaction. For deriv ed taxes, the revenues become measurable and
available when the underl ying transaction takes place. For salestaxes,those transactions are taxable
retail sales.For income taxes,itÕs a bit mor e abstract. Ther e the ÒtransactionÓin question is when an
employer pays wagesto an employee,and that transaction denotes the earnings on which the income
tax is based.

LetÕs look at a hypothetical sales tax recognition in O P:
Transaction30: In December2015merchantsin Overland Park collect$20million in local salestaxes;$12

million arecollectedprior to December15 andmustberemittedby February15,2016;theremaining$8million
must be remitted by March 15, 2016. How should OP recognize these December 2015 sales?
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According to GAAP, OP should recognize the assetsfr om deriv ed revenues during the period when
the underl ying transaction takesplace. ThatÕs why it records all $20 million assalestaxes receivable.
At the sametime, it will only collect $12 million within 60 days of the end of the fiscal year, so only
that portion is considered available and should be recognized now. The remaining $8 million will
become available later, so for now, itÕs considered deferred revenue. We would seea similar pattern
with income tax es and other derived revenues.

A government recognizes an inter -governmental grant when it has satisfied all the eligibility
requir ements. Only then are grants considered measurable and available.

Transaction31: In October2015Overland Park is notified that it will receivea $15million grant from the
stateÕs Clean Water RevolvingFund. The funds, transmittedby the statein December2015,must beusedfor
stormwater infrastructure upgrades, but may be spent at any time.
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The State has placed a purpose restriction on this grant. Purpose restrictions do not affect the
measurability or availability of the grant revenues. That said, becausethey are subject to a purpose
restriction, O P should recognize these revenues in a special revenue fund.

M any intergo vernmental grants take the form of reimbursements. In this case,the revenuesare not
available until the go vernment incurs the allowable costsstipulated by the grant.

Transaction32: In December2015OverlandPark is awardeda grant of $400,000to train communitypolice
officers.During the year it spends$300,000 in allowablecosts,for which it is reimbursed$250,000. It expects
to bereimbursedfor the$50,000balancein January 2016and to expend,and bereimbursed,for theremaining
$100,000 of its grant throughout 2016. It must incur allowable costs to remain eligible for the grant.
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For this grant OP must first incur the requisite expenditur esbefore it recognizes the grant revenues.
In part a) it incurs those expenditur es. In part b) it recognizes that it was reimbursed $250,000
cash,it records grants receivable for the portion it expects to collect within 60 days of the end of the
fiscal year, and records the $300,000 in grant r evenue.

And finall y, letÕs look at another unique revenue recognition tr eatment: salesof fix ed assets.ItÕs not
uncommon for governments to sell buildings and other fix ed assets.In the fund financial statements
the value of such a sale is equal to the sale proceeds.This seemssimple, but itÕs quite diff erent fr om
the government -wide statements, where weÕd recognize the diff erencebetween the saleproceedsand
historical cost p lus accumulated depreciation.
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Transaction33: On December31,2015OverlandPark purchasesa newpolicecar for $40,000.On January
2, 2016 the vehicle is damaged in an accident. The City is able to sell the nearly demolished vehicle for $5,000.
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It might seemstrange that $35,000 worth of a $40,000 vehicle was lost, but the only impact on OPÕs
governmental funds financial statements is an incr easein cash.And yet, thatÕsprecisely how we would
recognize this transaction on the modified accrual basis. Why? Becausewe do not recognize fix ed
assetsin the governmental fund statements, becausethose funds are focused on near-term financial
resources.Fixed assetsare, of course, a long-term financial resource. Fortunatel y for the readers of
OPÕs financial statements, on its Statement of Net Position OP would recognize the lost $35,000 of
asset value as an asset Òwrite offÓ or similar expense.
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In February 2016 a federal judge in Albuquer que, NM approved a $1 billion settlement between the
Obama administration and nearly 700 Native American tribes. This settlement ended a decades-long
classaction lawsuit over how the federal Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) had distributed aid to tribes
since the mid 1970s.

This casecameabout becauseof some disagreementsover how to measure costs.For mor e than 150
years the BIA wasdir ectly responsible for most of the health care,education, economic development,
and other core services delivered on Native American reservations. But then starting in the
mid-1970s it shifted its focus fr om dir ect service provision to helping tribes become self-sufficient.
Instead of managing services, it redir ected its resources toward training, technical assistance,and
other eff orts to help tribes launch and maintain their o wn services.

To make that transition BIA re-classified many of its activities as Òcontract support costs.ÓThis
change was not just semantic. Funding for dir ect BIA-administer ed services was part of a regular
federal budget appropriation. That appropriation was stable and predictable. By contrast, funding
for support costs on federal government contracts is quite variable and must be renegotiated often.
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Perhaps not surprisingl y, total BIA spending declined steadily under this new capacity-building
model.

Tribes across the US argued that by re-classifying many of BIAÕs costs, the federal government
gave itself permission to slash BIAÕs budget without Congr essional approval. The tribesÕalleged this
simple cost measurement maneuver allowed BIA to operate well outside its authority and to inflict
substantial harm on Native Americans around the country . BIA argued that the cost reclassification
wasa standard accounting change that has happened across the federal government for decades.The
casewasultimatel y settled for far lessthan the tribes requested,but the federal government did agree
to re-classify many contract support costsasdir ect service costs for which federal funding is far mor e
transparent and predictable.

This case illustrates the central point of this chapter: how we define and measure costs matters
tr emendously. In this case,cost measurement was not just a technical exercise; it had real impacts
on the liv es of hundr eds of thousands of Native Americans. The same is true for virtuall y all public
services. How we define, measure, and plan for costs affects which services we deliver and how we
deliver them.
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If youÕve ever flo wn on an airp lane, thereÕs a good chance you kno w Boeing. The Boeing Company
generatesaround $90 billion eachyear fr om selling thousands of airp lanesto commer cial and military
customers around the world. It employs around 200,000 people, and itÕs indir ectly responsible for
mor e than a million jobs thr ough its suppliers, contractors, regulators, and others. Its main assembly
line in Everett, WA is housed in the largest building in the world, a colossal facility that covers nearly
a half-trillion cubic f eet. Boeing is, simply put, a massive enterprise.
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And yet, BoeingÕs managers kno w the exact cost of everything the company uses to produce its
airp lanes;every propeller , flap, seatbelt, welder, computer programmer , and so forth. M oreover, they
kno w how those costs would change if they produced mor e airp lanes or fewer. They also kno w the
price at which they sold that plane and the profit the company made on that sale.BoeingÕs executives
expect their managers to kno w this inf ormation, in r eal time, if the company is to remain pr ofitable.

Cost accounting(also kno wn as managerialaccounting) is the processof creating inf ormation about
costs to inf orm management decisions. M anagers need good inf ormation about costs to set prices,
determine how much of a good or service to deliver, and to manage costs in ways that make their
organization mor e lik ely to achieve its mission. M anagers in for-pr ofit entities lik e Boeing, have
instant accessto sophisticated cost inf ormation that would assist with those types of decisions. But
managers in the public and non-pr ofit sectors usuall y donÕt. There are many reasons for this:

¥ Large parts of the public sector don Õt produce a Òproduct,Ó but they do produce a service like
counseling juv enile off enders, protecting the envir onment, or helping the homeless.
Sometimes we know the ÒunitÓ of production and can measure costs relative to that unit. In
the case of counseling juvenile off enders, we might think about the cost per off ender to
provide those services. But for services without a clear Òend user,Ó like envir onmental
protection, this anal ysis is much more difficult.

¥ M ost (usually around 80%) of the costs incurr ed by a typical public sector organization ar e
related to people. A parole officer will see man y diff erent types of parolees. Some will demand
a lot of attention and f ollo w-up. Some will need next to none. Some par ole officers ar e
comfortable giving each case an equal amount of time and attention. Others ar e not. This type
of variability in ho w and where people spend their time, and as a result, where labor costs are
incurr ed, can make cost analysis quite difficult.

¥ Employees often work acr oss multip le programs. A program manager at a non-pr ofit
organization might w ork acr oss two diff erent programs funded by tw o diff erent grants fr om
tw o diff erent funding agencies. Unless that program manager allocates their time exactl y
equal across both programs Ð and thatÕs unlik ely Ð we canÕt know the exact cost of each
program without a car eful study of ho w and where that employee spends their time.

¥ Public services often share buildings, equipment, v ehicles, and other costs. Without a system
to track exactl y which staff and pr ograms use exactly which r esources, itÕs difficult to kno w
the full cost to deliv er a particular service.

¥ Good cost analysis has no natural political constituency . Careful cost analysis requir es
substantial in vestments in inf ormation technology , staff capacity, accounting inf ormation
systems, and other resources. Most taxpayers and funders would rather see that money spent
on pr ograms and services to help people in the short -term, and not on inf ormation sy stems to
analyze and plan for futur e costs.

These are just a few of the many barriers that prevent public organizations fr om acting mor e lik e
Boeing, at least with r espect to cost analysis.

And yet, good cost analysis is absolutely crucial to public organizations. Public financial resources
are finite, scarce,and becoming scarcer. Public managersmust understand how and where they incur
costs, how and where they will incur costs under diff erent service delivery models, and whether
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that pattern of costs is consistent with their organization Õs mission and objectiv e. In this chapter we
intr oduce the core concepts of cost accounting, and we show how to apply those concepts to real
management decisions.

At the outset itÕs important to draw a distinction between full costaccountingand differential cost
accounting. Full cost accounting is the process of identifying the full cost of a good or service.
Diff erential cost accounting Ð sometimes called marginal costanalysisÐ is the processof determining
how the full cost of a good or service changes when we deliver mor e or less of it. Good financial
management requir es careful attention to both.

LetÕs start with a simple example. Imagine a copying machine thatÕs shared among thr ee
departments within the Envir onmental Health Department of a county government. Those thr ee
departments are:

1. Food Protection. This includes inspection and licensing of r estaurants and other
establishments that serve food. This pr ogram is designed to prevent outbr eaks of food-
borne diseases like E. coli, botulism, and Hepatitis A. Staff in this division mak e make
around 500 copies each day, mostly related to documenting r estaurant inspections.

2. Animals and Pests. This includes animal contr ol, rodent testing and contr ol, and
educational pr ograms to pr omote pet safety and neutering/spa ying. These programs are
designed to prevent communicable diseases, including rabies, that are most often spread by
vagrant animals. Staff in this division mak e around 250 copies each day, but that number
can increase in the event of a outbr eak of avian flu or other communicable disease.

3. Wastewater. The Wastewater department is r esponsible for tr eating wastewater. Staff in this
division issue w ater discharge permits to businesses and industrial operations, and also test
water quality near w astewater discharge sites. These programs are necessary to prevent
waterborne communicable diseases like cryptosporidium. W astewater division staff
typicall y make around 100 copies each day, but make up to 1,000 per day when processing
complex industrial building permits. They pr ocess around six such permits each year.

As a manager youÕd want to kno w what it costs to operate the copier , and how those costs ought to be
spreadacrossthe thr eedepartments. To put this question in the languageof cost accounting, we want
to kno w:

1. What is the full costto operate the copier?
2. How should w e allocatethe costs of operating the copier acr oss the three departments?

To answer these questions we first need to kno w all of the diff erent ways the copier incurs costs. A
few come to mind immediatel y: paper and toner to make the actual copies, a leaseor rental payment
to take possessionof the copier , and occasional maintenance and repairs. A few might be lessobvious:
electricity to run the machine, spacewithin a building to house the machine, and an office managerÕs
time to coordinate maintenance and repairs. We can observe many of thesecosts,but other weÕllneed
to estimate or impute.
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The next question is how the departments should share these costs. Imagine, for instance, that they
split those costs one-thir d for each department? This approach is simple, easy, and transparent. But
whatÕs wr ong with it? Each department makesa diff erent number of total copies, and each also has a
diff erent workflo w related to the copier . These departments also have diff erent potential Òeconomies
of scaleÓfor copying. Also keep in mind that Animals and Pests needs mor e Òemergency capacityÓ
or Òsurge capacityÓthan the other tw o departments. So if an even distribution is not the most
appropriate, then what is?With careful attention to cost accounting methods we can begin to address
these and other questions.
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To answer the question Òwhat does this service cost?Ócost accountants follo w a six-step process.
Each step of this processis driv en by policies and procedures that are defined by an organization Õs
management:

1. Define the cost object. The cost objectis the product or deliv erable for w hich costs are
measured. Service-oriented public organizations typicall y define cost objects in terms of the
end user or recipient of a service. Examples include the cost to shelter a homeless person
for an evening, the cost per counseling session delivered to recovering substance abusers,
the cost to place a family in aff ordable housing, and so forth.

2. Determine cost centers. A cost centeris a part of an organization that incurs costs. I t could be
a program, a unit within a department, a department, a grant, a contract, or an y other entity
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thatÕs clearly defined f or cost accounting purposes. As a general rule, cost centers work best
if they ar e for homogeneous groupings of activities.

3. Distinguish betw een direct and indir ect costs.Dir ect costsare connected to a specific cost
center. In fact, theyÕre often called Òtraceable costs.Ó Examples include salaries for staff w ho
work entir ely within a cost center, facilities and supplies used only by that cost center,
training f or cost center-specific staff, etc. M any public organizations further stipulate that a
cost is dir ect to a cost center only if it can be contr olled by that centerÕs management.
Indirect costsapply to mor e than one cost center. They include shared facilities, general
administration, pa yroll pr ocessing services, information technology support, etc. Some
managers call them service center costs, internal servicecosts, or overhead costsbecausethey are
usually for support services pr ovided within an organization. The full cost of an y servi ce is
the dir ect costs plus the indir ect costs.

4. Choose allocation bases for indir ect costs. One of the main goals of full cost accounting is to
distribute indir ect costs to cost centers. This follo ws from the logic that all dir ect costs
requir e support fr om within the organization. An allocation basisis an observable metric w e
can use to measure the relationship betw een direct and indir ect costs within a cost center .
For example, a non-pr ofit might allocate indir ect costs according to the number of full -time
equivalent (FTE) employees within a cost center, or the percentage of the organization Õs
overall payroll earned by employees within that cost center .

5. Select an allocation method. Ther e are two main methods to allocateor apportionindir ect
costs to cost centers. One is simply to call indir ect costs their own cost centers and
plan accordingl y. For instance, a non-pr ofit could choose to call the ex ecutive director its
own cost center . In that case it would p lan for and r eport the executive directorÕs salary,
benefits, and other costs as a stand-alone entity, rather than allocate those costs as an
indir ect cost to other dir ect service cost centers. A more common approach is to allocate
by a denominator thatÕs common to all the cost centers that incur a particular indir ect cost
(see below).

6. Attach costs to cost objects. One of big challenges for public organizations is that cost
objects are usually people, and no two people are alike. For instance, a parole officer might
have 30 clients, but each requir es a different amount of time, attention, and counseling.
When the cost per client varies a lot, the cost accounting system ought to r eflect those
diff erences, usually by applying diff erent overhead rates or percentages to different types of
clients.

LetÕs illustrate some of these concepts with the copier example. To begin, assume that the copier
is its own cost center. Services lik e copying, inf ormation technology , payroll, exist to serve clients
within the organization, so theyÕre called servicecenters. One of the goals of cost accounting is to
allocate service centersÕcosts to missioncentersthat are mor e dir ectly connected to the organization Õs
core programs and services. In this case we can assume Food Inspection, Animals and Pests, and
Wastewater are mission centers that will ultimatel y receive costs allocated fr om the copier service
center. Giv en those assumptions about cost centers, we can assume the cost object for the copier
service center is the cost per copy.

With those assumptions established we can define dir ect and indir ect costs for the copier
service center. Dir ect costs include paper, toner , the machine rental/ lease fees, and machine
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maintenance. These costs are incurr ed exclusively by the copier . Electricity , building space,and the
office managerÕs time are indir ect costs.They are incurr ed by the copier cost center and by other cost
centers.

To illustrate, the table belo w lists some details on the copierÕs full costs for FY2015.
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To find the full cost of the copier cost center weÕllneed to find some way to allocate to it its share
of those indir ect costs. A good cost allocation scheme follo ws fr om a clear understanding of an
organization Õs cost driv ers. A costdriver is a factor that affect the cost of an activity . A good cost driv er
is a reliably observable quantity that sharesa consistent relationship with the indir ect cost in question.
Fortunatel y, for the copier cost center , we have an intuitiv e cost driver: the number of copies.

Ideally, we can allocate indir ect costs according to their key cost driv er(s). An allocation basisis a
cost driv er thatÕs common to all the cost centers that incur an indir ect cost. For building space,for
example, we might find the portion of the total building space thatÕs occupied by the copier , and
allocate a proportionate shar e of the building space costs to the copier copy center.

For example, this particular county government allocates electricity costs to diff erent cost centers
per kilo watt hour (kW h). Sometimes itÕs feasibleto measure electricity usewith this level of precision,
and sometimes itÕs not. Assume that the copier in question hasan individualized meter that measures
its electricity use.

This government allocates building spacecosts per square foot. This assumesit has a reasonably
sophisticated way to measure how much space each cost center uses.Allocations by space can be
contentious becausenot every unit usesspacein quite the same way to accomplish its mission. For
instance, most of the Food Protection staff spend most of their time out in the field inspecting
restaurants. They report to the office at the beginning and end of the day, but infr equently during the
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day. This is quite diff erent fr om the Animals and Pets center, where most of the staff spend most of
their time in the office.
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These figur es also assume the government allocates the office managerÕs time to individual cost
centers. The office manager can do this if he or she tracks the amount of time they spend on work
related to each cost center. Some public organizations have such systems, and those systems are
often based on a billable hours concept, similar to that used by other professionals lik e lawyers or
accountants. M any do not.

Also note that the copier cost center does not itself receive overhead fr om other service centers.
We donÕtsee, for example, that the copier center receives a portion of the county administratorÕs
salary, insurance expenses,or other organization-wide indir ect costs. This is a policy choice. Some
public organizations do not requir e service centers to receive overhead costs, mostl y to keep down
the rates they must charge their internal clients. M any state and local governments have budgeting
rules that state programs that are independentlyfinanced,or paid for with specific feesor chargesrather
than general fund resources,do not need to allocate their indir ect costs or receive an indir ect cost
allocation.

That said, many public organizations do allocate overhead to internal cost centers. In fact, when
they do they typicall y use the step-downmethodof allocating indir ect costs. That is, they allocate
organization-wide indir ect costs to all cost centers first, then allocate service center costs, including
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their portion of the organization-wide indir ect costs, to the mission centers. With those assumptions
in p lace, recall that:

¥ Food Protection mission center a verages 500 copies each day. Assuming 260 work days/year,
thatÕs (500 copies X 260 days) or 130,000 copies. In this case 130,000 copies is therelevant
range, or the amount of activity upon w hich our cost anal ysis is based. If we assumed the Food
Protection mission center w ould r equir e twice as many copies, our per unit costs and cost
allocations w ould look quite diff erent. Good cost analysis follo ws from clear, defensible
assumptions about the relevant range of activity that will driv e costs.

¥ Animals and Pests mission center makes 250 copies each day, but makes many mor e in the
event of a communicable disease outbreak. Assuming no outbr eak, thatÕs (250 copies X 260
days) or 65,000 copies.

¥ Wastewater division mak es 100 copies/day, but up to 1,000 copies/day around six times per
year when processing complex permits. LetÕs assume a typical surge in copies for a complex
permit will last f or fiv e days. That would mean 240 typical days and 30 Òsurge daysÓ (i.e. six
permits X 5 days/permit ). So total copies for typical da ys are (100 copies X 230 days = 23,000
copies) and surge days are (1,000 copies X 30 days = 30,000 copies), for an annual total of
53,000 copies.

From these figur eswe can determine the copier will make (130,000 copies + 65,000 copies + 53,000
copies) or 248,000 copies each year. If we divide the full annual cost of the copier by the number of
copiers ($21,380/ 248,000 copies) we arriv e at unit costfor 248,000 copies of $.086/ copy (i.e. 8.6 cents
per copy).

With those full costs established, we must then ask how should the Envir onmental Health
department allocate the full costs of the copier cost center across the thr ee mission center
departments? Fortunatel y, this is easyto do becausethe copier cost center hasa clear cost object (cost
per copy) and eachdepartment/ cost center measuresthe number of copies it makes.As a result, each
department would be assignedcopier center indir ect costsat a rate of 8.6 cents/ copy. Food protection
would be assigned (130,000 copies X $.086/ copy) = $11,180. Animals and Pests would be assigned
(65,000 copies X .086/ copy) = $5,590. And Wastewater would be assigned (53,000 copies X $.086/
copy) = $4,558. With the right allocation basis itÕs possible to allocate any indir ect costs in a similar
way.

This copier example also shows why the cost center and cost object are so important. For instance,
imagine that the copier was defined not as one cost center but as separate cost centers for large
copying jobs (say, mor e than 500 copies) and small copying jobs, or for color copies vs.black and white
copies. This would also requir e diff erent cost objects, such as the Òcost per black and white copyÓ
or cost per color copy.ÓThe cost per black and white copy would presumably be less than the cost
per color copy, and the cost per copy for large print jobs would presumably be lessthan the cost per
copy for small jobs. Diff erent cost centers, cost objects, and allocation methods can mean substantiall y
diff erent answers to the question Òwhat does copying cost?Ó

One potential drawback of the step-down method is that it allows Òdouble countingÓ or Òcross-
allocationÓof service center costs to service centers that are already allocated to mission centers.
For example, recall that the annual full cost of the copier service center was $21,380. That full cost
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incorporated the indir ect costs of the office managerÕs time to manage the copier . Under the step-
down method, the cost of the office managerÕs time is allocated to the copier cost center, and the
copier cost center costs are then allocated across the mission centers. But what happens if the office
manager makescopies?Under this indir ect cost allocation schemethe office managerÕs copies would
not be reflected in the total volume of copies made, and the office manager would not receive any
of the copy centerÕs costs. As a result, the mission centers subsidize the office managerÕs copying by
absorbing a larger share of the copy centerÕs costs.

In this particular example those subsidies are probably a negligible amount. But in many other
scenarios cross-allocation of service center costs can have a major impact on the full cost of a good or
service. For instance, imagine a non-pr ofit organization with thr ee mission centers, a service center
for the executive dir ector, and a human resourcesservice center. The human resourcesservice center
spends most of its time interacting with the executive dir ector, as is often the case in small non-
profits. If this organization usesthe typical step-down approach, and it first allocates the executive
dir ectorÕscosts to the other service centers, then the full costsof the thr eemission centers will include
a sizable subsidy for the costs of the executive director-human r esource centerÕs interactions.

To addressthis problem many public organizations instead use the double-step-downmethod. After
each service center/ departmentÕs costs have been allocated once, each center/ departmentÕs cost not
included in the original allocation are totaled and allocated again. To illustrate, letÕs return to the
copy center-office manager example above. If this allocation were done with the double-step-do wn
method the office managerÕs copies would be included in the total copy figur e. The copy centerÕs
would first allocate its costs, excluding the office managerÕs copies, to the mission centers. Then in a
second step, the office managerÕs share of the copying costs would be allocated to the mission centers
in a separate allocation. This double-step method minimizes cr oss-allocation of service center costs.

1
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1. For mor e on cost allocation methods f or governments see several chapters in Zach M ohr , ed. (2016),Cost Accounting in Government: Theory and
Applications(New York: Routeledge); also see the chapter "Cost Accounting and Indir ect Costs" in Dittenhoff er and Stepnick, eds. (2007),
Applying Government Accounting Principles(Lexis-N exus Publishing).
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Cost driv ers and allocation baseswork well when the service in question has a clear cost objectiv e
and a measurable unit of service. M ost public organizations, as described above, donÕthave this
luxury . M any donÕtdeliver a service with a measurable outcome. M ost public organizationsÕcosts are
related to personnel, and personnel costs are not distributed evenly acrossclients or cases.M oreover,
a growing number of public services today are delivered thr ough partnerships and collaborations
where itÕs often not clear how costs are incurr ed, and murkier yet how those costs ought to be
allocated across the partner organizations. For these and many other reasons, traditional cost
allocation methods often donÕtwork in the public sector. And yet, itÕs still criticall y important to
measure and properl y account for full costs, including and especially indir ect costs that can be
difficult to measur e.

To address these problems many public organizations rely on indir ect cost rates. An indir ect cost
rateis a ratio of indir ect costs to dir ect costs.For instance, a city police department might determine
that its indir ect cost rate is 15%. That means that for every dollar of dir ect costs lik e police officer
salariesand squad cars, it will incur 15 cents of payroll processing,insurance, procurement expenses,
and other indir ect costs.
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LetÕs illustrate this with a mor e detailed example. Surv eys show that many local public health
departments would lik e to off er mor e services related to hypertension outr each and management.
Chr onic health conditions lik e heart disease and diabetes are kno wn to be related to high blood
pressure, so better management of high blood pressure can affect public health in a substantial,
positiv e way. But many citizens, especially those without health insurance, do not have accessto
regular blood pr essure screening and other services needed to identify and manage hypertension.

Say, for example that Cheng County and Duncombe County would lik e to launch a new, shared
hypertension prevention and management (HPM) program. Neither curr ently has a formal program
in this area, but both off er some of the services thr ough a patchwork of partnerships with local
non-pr ofits. Cheng County has roughly twice the population of Duncombe County , and Duncombe
CountyÕs per capita income and property v alues are 30-40% higher than ChengÕs.

What does it cost to deliver this service? As with most public health programs the main costs
will be related to personnel, namely public health nurses, outr eachcounselors, and nutritionists. The
program will also requir e spaceand other overhead costs. The outr each and education components
will requir e advertising, travel, and other costs. For a service sharing arrangement to work, the tw o
Counties must decide ho w to share these costs.

Suppose also the counties agree in advance to share the full costs evenly. This approach is simple
and straightf orw ard. However, it ignor esmany of the programÕs underl ying cost driv ers. Cheng hasa
much larger population than Duncombe, so mor e of the participants will probably come fr om County

A. Simp ly splitting thesecosts Ò50-50�meansDuncombe will lik ely subsidize Cheng, an arrangement
DuncombeÕs leaders might find unacceptable.

So whatÕs the alternativ e?Cheng could bill Duncombe for each Duncombe resident who
participates in the program. They could use an allocation basis lik e population or assessedproperty
values. A mor e cutting -edge scheme might be to share the costs according to the incidence of the
chronic diseasesthe HPM program is designed to prevent. Each of these strategies demands a trade-
off. Some are simpler, but at the expenseof fairness. Some requir e cost measurement that might be
expensive or inf easible. Others are mor e feasible, but might place costs dispr oportionatel y on the
population the pr ogram is designed to serve.

To begin, letÕs assumeCheng will structur e the new HPM asa cost center within the Health Behaviors
division of its Public Health department. LetÕs also assumealso that since HPMÕs main ÒdeliverableÓ
will be blood pressure screening, it will define its unit cost as the cost per blood pressure screening
performed.

Giv en those assumptions, Cheng CountyÕs budget analysts estimate that for the first year of
operations, the HPM pr ogram will serv e 400 clients, and its cost will include:

¥ Dir ect Labor. This includes seven full -time and one half -time licensed nurse practitioners
who can administer blood pr essure screening. Annual salaries for these nurses is $67,108. The
program will also emp loy a health counselor w ho will guide clients on ho w to manage
hypertension thr ough healthier eating and fitness. The counselorÕs annual salary is $73,815.

¥ Dir ect Non-Labor . Nurses and the counselor will need to tra vel to visit clients and deliv er
outr each programs. Staff estimate total tra vel of 20,120 miles of tra vel at $.325/mile. The
HPM pr ogram will also r equir e medical supplies, office supplies, and a few capital items.
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Budget staff estimate $6,142 of annual dir ect non-labor costs f or each nurse, and $7,566 of
dir ect non-labor costs f or the counselor . This diff erence is due to a heavier expected travel
schedule for the counselor . The program will also ex ecute an annual contract, valued at
$14,939, with a communications consultant w ho will dev elop and deliver a healthy eating
outr each marketing eff ort in both counties. E ven though most of these costs are related to
labor , here theyÕre considered non-labor ÒcontractualÓ costs.

¥ Indir ect Labor. Cheng CountyÕs Health Behaviors M anager will supervise the HP M staff, and
Cheng CountyÕs Executive will pr ovide policy dir ection and other leadership. A portion of
both administratorsÕ salaries are allocated to HPM as indir ect labor costs. HPM staff will also
incur indir ect labor costs like payroll support, accounting and auditing services, and
procurement support. Budget staff estimate $10,456 of annual indir ect labor costs for each
nurse, and $8,519 of direct non-labor costs f or the counselor .

¥ Indir ect Non-Labor . HPM staff must also have access to office space, liability insurance,
association memberships, and other indir ect non-labor costs. Budget staff estimates annual
indir ect non-labor costs of $4,799 f or each nurse and counselor.

With that inf ormation and a few additional assumptions, we can begin to detail HPMÕs cost structur e
and compute some indir ect costs rates. See the table below.
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The first section of this table lists HPMÕsdir ect, ÒobservableÓcosts.We kno w the program will employ
nurses and counselors, and we kno w it will demand mileage and the communications contract as
dir ect, non-labor costs. These ÒobservableÓdir ect costs total $598,603, or $1,496/ client given the
estimated 400 clients.

But the much mor e important question is how do we account for the indir ect costs, and for the
dir ect costs that are mor e difficult to observe?The lower part of this table outlines those costs.When
we include the indir ect labor and indir ect non-labor costs we seethe full cost of the program incr ease
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to $758,487, or $1,896/ client. Or , put diff erently, the full cost of the program incr easesby mor e than
26%if we include all the indir ect costs in our estimate of the full costs.Recall that Cheng County plans
to bill Duncombe County for DuncombeÕsshareof the program costs.If Cheng bills only for the dir ect
costs, it ÒunderchargesÓDuncombe by nearly 26%.ThatÕs why itÕs criticall y important to measure full
costs, especially when pricing services or r equesting reimbursements for expenses incurred.

What about potential indir ect cost rates?According to these figur es,76% of the full cost to employ
a nurse is dir ect labor costs and 7% is dir ect non-labor costs. It follo ws that the remaining 17% is
indir ect costs related in a predictable way to those dir ect costs. Each nurse and the counselor will
be insur ed, will have their payroll processed by the payroll office, will occupy space in an office
within a County building, and so on. If those figur es are predictable, we can assume the curr ent
indir ect cost rate for nurses is 17%. For counselors the dir ect costs are a bit higher at 86%, for an
indir ect cost rate of 14%. In practice, this means that in futur e budgets the HPM program could
simply assumethat for every dollar it will spend on nurses salaries, it can expect to incur 17 cents of
indir ect costs,and for every dollar its will spend on counselorÕs salaries it can expect to incur 14 cents
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of indir ect costs.Some organizations compute indir ect cost rates based only on dir ect labor costs.
In that casethe rate for nurses would be the indir ect costs divided by just the dir ect labor costs, or
(($10,456+$4,799)/$67,108, or just under 23%.

We can also think about an indir ect cost rate for the entir e HPM program. For that we simply
compare the total indir ect costs to the total dir ect costs. Total indir ect costs for the nurses
are (($10,456+ $4,799) X 7.5) = $114,413 and for the counselors are (($8,519+ $4,799) X 1) = $13,318,
for total indir ect costs of $127,731. Total dir ect costs for the nurses are (($67,108 + $6,142) X 7.5)
= $549,375 and for the counselor are (($73,815 + $7,566) X 1) = $81,318, for total dir ect costs of
$630,756. So the overall indir ect cost rate is $127,731/$630,756, or 20%. Again, all these figur es
assume the HPM pr ogram serves 400 clients.

Inf ormation about indir ect cost rates is relevant to many types of decisions. For instance:

¥ HPM staff might compar e their indir ect cost rate to the rates of other pr ograms within Cheng
County go vernment. If its rates ar e noticeably higher or lo wer, it might mor e carefull y review
its cost structur e and how it manages its costs. If its rates seem grossly out of line with other
units it might r equest an additional r eview by Cheng CountyÕs budget staff.

¥ The counties might use these rates when applying f or f ederal or state grants, or for support
fr om philanthr opic f oundations, to support the HP M pr ogram.

¥ The counties might ev entuall y decide to contract out some or all of HP MÕs operations to a
non-pr ofit health car e provider . In that case these rates would be a focal point f or negotiating
the per client rate at w hich the counties w ould r eimburse a prospective contractor .

¥ Other go vernments might r eview these rates as an initial indicator of w hether they can afford
their o wn HP M pr ogram.
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Traditional cost allocation works best when itÕs possible to observe where and when and where all
the costs are incurr ed. When that inf ormation is not available, as is often the case for partnership
arrangements that span multip le organizations, there are several alternativ e other ways to organize a
cost allocation plan. To illustrate, assumethe full annual cost of HPM was$800,000, and that Cheng
County must bill Duncombe County f or Duncombe CountyÕs share of those costs.

¥ Equal share. Total costs are divided equally across all participating partners. This is mor e
typical f or inf ormal and arrangements. I tÕs also common for pr eventativ e services and other
activities w here itÕs not clear who ÒreceivesÓ or ÒusesÓ the service, or to observe all the relevant
indir ect costs in a predictable and consistent way. That said, in equal share approaches one
partner often subsidizes the other , sometimes unknowingl y. In the HPM examp le, Cheng
would k eep $400,000 of the costs and bill Duncombe its equal share of $400,000.

¥ Per capita. Total costs are divided by the proportion of the population that r esides in each
partner jurisdiction. This appr oach is good for services without an observ able ÒclientÓ or
discrete individual services. I tÕs less useful when population size is not the best cost driv er, or
when the populations in volved are diff erent on some key characteristic that might aff ect
utilization of the service in question. P er capita sharing is often the most transpar ent way to
share costs. In the HPM case, recall that ChengÕs population is 240,000 and DuncombeÕs
population is 160,000. In other w ords, 60% of the population served resides in Cheng and 40%
resides in Duncombe. Under a per capita model, Cheng would bill Duncombe $320,000.

¥ Cost Plus Fixed Fee. Personnel costs are often step-fix ed cost, and it can be quite challenging to
kno w w hen those costs will Òstep upÓ a higher levels of service delivery. To account for that
uncertainty , some cost allocation strategies call for non-w eighted cost sharing plus some fixed
periodic f ee. The fee part of the plan is designed to buffer the sharing arrangement against the
uncertainty that surr ounds step-fix ed costs (mor e on this below). For HPM, one potential
application of this method w ould be for the counties to share costs per capita, but for Cheng
to r eceive an annual payment of $35,000 at the start of its fiscal y ear to compensate in advance
should it need to hir e an additional nurse during the y ear. The cost plus fix ed fee model also
can be used in an arrangement where the overhead for having the service Ð space, utilities,
administration, accounting, etc. Ð w ould be shared one way, such as equally, and incremental
costs, such as those for lab w ork or medical supp lies, are charged based on volume.

¥ Ability to Pay. Some cost allocation arrangements are designed to make a service available
where citizens and clients are otherwise not able to pay for it. In these cases it makes sense to
allocate costs according to ability to pa y. We can measure ability to pa y thr ough assessed
property v alues, median household income, or some other measure of relative wealth. In the
HPM examp le, consider the follo wing scenario: DuncombeÕs median household income is
$50,000 and ChengÕs is $40,000. Duncombe has a smaller population but is wealthier . In this
case, the ratio of DuncombeÕs median household income to ChengÕs is 1.25 ($50,000/$40,000).
This is commonl y kno wn as awealth factor. Recall that an equal share allocation is $400,000
for each jurisdiction. If that equal shar e is adjusted by the wealth factor , then DuncombeÕs
share is $400,000 X 1.25, or $500,000, and ChengÕs is $300,000.
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¥ Prevalence. In this method, the parties shar e costs according to the pr evalence of the public
health pr oblem the service is designed to address. In the HPM examp le, the partners could
share the total pr ogram costs according to observ ed instances of diabetes or heart disease. The
logic her e is simple: diabetes and heart disease tell us something about the expected number of
people with h ypertension. If the pr evalence of the disease is not known, the partners can use a
proxy, like socioeconomic status, to project the anticipated need f or services in each
population. In the HP M examp le, DuncombeÕs higher overall w ealth suggests its residents are
at lower risk f or hypertension compar ed to Cheng residents. Sharing by prevalence adds
substantial comp lexity because cost sharing is now based on data from a series of
measurements not dir ectly related to costs. In this case, those measurements are the incidence
of disease or an indicator of socioeconomic status, w hich can be difficult to measur e reliably,
and other health r elated behaviors lik e smoking or medication adher ence. That said, this
approach is especially good where population, pr operty v alues, income, and other measures
vary too much among sharing jurisdictions to off er meaningful comparisons. T o apply it in his
example, assume that Cheng will have an estimated 12,740 cases of type 2 diabetes during the
coming y ear, and Duncombe County will ha ve an estimated 5,460 cases. This strategy
considers each countyÕs share of the total incidence acr oss both counties. According to that
logic, 70 percent of the total cases will be found in Cheng, and 30 percent in Duncombe.
Allocating costs this w ay leads to a share of $560,000 for Cheng and $240,000 for Duncombe.
Some versions of pr evalence also incorporate a moving average so that one community does
not incur huge costs in a single year, and costs are instead recovered over time.

¥ Weighted formula. This plan addresses some of the big problems with the per capita sharing
approach. For example, in a weighted formula appr oach, the participants might agr ee to share
total costs according to a combination of population, median household income, usage, and
other factors. By incorporating these other factors, the cost apportionment method will better
reflect diff erences in fixed costs in urban vs. rural areas, differences in travel distances within
each county, and other factors that aff ect service delivery costs. For HPM, assume that Cheng
and Duncombe decide to share HPM costs according to a thr ee-factor f ormula that
incorporates population, ability to pa y, and prevalence of type 2 diabetes. This formula
reflects both countiesÕ shared understanding of the cost structur e and cost drivers of the HPM
program. The counties, realizing the diff erence in the prevalence of type 2 diabetes, agree to
mor e heavil y weight that diff erence in prevalence in the cost sharing formula. They agr ee to a
thr ee-factor f ormula w here population accounts f or 25 percent, prevalence is 50 percent, and
ability to pa y is 25 percent of the total costs allocated to each county. Recall that
Cheng accounts for 60 percent of the population serv ed by HPM, and Duncombe accounts f or
40 percent. At the same time, Cheng accounts for 70 percent of the pr evalence factor and
Duncombe f or 30 percent. We would apply that f ormula as:

� Cheng County: $800,000 X ((.6 X .25) + (.7 X .5) + (.44 X .25)) = $488,000;

� Duncombe County: $800,000 Ð $488,000 = $312,000

� �� �)�%+ �# �&*+ � ��&,%+ %�

In the previous section weexplained how to measure the full cost of apublic service. Those techniques

��� ".23  - + 82(2
Finan cial Str at egy f or Public Mana ger s | 166



assume weÕre measuring the cost of the service for a given level or volume of the service. Until
now, for instance, weÕve assumed our hypothetical HPM program will serve 400 clients a year. But
sometimes the mor e inter esting question is: How do a programÕs costs change if we deliver mor e
or less of it? For instance, how does HPMÕs cost per client change if we expanded it to 500 clients?
Or restricted it to 300 clients? These questions sound simple, but they requir e careful attention to
a diff erent set of concepts. When we want to kno w how costs change in spaceand time, we turn to
differential costaccounting. Diff erential cost accounting is, simply put, comparing how full costs change
at diff erent levels of output.

".23 !$' 5(.1

We kno w that what a service costs depends in large part on how much of it we deliver. This is broadly
kno wn as cost behavior. Every type of cost falls into one of thr ee different cost behavior categories:

¥ Fixed costsdo not change in r esponse to the amount of service provided. In the HP M case the
main fix ed cost is the nursesÕ salaries. They are paid the same regardless of the number of
blood pr essure screenings or other outputs they Òproduce.Ó Same for the counselor . They are
paid the same salary regardless of the number of counseling sessions performed. Cheng
County owns some of its own blood pr essure screening equipment, so the costs of acquiring
equipment costs wonÕt change even if the HPM pr ogram deliv ers a lot more blood pressure
screenings.And so forth.

¥ Variable costschange directly in r esponse to the amount of service provided. For the HPM
program this might include copies and other office supp lies needed to process physician
referrals, or mileage requir ed to travel to outr each sessions, among others.

¥ Step-Fixedor Mix ed Costshave both a fixed and a variable component. In most cases a step-
fix ed cost is fixed over some range of output and then incr eases or Òsteps upÓ at some higher
level of service volume. For example, if the HPM pr ogram grows substantially it might need to
add additional nurses and counselors. If that happens the nursesÕ and health counselorÕs direct
labor costs could be step-fix ed costs. For instance, if the pr ogram grows enough to requir e an
additional counselor , these salary and benefit costs will Òstep upÓ at a given level of pr ogram
enrollment.
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The figur e below illustrates the these cost behavior concepts for a generic, hypothetical service. The
horizontal axis is the quantity of service provided, and the vertical axis is total cost. The line at $50,
representsa fix ed cost. It does not change, regardless of the level of service provided. The triangle-
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marked line identifies a variable cost. Here we seeeach additional unit of service incr easesthe total
cost by $10, and that change is constant fr om 0 to 3 units of service. The line marked with squares
shows a step-fix ed cost. Here the cost is fix ed at $20 fr om 0 to 30 units of service. Once we reach 4
units of service that total cost steps up to $40, w here it stays fixed until seven units of service.

ItÕs useful to think about a program or service with reference to thesemain cost behaviors. In fact, we
can place most programs/ services/organization units into one of six cost behavior categories. Those
categories are outlined below, along with examples of eachfr om typical non-pr ofit organizations and
government pr ograms.

ItÕs immensely helpful to think about cost behavior when we have to make decisions about how to
design and fund programs. Consider this simple example based on the previously-mentioned HPM
program.

HPM staff have some rough budget projections for FY2017. Their program is expected to incur
fix ed costs of $800,000 and variable costs of $400 per client. The program has expanded a lot since
it launched, and it now expects to serve 550 clients, but could serve up to 600 with curr ent staffing
levels. M eanwhile, nearby M atkin County has off ered to pay $750/ client to expand the program to
include an additional 50 M atkin County residents. Should Cheng and Duncombe counties agree to
partner with M atkin County on these terms?

��� ".23  - + 82(2
Finan cial Str at egy f or Public Mana ger s | 168

https://press.rebus.community/app/uploads/sites/16/2016/07/cost_behavior.jpg


�?CD�*DBE4DEB6C�G:D9� <<ECDB2D:?>C

�:B64D  >5:B64D

�:H65

3TKD><G�>JNO�DO@HN��2<G<MD@?�KMJBM<H�NO<AA�/MJBM<H�NK@>D_>
A<>DGDOD@N

/MJBM<HN�RDOC�OCDN�>JNO�NOMP>OPM@�O@I?�OJ�

\ '< Q@�HJNOGT�N<G<MD@?�NO<AA�OC<O�RJMF�<>MJNN�<�A@R
KMJBM<HN

\ '< Q@�GJR�JM�IJ�JQ@MC@<?

$S<HKG@�KMJBM<H��#MJK�DI�>@IO@M�AJM�CJH@G@NN�TJPOC

3TKD><G�>JNO�DO@HN��K<TMJGG�N@MQD>@N��A<>DGDOD@N
H<DIO@I<I>@

/MJBM<HN�RDOC�OCDN�>JNO�NOMP>OPM@�O@I?�OJ�

\ '< Q@�HJNOGT�N<G<MD@?�NO<AA�OC<O�N@MQ@
HPGODKG@�KMJBM<HN�PIDON

\  GGJ><O@�OC@DM�>JNON�OJ�JOC@M�PIDON�JI�<
Z=DGG<=G@�CJPMN[�JM�NDHDG<M�<GGJ><ODJI�=<NDN

$S<HKG@�KMJBM<H��#@Q@GJKH@IO�API?M<DNDIB�NO<AA
<O�<�G<MB@�IJI�KMJ_O

- 2B:23<6

3TKD><G�>JNO�DO@HN��/MJBM<H�NK@>D_>�DIQ@IOJMT��@LPDKH@IO��JM
BJJ?N�PN@?�=T�NK@>D_>�KMJBM<H�K<MOD>DK<ION

/MJBM<HN�RDOC�OCDN�>JNO�NOMP>OPM@�O@I?�OJ�

\ %J>PN�JI�ZDIQ@IOJMT�H<I<B@H@IO[

\ %J>PN�JI�ZNPMB@�><K<>DOT[

$S<HKG@�KMJBM<HN��%JJ?�=<IFN��>JPIOT�KMJN@>POJM�CJH@
?@O@IODJI�KMJBM<HN��D
@
�Z<IFG@�HJIDOJMN[�

3TKD><G�>JNO�DO@HN�DIQ@IOJMT��@LPDKH@IO�
>JHHJ?DOD@N

/MJBM<HN�RDOC�OCDN�>JNO�NOMP>OPM@�O@I?�OJ�

\  GGJ><O@�OC@DM�>JNON�OJ�JOC@M�PIDON�=T
JPOKPON

\ %J>PN�JI�DIQ@IOJMT�H<I<B@H@IO

$S<HKG@�KMJBM<H��/MJ>PM@H@IO�NO<AARDOCDI�<�IJI�
KMJ_O�CJNKDO<G

*D6@��:H65

3TKD><G�>JNO�DO@HN�'JPMGT�KMJBM<H�NO<AA��NC<M@?�A<>DGDOD@N�JM
@LPDKH@IO

/MJBM<HN�RDOC�OCDN�>JNO�NOMP>OPM@�O@I?�OJ�

\ %J>PN�JIK<MOD>DK<IO�OJ�NO<AA�M<ODJN

\ %J>PN�JI�@IMJGGH@IO�><KN��R<DOGDNON��JOC@M�@IMJGGH@IO
H<I<B@H@IO�NOM<O@BD@N

$S<HKG@�KMJBM<H��-JI�KMJ_O�<AO@M�N>CJJG�?<T><M@�KMJBM<H

3TKD><G�>JNO�DO@HN��GD<=DGDOT�DINPM<I>@��NC<M@?
A<>DGDOD@N

/MJBM<HN�RDOC�OCDN�>JNO�NOMP>OPM@�O@I?�OJ�

\  GGJ><O@�OC@DM�>JNON�OJ�JOC@M�PIDON�<>>JM?DIB
OJ�ZEJ=N[�JM�Z@IB<B@H@ION[

\ ,<MF@O�OC@DM�N@MQD>@N�JPOND?@�OC@DM�CJH@
JMB<IDU<ODJI

$S<HKG@�KMJBM<H��$HKGJT@@�<NNDNO<I>@�KMJBM<H�<O
<�IJI�KMJ_O�CJNKDO<G

HPMÕs cost behavior is outlined in the table below. Giv en its projected fix ed and variable costs, at
550 clients the average per client cost is $1,855. If HPM scalesup to serve 600 clients, its average
cost will decreaseto $1,734/ client. However, that average cost of $1,734 is still much higher than
the $750/ client that M atkin county off ering. On the basis of ÒaverageÓunit costs, this proposal is a
definite Òno goÓ for Cheng and Duncombe.

�'$�'B?8B 2=��?CD��2<4E<2D:?>C

��JA�"GD@ION%DS@?�"JNON5<MD<=G@�"JNON3JO<G�"JNON Q@M<B@�"JNO�"GD@IO

��� �������� �������� ���������� ������

��� �������� �������� ���������� ������

��� �������� �������� ���������� ������

However, keep in mind the relationship between fix ed and variable costs.Recall that HPM staff have
said they can add 50 mor e clients without taking on additional fix ed costs. If thatÕs true then the new
cost to add a client is only the additional variable cost. Put diff erently, the average cost of each client
is $1,734, but the marginal cost, or the cost of a new client, is $400. If HPM is reimbursed $750/ client,
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the additional ÒprofitÓ is $350. If HPM makes this decision Òat the margin,Óor with reference only to
the marginal cost, it should take the deal with M atkin County . This is a good example of a service with
a positiv e economiesof scale; the marginal cost of eachunit of service decreasesasthe volume of service
delivered increases.

Of course, there are trade-offs here. At 600 clients the HPM program will operate at full capacity.
HPM staff will almost certainl y have to spend lesstime with clients. This could lead to a decline in the
service quality , and could even incr easestaff burnout and turno ver. But if we look just at the marginal
cost, it makes sense for M atkin County to join the pr ogram.

This example also illustrates the key concept of sunk costs. M any fix ed costs are for capital items
lik e equipment, land, and buildings that can be bought and sold. A public health department can, in
concept at least, recover some of those costs by selling those capital items. However, HPMÕs spending
on employeesalaries,training, insurance, and many other costs cannot be recovered. Those costs are
sunk.

Some economists argue that sunk costs ought to be irr elevant to futur e decisions. In other words,
at the margin, all that matters is the futur e, measurable, variable costs. Of course, this is difficult in
practice. In the HPM case,scaling up to full capacity will mean additional stresson staff, and perhaps
mor e important, it would mean giving up the opportunity to take on additional clients without taking
on additional fix ed costs. These costs are much harder to measure, but they are key components
of decisions about cost sharing. The key takeaway here is that when considering a service sharing
arrangement, be sure to consider both the marginal costs, and the opportunity costs.

".23 �5 .+4,$�/1 .%(3  - + 82(2

So far weÕve reviewed how public managers can identify the full cost of their services, and how that
full cost changes as they deliver mor e or less of a service. Those are crucial questions that all good
managers can answer.

However, public managersmust often confr ont a diff erent question: What should we charge for this
service?TheyÕre also routinel y asked a corollary question: What volume of service should we deliver,
given that serviceÕs cost structur e?

To answer these questions we turn to a particular set of concepts within diff erential cost
accounting, kno wn as cost-volume-profit analysis (CVP). CVP is how an organization determines the
volume of activity needed to achieve its profit or mission goal, the price it needsto charge to achieve
its profit or mission goal, or the cost limits that it must managewithin to achieve its profit or mission
goal.

CVP analysis is usually done for a particular program or service within an organization. The basic
equation is:

'B?OD���+?D2<�B6F6>E6�K�+?D2<�4?CDC

From this discussion so far we also kno w that total costs = Fixed costs + Variable costs. And since
fix ed costs are fixed, we can represent the cost equation as:

+����2���3 H

Where TC = total costs, a = fix ed costs, and b = variable costs. We also kno w that total revenue is
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simply the price of a service (p) times the volume of service delivered (v). That said, we can show the
fundamental profit equationas:

'B?OD���@H�K��2���3H�

For any service, the break-evenvolumeis the point at which total revenue (px) equals total costs (a +
bx). To illustrate how we use this formula, letÕs go back to the Envir onmental Health DepartmentÕs
copier . Assumefor the moment that the county governmentÕs leadership wants to make copying mor e
affordable, so it capsthe price of copying at 7 cents per copy. At that price, how many copies must the
copier center deliv er each year to break-even. In other w ords, whatÕs its annual break-even volume?

We kno w that the copier cost centerÕs fix ed costs (a) include $6,000 for the machine rental, $900 for
machine maintenance and $1,500 for its spaceallocation. LetÕs also assumeelectricity and the office
managerÕs time allocation are fix ed costs of $180 and $100, respectively. So total annual fix ed costs
are ($6,000 + $900 + $1,500 + $180 + $100) or $8,680.

Variable costs (b) are the largest cost items. Recall that last year the copier made 248,000 copies.
Total paper costs were $10,000, so the per copy cost for paper is ($10,000/ 248,000), or $.04/ copy.
Total printing cartridge costs were $2,700, so the per copy cost for printing cartridges was ($2,700/
248,000), or $.011/cop y. These two variable costs together give us total variable costs of $.051/cop y.

At break-even, profit = 0, so we can re-arrange the fundamental profit equation to px = a + bx. Since
the price per copy is capped, per managementÕs policy , at $.07, we can then expressthis equation as
.07x = $8,680 + .051x. To solve, we first subtract .051x fr om both sides, so weÕre left with .019x =
$8,680. To solve for x we divide both sidesby .019, and weÕre left with x = 456,842. In other words, at
7 cents per copy, the copier cost centerÕs break-evenquantity is 456,842 copies. ThatÕs nearly twice as
many copies as it produced in FY2015. M anagement might w ant to r ethink this decision.

Note that we can also express break-even quantity as a/(p-b ). Arranged this way, the
previous quantity is $8,680/($.07 Ð $.051), or $8,680/$.019 = 456,842. The quantity (p-b) is the
contribution margin, or how much price exceedsvariable costs. Break-even quantity is, in some ways,
finding how many units of volume we need to spread the contribution margin across to arriv e at
break-even.

LetÕs ask a diff erent question. Assume for the moment that the copier technician says the curr ent
copier is aging and will lik ely break down if asked to make mor e than 150,000 copies per year. At that
volume, how should the copier cost center adjust its prices so it continues to br eak even?

Here we re-arrange the formula once again, this time as p = (a/x) + b. In other words, the break-
even price is the fix ed costs divided by the volume, plus the variable cost per unit. For the copier cost
center this is ($8,680/150,000) + $.051, or (.0579 + .051) = .1089. Put diff erently, if capped at 150,000
copies, the copier cost center would need to charge 10.89 cents per copy to break even. Once again,
management should take a careful look bef ore implementing this policy .

The copier cost center is a useful illustration, but itÕs also an outlier becausemost of its costs are
variable costs. This is typical in for-pr ofit manufacturing, logistics, and other industries, but atypical
among public organizations. For a mor e common public organization example letÕs return to the
HPM pr ogram.

Recall fr om earlier that HPM hasestimated fix ed costs (a) of $800,000 and variable costs (b) of
$400/ client. Say HPMÕs management wants to keep the program relatively small to ensure a quality
service, so it decides to limit its enrollment to 400 clients. At that volume (x), its break-even price
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is ($800,000/ 400) + $400, or $2,400/ client. If management is willing to expand enrollment to 500
clients, the break even price becomes ($800,000/500) + $400, or $2,000/client.

In another CVP scenario, management reports that governments and philanthr opies will pay a
maximum of $1,800/ client to participate in the HPM program. At that price, what is HPMÕs break-
even quantity ?Once again, the formula is a/(p-b ), or $800,000/($1,800-$400 ), or 571 clients. To break
even at that comparativ ely low price and contribution margin ($1,800-$400, or $1,400) the program
will need to serv e substantially mor e clients than it has served recently.

The table below summarizes these various cost-volume-pr ofit calculations.
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CVP is a powerful tool that can dir ectly illuminate many important management decisions. M ost
CVP today is done in spreadsheetsto allow for maximum flexibility when exploring alternativ e cost
scenarios, especially when analyzing services with step-fix ed costs. That said, itÕs still important to
understand the basic concepts.
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Once weÕve identified a program or serviceÕs cost structur e, we can take our first steps toward
preparing its budget. A budgetis simply a plan for what an organization wants to accomplish, and
the resources it will use to accomplish it. Public organizationsÕbudgets are particularl y important.
For state and local governments, the budget is the law. It describes the taxes and other resources
the government intends to collect, and since taxpayers must pay those taxes, it follo ws that the
government must spend those resources in accordance with the budget. Recall fr om the earlier
discussion that the budget is one of citizen Õs most important tools to hold their government
accountable. ThatÕs why. Non-pr ofitsÕbudgets donÕthave the force of law, but theyÕre also criticall y
important. Why?Becauseif a non-pr ofit deviates substantiall y fr om its budget, its funders and donors
will question its ability to mak e good on its promises and accomplish its mission.

Budgets are made and organized many diff erent ways (seethe next chapter). But regardless of an
organization Õs overall budget process,effective cost accounting is paramount to effective budgeting
and management, particularl y at the program or service level. Public managers must kno w what
portion of the costs for which theyÕre responsible are fix ed, variable, and step-fix ed. They must also
understand how diff erent cost items connect to service delivery outputs, and how their cost center
is assigned indir ect costs. And perhaps most important, they must understand how their programÕs
cost structur e and cost behavior will change under diff erent performance scenarios. ThatÕs why the
best budgets are flexible budgets. A flexible budgetallows a manager to quickl y and easily perform
sensitivity analysis to explor e how changesin key cost assumptions affect a programÕs unit costs,total
costs, and service-delivery volume.

Flexible budgeting f ollo ws a basic four step pr ocess:
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1. Identify types of output or activity . Sometimes those levels of activity corr espond to cost
centers. Sometimes theyÕre related to programs or Òlines of businessÓ within cost centers.
Sometimes they corr espond to entir e departments or divisions, especiall y if that
department or division deliv ers a single good or service.

2. Collect cost and price data. For most budget -making the best sour ce of data on costs and
prices is last yearÕs budget. Unless youÕre tasked with dev eloping a budget for a new service
(and some day you will!), pa y careful attention to past budget tr ends. There are two basic
types of costs reflected in most public organizationsÕ budgets: operating costs and capital
costs. Operating costs are costs incurred through the organization Õs regular, year-to-y ear
activities lik e salaries, benefits, and training. Capital costs are related to capital assets like
property , equipment, and buildings. Recall that the portion of a capital asset thatÕs Òused upÓ
each year is reflected in the organization Õs depreciation expense.

3. Classify inputs. Every organization classifies its cost inputs a bit diff erently. For a simple
budget itÕs appropriate to classify the spending inputs in br oad objects of expenditurelik e
ÒsalariesÓ or Òcommodities,Ó and to call the revenue inputs Òservice revenues,Ó Òfees,Ó or some
other appr opriate br oad label. Some organizations prepare budgets using the same chart of
accounts used to prepare the basic financial statements. Others have much mor e detailed
budget item codesto identify specific types of budget inputs. The k ey to a classification
scheme is that itÕs consistent as possible. Once you make a budget with it, mak e every
budget with it.

4. Develop a cost rateor unit costfor each key budget input. A cost rateis a measure, usually
expressed as a unit of time, of the resources needed tostaff a service. Aunit costis the cost to
acquire or produce a unit of a good or service.

For most public organizations personnel costs are the largest and most visible budget inputs. ThatÕs
why effective budgeting for public organizations starts, and often ends, with careful attention to
budgeting f or personnel. So letÕs illustrate this f our step pr ocess with a personnel budgeting example.

Oz County just elected a county executive who ran on a Òtoughon crimeÓplatform. On his first day
in office the new executive asks his budgeting staff to figur e out what it will cost to add thr ee new
sheriff patr ols. From past budgets the staff can make a few assumptions:

¥ Patrols are for 24 hours/da y, 365 days/year.

¥ The SheriffÕs union contract species that each patrol must have 2 officers per patr ol car, and
that officers will w ork 8 hours per da y, 5 days per week. All sheriffs also receive three weeks
of vacation and 1 week of sick leave per year.

¥ Also assume that cars will be staffed with tw o officers.

¥ The average patrol officer salary is $31,472, and benefits account for an additional 30% of
each officerÕs salary.

These figur essuggestthat, lik e with most personnel budgeting, we ought to think about a cost rate as
a unit of staff time requir ed to deliver the services.M any personnel budgeting scenarios are basedon
hours of staff time. In this particular scenario letÕs go with the number of patrol hours needed to staff
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a complete shift. From there,we can determine how many officers we need,and how much to budget
for those officers.

Those calculations are as follo ws, based on the assumptions outlined above:

¥ Thr ee shifts per patrol X 3 patr ols per day X 2 officers per car X 365 da ys = 6,570 shifts per
year

¥ 6,570 shifts per year X 8 hours = 52,560 patrol hours per y ear
We then determine the number of hours or shifts one patr ol officer can provide:

� 52 weeks per year X 5 days per week = 260 potential shifts

� 4 weeks per year X 5 days per week = 20 vacation/sick lea ve days per year

� 260 days Ð 20 non-work days = 240 labor days X 8 hours = 1,920 hours per year

¥ Calculate the requir ed number of full -time officers = 52,560 additional hours/1,920 hours per
officer per y ear = 27.38 officers; round up to 28 officers

To budget for these new officers w e can assume:

¥ Salary costs: 28 officers X $31,472 = $881,216

¥ Benefit costs: $881,216 X .3 = $264,365

¥ Total costs = $1,145,581

In other words, this budget analysissuggestsOz County will need to hir e 28 additional officers to staff
the executiveÕs desired thr eenew shifts, and those 28 officers will requir e $1,145,581 in new budgeted
spending. Ideally, youÕd prepare this analysis in a flexible, spreadsheet-based, budget that allows you
to quickl y explor e new scenarios from diff erent assumptions.

What about a scenario where most of the key input items are variable costs?Here weÕd use the unit
cost method. The steps for that method ar e as follo ws:

1. Project the demand for the service
2. Estimate the resources consumed per unit of output
3. Determine the average cost per unit of output
4. M ultip ly these three items together to determine the appr opriate budgeted amounts

To illustrate, letÕs return to the HPM program and focus on the counselorÕs travel costs. Recall that
the counselor travels to deliver outr eachprograms on healthy eating and active lif estyles,all designed
to prevent hypertension among Cheng and Duncombe County residents. LetÕs assume that for the
coming fiscal year the number of programs will be a bit lower than in previous years, but robust
nonetheless:

¥ HPM staff pr oject 175 outr each programs

¥ The average mileage per outreach program is 75 miles, and the rate per mile is $.325

¥ 175 programs X 75 miles per pr ogram X $.33/mile = $4,331
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In this case,the unit costÓand the object of expenditur eÓare the same thing Ð individual outr each
programs. And once again, weÕd ideally set this analysis up as a flexible, spreadsheet-based budget.
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By now it should be clear that the princip les of cost behavior , diff erential cost analysis, and cost
sharing suggesta variety of management strategies. For instance, for organizations with mostl y fix ed
costs one of the best approaches to manage costs and bolster profitability is to Òscale up.ÓSince
fix ed costs are fix ed, one way to manage them is to spread them across the largest possible volume
of service. However, for organizations with mostl y variable costs, scaling up will simply incr ease
variable costs.The better approach in that cir cumstance is to invest in new technology , procurement
processes,or other strategies that can driv e down variable costs. With the core princip les of cost
analysis established, it becomes clear how a public organization Õs cost behavior might be most
effectively managed.

ItÕs also essential to consider how an organization Õs financial management strategy is contingent on
the parts of its cost structur e it can contr ol. Or in other words, how much of its costs are dir ect and
under the contr ol of its management, and how much of its costs are indir ect and assigned to it by
management? For example, organizations with mostl y dir ect costs often find themselves Òscrubbing
expensesÓ(seethe previous chapter) becausethey have the authority and ability to affect those costs.
However, organizations with mostl y indir ect costsare mor e lik ely to partner with other organizations
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asa way to leverage economies of scale,diversify their potential customer/ client base,or accessnew
technologies or pr ocesses they might not have the authority to pursue on their o wn.

When we consider thesetw o main parts of an organization Õs cost structur e Ð dir ect vs. indir ect, and
fix ed vs.variable vs.step-fix ed Ð we begin to seea set of attenuated management strategies.The table
below lists some of those strategies.
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For example, in the bottom left section we seefinancial management strategies commonl y employed
by organizations with primaril y dir ect, step-fix ed costs.For these organizations, the key is managing
work flo w. As their volume incr eases,so do their fix ed costs. In turn, many organizations of this
type work to spread their fix ed costs within whichever step their fix ed costs curr ently stand. That
means maximizing staff to client ratios at all times, including queuing up clients with waiting lists or
staggered enrollments before hiring new staff. Since most of those costs are dir ect, organizations of
this sort have the latitude to emp loy these strategies.

By contrast, organizations with mostl y indir ect costs may not have the ability to enact new
enrollment management policies. They must also Òmanagethe step,Óbut for them the better strategy
is to narr ow or limit the scope of services, or to find new clients that can lead to mor e predictable
enrollment patterns. In short, managing dir ect, step-fix ed costs is quite diff erent fr om managing
indir ect, step-fixed costs.

This table is by no means a compr ehensive list of strategies, but it does orient you toward the
inter esting and nuanced relationship betw een cost structure and financial management strategy.
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In the late 1990s several dozen people died in major house fir esthr oughout the City of Seattle.Critics
blamed the Seattle Fir e Department for its slow and insufficient response to those fir es. The Fir e
Chief acceptedthat criticism, and urged the CityÕs leaders to invest in a significant upgrade to the Fir e
DepartmentÕs facilities, equipment, and training. Then-M ayor Greg N ickels proposed a new, ten year
$197 million property tax levy to pay for that upgrade, and voters approved that levy in 2003. The
centerpiece of that levy w as a plan to r ebuild or r efurbish 33 fir e stations.

In 2015 the City announced it had spent $306 million to date on those fir e station projects. Of the
33 projects included in the plan, 32 had exceeded their original budgets. M any had cost twice their
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original estimate. And the program is not yet complete. The City expects to spend at least $50 million
mor e from other r esources to complete those projects over the next fiv e years.

How did this happen?How can a major city program staffed with many sophisticated budget and
finance staff over-run its budget b y mor e than 50%?

The problem is best captured by the late, great Yogi BerraÕs adage that ÒPredictions are hard,
especially about the futur e.ÓCosts of basic materials and labor change all the time, so itÕs difficult to
forecastthose costs seven to ten years into the futur e. And indeed, basic construction costs incr eased
by around one-thir d fr om early 2005 until late 2007. M oreover, during the ten years of the program,
professionalstandards for fir e fighters changed.Under the new standards, fir estations must now have
better training and fitness facilities, better inf ormation technology , and other upgrades that added
costs to the projects.

To others, the problem is politics. According to some accounts, M ayor N ickelsÕstaff estimated the
fir e station program would cost around $300 million. The M ayor , however, did not believe voters
would approve that large a tax incr ease.So instead, he proposed the highest possible levy he believed
would pass,and he assumedthe fir e stations could be built at lower costsor that additional money for
the program would come fr om futur e city budgets. Whether you believe the problem is forecasting,
politics, or something else, itÕs clear that the legacy of the fir e station levy is tw o-f old: better fir e
protection and, pr esumably, closer scrutiny of futur e long-term capital pr ojects.

This story illustrates the central point of this chapter: How we make a budget is just as important
as the revenues and spending proposed within it. Consider , for instance, how changes to the CityÕs
budget process might have produced a different outcome f or the fir e station levy:

¥ If the pr ogram had not r equir ed voter appr oval, Mayor N ickels might have proposed a much
larger levy that better r eflected the full cost of the pr ogram.

¥ At the same time, if the City had paid f or the full cost of fir e stations out of general fund
resources that did not r equir e voter appr oval, then those projects might have crowded out the
M ayorÕs other high-priority pr ojects in areas like economic development and aff ordable
housing.

¥ If the C ity Council had better access to mor e sophisticated cost estimates earlier on in the
approval process for the new levy , they might have supported a higher requested amount, or
been willing to spend additional city r esources.

¥ If the C ity Council members w ere elected by districts (as they are today) rather than at-
large (as they were then), then specific members would have had a stronger incentiv e to
monitor the costs and timing of fir e station projects within their districts. That might ha ve
produced mor e substantial changes to the program at both the p lanning and imp lementation
stages.

¥ If the C ityÕs capital budgeting pr ocess had more stringent accountability f eatures, then the
mayor might ha ve reduced the budget for pr ojects scheduled later in the program once it w as
clear that the first f ew projects had run over budget.
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Public managers canÕtcontr ol many of the factors that affect their budgets. M anagersin government
canÕtcontr ol the broader economy. Non-pr ofit managers canÕtdo much to affect the financial health
of the foundations that grant them money or individuals who support them thr ough donations.
M anagers across the public sector can do little to affect rising costs for employee health care, new
technology , wagesand salaries,and a variety of other factors that driv e growth in expenses.The best
we can do is understand these tr ends, forecast them to the best of our ability , and help policymak ers
understand the trade-offs these tr ends put in play.

But public managers can contr ol how they make their budgets, also kno wn as the budgetprocess.
In fact, processis perhaps the only part of budgeting that public managers can contr ol. In particular ,
you alone can answer many of the key questions surr ounding each of the thr ee main budget process
concerns:

1. Who proposes the budget? Do you develop and propose your budget on y our own? When
developing your initial assumptions do y ou solicit input fr om pr ogram managers or other
subordinates, your boar d/council or other policy leaders, outside funders, or other k ey
stakeholders? Do you ask department heads or other subor dinates to develop and submit
their o wn budgets?

2. What inf ormation is intr oduced into the budget pr ocess, and when? Do you share the key
budget assumptions with pr ogram managers, line staff, and other stakeholders? Do you
connect budgeted spending with k ey performance targets? If so, do you make those targets
available to other stakeholders? If your budget calls for cuts, do you share when and how
those cuts will happen? Do you explain w hy you chose the cuts you chose? Do you share
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that inf ormation with the entir e organization at once, or thr ough meetings with individual
program managers/department heads/etc.?

3. Who decides on final budgeted r evenues and spending? Do you afford program managers/
department heads/etc. the latitude to pr opose their own final budget? Does your council/
board approve the budget in one action, or in stages? If you have the authority to mak e
budget amendmentsor re-appropriations?Do you use it, and when? Does your budget include
both operations and capital pr ojects, or just operations?
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For this and many other reasons itÕs important to understand some of the main features of public
organizationsÕbudget processes.This discussion is focusedon governmentsÕbudget processes,mostl y
becausethose processesare most comparable and are often prescribed by state or federal law. That
said, many of the basic features of those processescan also apply to non-pr ofits. M oreover, itÕs
important for non-pr ofit managers to understand how government budgets are made, given the
centrality of go vernment funding to man y non-pr ofit budgets.
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The budget processin public sector organizations share some common characteristics
1
. M ost follo w

these same basic steps:
1. Str ategic and Department -Level Planning : This processoften begins fiv e to six months

prior to the start of the next fiscal year. Program dir ectors, together with department heads
and agency dir ectors will need to develop goals and objectiv es. Ideally, these are connected to
the organization Õs broader strategic plan. At the same time the executive (governor , mayor , city
manager, county administrator , chief executive officer , executive dir ector etc) will transmit his
or her budget priorities, together with instructions and assumptions, to agency dir ectors and
program managers. TheyÕlluse budget instructions and assumptions to prepare their budget
based on executive priorities and on their o wn spending needs.
2. Revenue For ecasting: In most instances, revenue forecasting is an ongoing processthat starts

1. Portions of the f ollo wing discussion ar e quoted and adopted from the Governing Guide to Financial Literacy, Volume 1
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tw o to six months prior to the fiscal year, and revised thr oughout the budget execution phase
of the cycle. Revenue officials (tr easurer, chief financial officer , finance dir ector, development
officer etc) will track economic tr ends and project revenuesfor the fiscal year. The final revenue
forecast is usually the basis for budgeted revenues. M ost states and large local governments
have a consensusrevenue forecast group comprising executive and legislativ e staff. Others hir e
consulting firms that pr epare, present, and revise multi -year revenue forecasts.
3. Executi ve Preparati on: Once budgets are submitted to the executive office, budget staff
will review departmental and program budget requests and use these budget to prepare the
proposedbudget. ThatÕs not to say that departmental and program budget requests are adopted
as is. In fact, department heads and program dir ectors are often asked to present and defend
their budgets, especially if budgets are not consistent with the executiveÕs priorities or exceed
budgeted allocations.
4. Legislati ve Revi ew and Adopti on : The legislativ e review process, which often integrates
public hearings, begins one to tw o months prior to the start of the fiscal year. Legislators will
review the executiveÕs proposed budget, question department and agency heads about their
spending plans, and recommend changesthat would be included in the final appropriations bill
or approvedbudget. A vast majority of legislativ e bodies in government will hold public hearings.
For states, hearings are part of the regular budget legislativ e session. For local governments,
budget hearings are typicall y stand-alone public meetings. For non-pr ofits, theseare often closed
meetings in which the executive dir ector, or the chair of the finance committee, presents the
budget to the board of dir ectors. Budgets are often adopted tw o to thr eeweeksprior to the start
of the fiscal year. Once legislators passabudget, the governor will sign it, or usethe line-item veto
to change parts of the legislatorsÕbudget and have those changesapproved with only a majority
vote of the legislatur e. For city and county governments with a stand-alone mayor or executive,
the approval is much lik e the state. In caseswhere the executive is appointed, the budget is passed
once it is approved.
6. Imp lementati on: Once the budget is approved, department heads and program managers
will imp lement the amended/ approved budget over the next tw elve months. A majority of
organizations anticipate changesin forecastedrevenuesand budgeted spending. TheyÕllplan for
mid-y ear adjustments, some of which may requir e formal changes to the adopted budget. The
central budget office will closely monitor the execution processesand adjust next yearÕs budget
instructions accor dingl y.
7. Audit and Evaluati on: This stagestarts at the end of the fiscal year and can take many months
depending on the size of the organization, complexity of the jurisdiction Õs chart of accounts,
size and professional skills of budget staff and tr easury officers, to name a few. Virtuall y every
organization has to Òclose its booksÓand prepare financial statements ahead of a financial audit.
They will also engageon evaluation processeson program effectiveness,especially if these were
not integrated in the execution phase. The Governmental Accountability Office (GAO) is the
audit and evaluation arm of the federal government. ItÕs tasked with Òauditing agency operations
to determine whether federal funds are being spent efficientl y and effectivelyÓand Òreporting on
how w ell government pr ograms and policies are meeting their objectiv esÓ to name a few.
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The federal governmentÕs budget process is really thr ee processesin one. The president develops
and proposes the executivebudget, also kno wn as the budgetrequest. In Congr ess,the House Budget
committee and the Senatebudget committee passa budgetresolutionthat identifies the main spending
policies and targets for the Congr essional side of the budget. The budget resolution allocates budget
authority, or the power to incur spending obligations, and budgetoutlays, or the amount of cash that
will flo w fr om the Treasury to a federal agency. M ost budget authority must be re-authorized each
year, even though many programs and services call for budget outlays that will span multip le years.
ItÕs not uncommon f or a project to r eceive budget authority but not r eceive adequate budget outlays

The thir d part of the process is that the House Ways and M eans committee and the Senate
appropriations committee pass a series of appropriations bills that allow the rest of the government
to spend money. Once the appropriations bills are passed,usually follo wing a lengthy conference
committee pr ocess, and the President signs them, those bills become the federal budget.

The basic timeline for the federal budget processwasoutlined in the CongressionalBudgetAct of 1974.
That processis asfollo ws,with the goal of passingthe new budget prior to the end of the federal fiscal
year on September 30:

¥ November/December (shortl y after passage of the current fiscal yearÕs budget): PresidentÕs
Office of Management and Budgetworks with ex ecutive agencies to develop their budget
requests for the coming fiscal y ear. Executive agencies includes all the cabinet-level agencies
lik e the Departments of State, Treasury, Justice, Education, etc., as well as the federal judiciary ,
independent r egulatory agencies, and several other parts of the f ederal government.

¥ February: President submits the budget r equest, usually concurr ent with the S tate of the
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Union addr ess. House and Senate Budget committees, and House and Senate appropriation
committees, working thr ough their subcommittees, hold hearings and dev elop appropriation
bills that pr ovide funds f or agency operations.

¥ M arch/April: Budget committees pr epare a budget resolution. This r esolution is an act of
Congr ess, therefore does not requir e the PresidentÕs signature. Because the budget resolution
does not go to the President, it cannot enact spending or tax la w. Instead, it sets targets for
other congr essional committees than can propose legislation dir ectly providing or changing
spending and taxes.

¥ April/M ay: House-Senate conference committee negotiates the final budget r esolution.
Congr ess adopts that resolution.

¥ M ay/June: House and Senate appropriations committees mak e their 302(b) allocations. These
allocations establish the spending cap for each of the appropriations subcommittees

¥ June/July: House and Senate committees prepare reconciliation bills. These are bills that
imp lement changes in authorizing legislation, or the laws that determine spending on
entitlement pr ograms, requir ed by the budget resolution. M ost resolution measures are
related to entitlement spending lik e Medicare or to changes in tax law, namely tax cuts.
M eanwhile, the appropriations committees debate and pr epare appropriations bills.

¥ July/A ugust: House and Senate pass their appropriations and r econciliation bills.

¥ September: Conference committees resolve diff erences in the final appropriations and
reconciliation bills. Pr esident signs those bills.

¥ October 1: Fiscal year begins

The Congr essional Budget Act of 1974 established the formal rules of the federal budgeting game.
However, in the last few decades,the formal budgeting process explains less and less of how the
federal government actuall y spends money. Consider the follo wing:

¥ If the appr opriations bills ar e not signed into law by Oct. 1 Congr ess must pass acontinuing
resolution. This is a temporary measur e that extends the existing appropriations bills f or a
short time, usuall y 30 to 60 days. For 16 of the past 20 years, Congress has passed at least one
continuing r esolution. In some years, the government operated on continuing r esolutions for
most of the next fiscal y ear.

¥ For most of the past 20 years Congress has not passed a budget resolution. W ithout a
resolution, the H ouse and Senate usually pass different substitute v ersions of the budget
targets that would otherwise appear in the budget r esolution. Those substitute or
deemingauthorization bills ar e advisory, rather than binding on the appr opriations
committees.

¥ At any point during the fiscal y ear Congress can impose arescissionthat cancels existing
budget authority . In fact, the thr eat of rescission, and in some cases the actual use of it, has
become a way to enforce de facto budget priorities that w ere never written into the budget
resolution or appr opriations bills. The best r ecent example is CongressÕ persistent attempts to
strip funding f or the Aff ordable Care Act (ACA, mor e commonl y referred to as ÒObamacareÓ).
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¥ In 2011 Congr ess passed the Budget Control Act (BCA). This law established that unless
Congr ess can reduce the annual budget deficit by a predetermined target, then automatic cuts
in discr etionary and selected entitlement Ð kno wn br oadly as thesequesterÐ will tak e effect.
Unless amended, BCA extends the sequester through 2021. Neither the Budget A ct, nor any
other piece of f ederal budget legislation mak es mention of anything lik e the sequester. BCA
was the latest of many statutory budget capsdesigned to automaticall y limit f ederal government
spending. Those caps are not part of the existing budget pr ocess framework laid out in the
Congr essional Budget Act.

¥ M any of the federal governmentÕs most expensive activities are now paid f or outside of the
budget process. The best recent example is the wars in Iraq and Af ghanistan. By some
estimates, those engagement have cost $1-3 trillion, or somew here between $2,000 and
$10,000 for every US taxpayer. Congress appropriated ar ound $50 billion f or ÒThe SurgeÓ of
US tr oops into Iraq as part of the FY2006 Def ense Department Appr opriations bill. But
otherwise, the vast majority of the funding f or that w ar was allocated through supplemental
appropriationsand budget amendments. Supplemental appr opriations ar e an appropriations bill
that adds to an existing appr opriation. They ar e designed to provide r esources for unexpected
emergencies, such as disaster relief after a hurricane or earthquak e. Budget amendments are
changes to budget outlays to that same effect. Most of these supplemental/emergency
appropriations w ere financed with debt.

¥ Since roughly 1990, Congress has used budgetreconciliationto pass several major pieces of
legislation, including the ÒBush tax cuts,Ó the Medicare prescription drug benefit (ÒPart DÓ),
and the Aff ordable Care Act. Reconciliation is a po werful tool because by Senate rules,
reconciliation bills ar e not subject to filibuster . A filibuster is when an individual Senator kills a
proposed bill by Òtalking it to death,Ó taking advantage of Senate rules that allow for unlimited
debate. To end a filibuster , the Senate must invoke cloturewith a two-thir ds majority v ote of
all Senators. Given the highly partisan character of the Senate thr oughout the past few
decades, the threat of a filibuster is al ways present, which imposes a de facto two-thir ds
majority to appr ove virtuall y every piece of legislation pr oposed in the Senate.

23 3$  -# +." + !4#&$3 /1 ."$22

At the state and local level much of this samebasic processapplies. Substitute the governor or mayor
for the president, and substitute the state legislatur e or city council for Congr ess.The same basic
tensions among near-term spending needs, appropriations, and budget authority app ly.

A vast majority of states prepare and present an annual budget. Washington State is one of a few
states that prepares a biennial budget with an annual session.

2
In other words, the states prepares

and presents a budget for tw o years at a time and adjusts that budget at the end of the first year.
M any cities, including Seattle, follo w a similar model. In concept, biennial budgeting facilitates

2. Other states include Connecticut, H awaii, Indiana, Kentucky , Maine, Minnesota, N ebraska, New Hampshir e, North Car olina, Ohio, Or egon,
Virginia, W ashington, Wisconsin, and Wyoming. States with biennial budget and biennial sessions ar e some of the smallest in the nation --
M ontana, Nevada, and North Dak ota. Texas is the exception her e.
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mor e effective long-term planning. In practice, revenue and spending estimates are often adjusted,
sometimes substantially, after the end of the first y ear.

In January 2015 the WA legislatur e debated and ultimatel y passed a budget for the 2015-2017
biennium(i.e. two-year period). The basic steps to arrive at that budget were as follo ws:

¥ June-September 2014: State agencies prepared and submitted budget r equests to the
Governor . Much of that pr eparation pr ocess is done by the GovernorÕs Office of Financial
Management(OFM). OFM is the stateÕs analog to the federal OMB, and this pr ocess is akin to
how OMB gathers budget r equests from all the executive agencies.

¥ December 2014: Governor Inslee pr oposed a budget to the state legislature immediatel y
before the start of the 2015 legislativ e session.

¥ January-M arch 2015: Legislature debated and prepared its own legislativ e budget. Specific
committees in both the H ouse and Senate have specific responsibilities to pr epare parts of the
state legislative budget, including: Appr opriations, Capital, F inance, and Transportation.
Unlik e the federal budget, the state budgeting process does not call for separate authorizing
and appropriations pr ocesses. Legislative budget-writers include both authorizing and
appropriations language in the same legislation.

¥ February 2015: The WA State Economic and Revenue Forecast Council met and determined
the final r evenue cap for the coming biennium. This is a k ey part of the budget debate. If the
Council incr eases its expected revenues from its pr evious forecast, then state budget writers
are able to work within a higher spending cap, and vice v ersa.

¥ M arch-April 2015: Legislatur e debated its legislative budget. Conference committees work ed
to r esolve large differences between the House and Senate versions. A particularl y contentious
part of this debate w as how to fund a $2 billion classr oom size reduction measure that voters
passed in 2014, an additional $1 billion in court -mandated spending on public education, and
a multi -billion statewide transportation funding package. The Democrat -contr olled H ouse of
Representatives proposed funding f or many of these initiativ es through a new statewide
capital gains tax and an increase in gasoline taxes. The Republican-led Senate proposed
diverting money fr om taxes on newly-legalized marijuana, in addition to cuts and r e-
appropriations.

¥ April 26, 2015: The r egular 105 day legislativ e session ended without a passed budget bill.

¥ June 2015: The Economic and Revenue Forecast Council released its revised revenue
estimates, which called for an additional 3-5\% gr owth in r evenue collections. If the budget
process is behind schedule, as was the case that year, the Forecast CouncilÕs revision can
impact the final budget bill.

¥ June 1, 2015: Governor Inslee called the legislatur e back for a 30 day special legislative sessionto
debate and pass a budget.

¥ June 15, 2015: The special session expired with no budget

¥ June 17, 2015: Governor Inslee called a second special legislative session.

¥ June 30, 2015: The second special legislative session expired without a budget; the legislatur e
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passed and Governor Inslee signed a temporary spending measur e to keep government fr om
shutting do wn.

¥ July 1, 2015: Governor Inslee called a thir d special legislative session.

¥ July 9, 2015: The legislature passed a budget.

¥ July 10, 2015: Governor Inslee signed a $39 billion biennial budget. This concluded the
longest legislativ e session in state history.

¥ July 2015: New budget took eff ect.

¥ January-June 2016: Legislature considered and passed asupplementalbudget to adjust the
biennial budget f or the r emainder of the biennium. This pr ocess is essentially the same as the
legislativ e budget process, but it is not as comprehensive.
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Cities, counties, schools, and special districts generally follo w the samebasic process.In Washington
State, most local governments follo w a January 1 fiscal year. The mayor / executive/superintendentÕs
staff review departmentsÕbudget proposals thr oughout the late summer and early fall, and the mayor /
executive/superintendent proposes a budget in usually in early September. The Council/ Board
debates the budget and revises it thr oughout the late fall and early winter . At the City of Seattle
those proposed changesare articulated in GreenSheetsthat suggesta change to the M ayorÕs proposed
budget. State law requir es a passedbudget by December 2. M ost local governments do not have the
same executive-legislativ e tensions as the state and federal government, and local budget processes
are rarely as formal, but the same basic processes, institutions, and incentives are at play.
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Budget processin the nonpr ofit sector are comparable to those of government, except their processes
are not as protracted. For the average mid-sized nonpr ofit, program dir ectors will often submit a
wish-list budget to a budget or finance officer , who then scrutinizes their budget in relation to the
organizations strategic plan and policy priorities. Larger nonpr ofits will provide program dir ectors
with specific guidance on policy priorities, budget format, and key assumptions. For a vast majority
of small to medium sized nonpr ofits, budget preparation is generally a responsibility of the executive
dir ector. The executive dir ector, together with the finance officer , will finalize the budget and present
the proposed budget to the finance committee, a committee delegated by the board, or the full board.
Adoption of a budget by the full board should make it unwavering policy . Lik e most governments,
budgets are fr equently revised to reflect changes in revenues and expenses.Board members will
fr equently receive monthl y or annual budget reports detailing year-to-date revenues and expenses,
budget variances, and key changes in programs or policies that aff ect the operating budget.
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Budgeting is many things to public organizations. ItÕs a mechanism to plan and develop strategy
for the coming year. ItÕs a tool to evaluate how well managers manage. ItÕs a way to evaluate if and
how an organization Õs resources are connected to itÕs priorities. ItÕs a tool to get feedback fr om key
stakeholders about an organization Õs successesand failur es.For governments, the budget is a legally
binding document that commits it to a spending plan for the coming year(s). But fundamentall y,
budgeting is a form of politics. Resources are scarce, and budgeting is the process by which
organizations allocate those scarce resources. As such, budgeting is about managing conflict.

Budgeting in governments, and most large bureaucratic institutions, is an incrementalprocess.That
is, the focal point for eachyearÕs budget is an incr emental incr easeor decreaseover last yearÕs budget.
Put diff erently, thereÕs an old adage:Òmostbudgets are last yearÕs budget plus thr ee percent.ÓSince
the Great Recession most budgets have been last year minus thr ee/fiv e/ ten percent. For budget
policymak ers, conflict and compr omise is often around that annual percentage change,or increment.
This assumes,of course, that last yearÕs budget Ð or basebudgetÐ was a fair representation of the
organization Õs goals and priorities. If this is not true, then debating incr emental change will only
amplify that disconnect between resourcesand priorities. In fact, for most public organizations, that
disconnect is persistent and perv asive.

Historicall y, governments have prepared line-item budgets that place significant emphasis on
inputs. Unfortunatel y, line-item budgets do not present inf ormation in a format that connect its
mission to its money. A vast majority have experimented with various budgeting models designed to
Òreform Óthe line-item format and incr ementalist tendency. One of the most popular reform strategies
is to allocate resourcesnot thr ough political bargaining, but in a mor e mechanical or formula-driv en
way thatÕs driv en by priorities or goals. For roughly fifty years one of the most popular strategies to
this effect is performancebudgeting. In this format, the organization allocates resourcesnot according
to inputs or line items lik e salaries or supplies, but rather according to the level of overall resources,
regardless of inputs needed to achieve some desired goal or outcome. Some governments extend
this model into a Priceof Governmentor Priorities of Governmentapproach. Under this model citizens
identify the levelsand outcomes of government servicesmost important to them, and the government
allocates packages of resources to achieve those outcomes.

Performance budgeting and the ÒPriorities of GovernmentÓapproach are not mutuall y exclusive.
Cities lik e Redmond, WA and Somerville, MA have imp lemented performance-based budgeting
programs that are tightl y connected to strategic priorities. In the Somerville model, departments
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orient their budget requestsaround outcomes rather than budget inputs or line items. For example, the
library system requestsits budget in terms of the cost per library patron served, not just in terms of
payroll, commodities, equipment, and other line items.

A few state and local governments have experimented with versions of zero-basedbudgeting(ZBB).
Under ZBB the organization assumesthere is no such thing asa basebudget. Each year departments
and programs must justify everything in their budget. M uch of the money state and local government
spend is Òrequir ed by lawÓor Ònecessaryfor public safety,Óso a large portion of a governmentÕs
budget cannot be cut thr ough a ZBB process.Some versions of ZBB requir e departments/ programs
to connect their non-r equir ed spending to the organization Õs strategic goals or priorities. Proposed
spending most closely connected to those goals is most lik ely to make its way into the final budget,
and vice versa. In some ZBB models departments and programs must present decision makers with
ÒscenariosÓor Òdecision packagesÓthat identify what will happen if their department/ program does
not receive a portion of its basebudget. All these inno vations are designed to remove some or all of
the pur e political bargaining fr om budgeting.

That said, the vast majority of governments and non-pr ofit organizations continue to practice
traditional, incr emental, line-item budgeting.
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Within the formal budget process,there are budget politics. For most public managers the politics
and strategy of making a budget are just as important, if not mor e important, than the formal budget
process.Here we briefl y discuss some of the most common budget-making strategies. Some of these
strategies are mor e appropriate if the goals is to limit spending, while others are mor e appropriate if
an department or agency wants to expand programs, or at the very least maintain status quo. They
include:

¥ Cultiv ate a clientele. Effective public managers understand who ÒusesÓ and who ÒbenefitsÓ
fr om their pr ograms and services. They also understand that those users are the best
advocates for a program. This is especially true f or pr ograms that benefit childr en, the
disabled, and other vulnerable populations. A simp le anecdote about a program fr om one of
its clients can be exponentiall y mor e powerful than a w ell-done diff erential cost analysis.

¥ M ake friends with legislators. Legislators ar e much mor e likely to support a pr ogram w hen
they understand that pr ogram and who benefits fr om it. This is particularl y true w hen that
program benefits their constituents, and w hen they played a role in cr eating, expanding, or
protecting it. Of course, this strategy comes with risks. Go vernors, mayors, and other
executives often try to limit department heads and pr ogram managersÕ access to legislators to
prevent staff r elationships with legislators that might undermine their o wn budget priorities.

¥ ÒRound it U p.Ó This is especially true on the spending side. Rounding up caseloads, spending
estimates, interest expenses, and other costs will expand budget authority and, if actual
spending falls short of budgeted spending, cr eate an end of year Òsurplus.Ó The risk is that
persistent over-budgeting f or spending can undermine a budget -makerÕs credibility .

¥ ÒWe have a crisis.Ó Some managerslik e to project that major r evenue shortfalls or spending
cuts are imminent, ev en if they arenÕt. Staff w ho believe they might face difficult budget cuts
are more likely to manage their pr ograms with car eful attention to spending discip line and
timel y collection of r evenues. Of course, this can also lead to staff burn-out and ruin a
managerÕs credibility if said crisis nev er happens.

A few strategies are most effective when a manager is asked to trim their budget.

¥ ÒAcross-the-Board.Ó Some managers prefer to r espond to budget cuts by cutting all their
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programs equally, or Òacross the boardÓ (ATB). To staff, ATB cuts appear fair , transparent, and
simple. Cutting all pr ograms equally assumes those programs have identical cost structur es,
curr ent staff openings, and capacity to generate revenues. ThatÕs rarely true. The r esult is that
ATB often aff ects different programs and services in quite diff erent ways, even though the
intent is to bring about a unif orm impact. Sometimes those diff erential eff ects can themselves
be valuable to managers.

¥ ÒDo Nothing.Ó An unchanged budget is, in effect, a budget cut. If a program is given no new
resources it must find other w ays to address cost inflation, growth in caseloads, staff cost of
living adjustments, and other gr owth in spending. Sop histicated managers argue, often
successfully, that a Òsteady stateÓ budget (i.e. no new resources, but no cuts) is a fair way to
take a budget cut.

¥ Lean on precedent. In a cutback envir onment, w hat happened in the past can be a powerful
tool f or managers. No manager wants to have to choose how to cut his or her pr ogram. But if
they can say ÒI didnÕt really choose these cuts, weÕre just follo wing past pr ecedentÓ theyÕre
afforded some degree of political co ver. Whether past precedent really dictated those cuts, or
whether ther e even is a past precedent, are often debatable.

¥ ÒItÕs essential for public saf ety.Ó Managers can try to position their pr ogram as vital to public
health or safety. Sometimes these connections are obtuse, at best. For instance, during the
Great Recession, many local libraries pr otested cuts to library hours b y pointing out that
libraries ar e a safe and supportiv e gathering place for teenagers. Unsupervised teenagers
roaming the str eets would cr eate, they argued, a serious public safety concern.

¥ Propose a study. Public organizations can rar ely predict, or so they say, exactly how a budget
cut will aff ect their clients, staff, and overall mission. So in r esponse to a cut, managers
routinel y propose to Òstudy the issue.Ó A study allows for mor e time to either identify potential
cuts, or, for the political or economic en vir onment to shift in w ays that will ob viate the need
for a cut at all.

¥ ÒCut the main artery.Ó One way to r espond to a requested cut is to cut the largest program
thatÕs most central to your mission (i.e. the Òmain arteryÓ). Cutting that program is, in effect,
thr eatening to cripp le your pr ogram. Some policymakers will r espond with a r equest for a
smaller cut or to a cut to a pr ogram thatÕs less mission-centric. The danger here is what
happens if policymak ers agree to allow a manager to cut the main artery .

¥ ÒJust take the whole thing.Ó If a program w as cut recently, managers can take the request for an
additional cut as an opportunity to off er to end the pr ogram. TheyÕll ask: ÒWeÕve already been
cut to the bone, so whatÕs the point of staying open?Ó or something to that effect. Whether
additional cuts w ould r eally harm the pr ogram is often incidental to the argument.

¥ ÒYou pick.Ó Instead of proposing cuts, offer policymak ers a range of options and ask them to
decide which option the pr ogram should pursue. Lik e with Òlean on precedent,Ó this allows
managers to avoid dir ect responsibility f or specific cuts to his or her staff and other r esources.
This strategy is pr one to backfir e when policymak ers respond by saying ÒItÕs not my job to
pick. You kno w your pr ogram better than an yone. You pick.Ó

¥ ÒWashington M onument.Ó In 1994 the federal government shut do wn after Pr esident Clinton
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and House Speaker Gingrich could not agr ee on a continuing r esolution. Pr esident Clinton
responded by ordering the N ational Park Service to close all of the key historic sites in
Washington, DC. One of the first to close w as the Washington M onument. As the shutdo wn
dragged on, President Clinton w as able to frame the closed Washington M onument as a
symbol of Congr essional intransigence. The essence of the Washington M onument strategy is
to pr opose cuts to a small, but highly visible pr ogram.

And finall y, managers often deploy a diff erent set of strategies when attempting to expand their
programÕs budget:

¥ ÒIt pays for itself.Ó Managers can sometimes argue that investing in a program will Òpay for
itselfÓ through cost savings later . For instance, public health adv ocates have long argued that
expanding childhood immunization pr ograms pays for itself b y reducing the incidence of
communicable diseases like tuburculosis, measles, and rubuella that place enormous strain
and expense on public hospitals.

¥ ÒSpend to save.Ó Investments in technology , equipment, and infrastructur e can save staff time,
reduce paperwork, collect r evenues faster, etc. Or, at least, thatÕs how managers sell those
investments in the budget pr ocess.

¥ ÒFoot in the Door .Ó Many large, long-standing, popular public sector pr ograms began small.
An effective way to expand a program is to run a small pilot pr ogram, study, or demonstration
project. Legislators and board members are generally willing to appr opriate small amounts of
money to try ÒinnovativeÓ approaches. With time, man y of those small experiments morp h
into large-scale pr ograms.

¥ ÒItÕs just temporary .Ó Like Òsmall inno vations,Ó legislators and board members are much mor e
willing to pr ovide temporary funding f or a program or pr oject than they are to provide
permanent funding or budget authority . Crafty managers are able to convert temporary
funding into either Òongoing temporary fundingÓ or ev en permanent authority .

¥ ÒFinish w hat we started.Ó This approach is especially popular with r espect to capital projects.
M any capital pr ojects begin with an appr opriation to anal yze, plan, and design a capital
project. With that p lanning in p lace, managers can make a compelling argument that itÕs
necessary to appropriate mor e money to Òfinish what we started,Ó often without r egard for
whether the plans are complete or w hether the analysis suggests the project is even necessary.

¥ ÒRe-categorize.Ó Sometimes shifting a program to a diff erent part of the budget is a necessary
step toward expansion. For example, public health advocates have successfully argued that
many public health activities lik e smoking cessation or diabetes prevention are actually
education or outr each programs. Within the education budget they ha ve access to a much
wider range of funding sour ces and constituent champions. WeÕve seen a similar dynamic
with homeland security . Many programs in areas like crime pr evention and cybersecurity
were once local public safety initiativ es, but have since migrated to far mor e lucrativ e state
and federal homeland security budgets.
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Kate Erikson settled in at her desk on a cool, damp January morning. It was the first week of 2016,
and it w as also her first day as Executive Dir ector of the Cascadia Hearing School.

Shewasnervous, excited, and a bit apprehensive.Not long ago shewasa full -time M aster of Public
Administration student. While a student she interned with the Boys & Girls Clubs of Oakland, CA,
and after graduation shewent to work there full -time. Shedid good work, and after just four yearsshe
found herself assistantdir ector and educational programs manager for the Ossain E. Carr Clubhouse,
a brand new Club facility in one of OaklandÕs toughest neighborhoods. She loved working with kids,
and she really lik ed the ClubÕs aggressive approach to engaging community and corporate partners.
In fact, her greatest professional accomplishment to date was bringing State Farm (the home/ auto
insurance company) and Kaiser Permanente (an enormous health insurance company in Calif ornia )
aboard asmajor sponsors. A pictur e with NB A star Steph Curry , who she met at the Carr Clubhouse
grand opening, hung pr oudl y on the wall in her new office.

As much as she lik ed the East Bay, her new spouse was fr om a bit further north and wanted to
get closer to home. Sheheard about the Opportunity at Cascadiathr ough Link edIn, applied, and was
thrilled to get the off er.

Later that morning her Board president, Truman Lewis, called to invite her to lunch. Lewis said,
ÒitÕs time we talked about why we hired you.Ó

� %�. � ' ') & � �� +& +�� �� %� ���� " �*

The CascadiaHearing SchoolÕsmission is simple: Prepare deaf and hard-of -hearing childr en to attend
school with their normal hearing peers.

This sounds simple, but itÕs a radical departur e. M ost state governments established residential
schools for the deaf during the early to mid-19th century . These schools were explicitl y designed to
foster a Òwelcoming sub-cultur eÓwhere deaf childr en could learn to lead productiv e liv esdespite their
Òcripp ling, permanent disability .ÓOnce diagnosed asdeaf, sometimes while still infants, they would be
Òsent awayÓto theseschools to learn sign languageand acclimate to lif e in the deaf sub-cultur e.Today,
many parents choose the school for the deaf model for their childr en. These schools have thousands
of alumni deeply committed to preserving and protecting sign language, traditional deaf education,
and the deaf sub-cultur e. Deaf adults educated in this system often say that they donÕtkno w where
they fit into the w orld without the deaf sub-cultur e.

In the late 1970s a group of pioneering audiologists started to challenge this paradigm. New
advancesin hearing technology were allowing the profoundl y deaf (people who are unable to detect
sounds) to begin to processaural stimuli. These audiologists wanted to use this new technology to
help deaf childr en communicate thr ough speaking and hearing, not sign language.
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CascadiaÕs founders, Keith and July Sanders, were part of this first wave. They started tr eating
childr en in their home using new technologies lik e high-po wered hearing aids and cochlear imp lants
(a device that detects ambient sounds and communicates those sounds to the brain thr ough the
nerves behind the ear). These technologies advanced quickl y and spread even mor e quickl y. By the
mid-2000s otolaryngological surgeons (surgeons who tr eat disor ders of the ear, nose, and thr oat)
could install cochlear imp lants that made it possible for childr en born deaf to hear and speakaspart of
their normal early development. Today most childr en born with hearing loss usesome sort of hearing
technology before their second birthda y.

&A9�C/+<�96.�-236.�A3>2�+�-9-26/+<
37:6+8>

This technology has turned education of deaf childr en inside out. In the past, deaf education was
about helping deaf childr en thriv e in the deaf sub-cultur e, and giving them just enough skills to
surviv e in the hearing world. Today many teachers of the deaf employ a therapy and education
model built around speaking and listening Ð kno wn as ÒAuditory -Verbal TherapyÓÐ thatÕs designed
to leverage these new hearing technologies.

Over time teachers have developed a standard curriculum to support the Verbal-Therap y model for
thr ee-year old and four -year old childr en in a pre-school setting. That curriculum is now taught in
nearly 20 Òspeaking and hearing pre-schools for the deafÓaround the world. The mission of these
schools is simple: Prepare deaf childr en to attend school with their normal hearing peers. Cascadia,
formed in 1996, was one of the first. Its original 10 students were fr om Keith and Judy SandersÕ
audiology practice.
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Auditory Verbal Therapy demands early diagnosis. Audiologists and educators who subscribe to this
model believe itÕs essential to diagnose hearing loss assoon aspossible, ideally at birth. Once a child is
diagnosed, a therapist helps identify the appropriate hearing technology , begins therapeutic exercises
to stimulate the childÕs speaking and hearing sensesand reflexes,and works with the childÕs parents
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to createenvir onments that encourage speaking and listening asthe childÕs primary mode of learning
and communicating.

Today most hospitals screen newborn babies for hearing loss within a few hours of birth. If thereÕs
evidence of hearing loss the childÕs parents are referred to their state or local health department, who
then connects them with a variety of resourcesfor audiology and other tr eatment. At this point many
families immediatel y gravitate toward sign languageand the school for the deaf model. Others choose
to pursue Auditory -Verbal therapy. Some childr en receive elements of both, depending on the extent
and type of their hearing loss and their natural inclination to ward specific types of communication.

Childr en placed in the school for the deaf model receive most of their therapy and eventual
education at the school or one of its satellites. This model is quite centralized and is funded almost
entir ely by a state government.

By contrast, Auditory -Verbal therapy happens thr ough complex, decentralized networks. If the
child liv esin an areacovered by an audiologist or speechtherapist who administers therapy according
to the Auditory -Verbal model, that therapist will design tr eatment in consultation with the speaking
and hearing school, lik e Cascadia, the child will lik ely attend once they are pre-school age. These
audiology / speechtherapy services and the attendant parent support services are delivered and paid
for several diff erent ways (see details below).

Ther e are tw o main problems with this model. One is breadth and reliability of funding. Some
childr en arenÕteligible for any funding for theseservices,so the financial burden falls entir ely on their
parents. Research hasshown that parents often choose the school for the deaf model becausethey are
unable to afford the Auditory -Verbal path. The second problem is coordination of care. If a childÕs
audiologist leavesor is replaced that child might experience long interruption in their therapy. When
tr eating childr en under age thr ee every month counts, and interruptions in care can substantiall y
impede pr ogress.
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